

Project Paper 3

Ukraine Country and Research Areas Report

Final Version, 2010-11-09

Responsible institution:

Centre on Migration, Policy and Society (COMPAS) Centre of Sociological Research (CSR)

Authors¹:

Bastian Vollmer Yuriy Bilan Iryna Lapshyna Svitlana Vdovtsova



¹ Bastian Vollmer is responsible for the chapter 'Migration' while the CSR team (Yuriy Bilan, Iryna Lapshyna and Svitlana Vdovtsova) is responsible for the chapters 'Country Background' as well as 'Background on Research Areas'.

Contents

Introduction	4
Country Background	5
Geography	
Past and Present Socio-Economic Situation in Ukraine	6
Demographic Background	
Population/depopulation	8
Ethnicities	10
Ukrainian Political System and Landscape	
Socio-Economic Parameters	
Economy/Labour Market	12
Education	13
Health care	14
Rights	14
Social Issues: Corruption, Crime, Drugs	
Culture	
Religions and Minorities	
Language	16
Migration	
Migration Patterns and Flows	
Migration History	18
Net-Migration	20
Emigration	20
Immigration	23
Refugees and Return Migration	24
Irregular Migration and Transit Migration	25
Gendered Migration Patterns	
Two Outstanding Features of Contemporary Migration in Ukraine	27
Politics and Discourses in Ukraine	
Policy and Legislative Developments - Internal Affairs	
External Affairs/EU Politics	
Discursive Themes	
Emigration – Ambiguous Discursive Elements: Dangers, Human Losses or Heroic Act	
Immigration, Identity, Security	
EU – Ukraine Relations	35
Background on Research Areas	
Kharkivska Oblast and the Research Area Novovodolaz'ka	
Geography: Climate, Agro-Ecological Conditions	
Demography	
Education	
Economic/Industrial Structure	
Social Issues: Corruption, Crime, Drugs	
Ethnicity	

Migration	40
Discursive Elements - Emigration to the East as a 'Survival Strategy' and Growing Xenophobic	
Landscapes	40
Research Area - Novovodolaz'ka Rayon	41
Kyiv City and the Research Area Solomyansky Rayon	42
Geography: Climate, Agro-Ecological Conditions	42
Demography	42
Economic/Industrial Structure	43
Social Issues: Corruption, Crime, Drugs	45
Ethnicity	45
Migration	45
Discursive Elements – Unsafe Environment	45
Research Area – Solomyansky Rayon of Kyiv	46
Kirovogradska Oblast and the Research Area Znamyanska Rayon	46
Geography: Climate, Agro-Ecological Conditions	46
Demography	46
Economic/Industrial Structure	47
Education	48
Social Issues: Corruption, Crime, Drugs	49
Ethnicity	49
Migration	50
Discursive Elements – The Concern over Orphans	50
Research Area – Znamyanska Rayon	51
Ternopilska Oblast and the Research Area Zbarazh Rayon	51
Geography: Climate, Agro-Ecological Conditions	51
Demography	51
Economic/Industrial Structure	52
Education	53
Social Issues Problems: Corruption, Crime, Drugs	53
Ethnicity	54
Migration	54
Discursive Element – A Monument for Labour Migrants	54
Research Area - Zbarazh Rayon	55
onclusion	56
eferences	57
ontents of Annexes	67
nnexes	70

Introduction

This report provides factual background information on migration and human rights of the case of Ukraine. In addition, it focuses on four regions and the research areas selected for the Eumagine project. These are:

- Novovodolaz'ka rayon in Kharkivska oblast, a high-emigration area with a specific human rights situation;
- Solomyansky rayon in Kyiv city, a high-immigration area;
- Znamyanska rayon in Kirovogradska oblast, a low-emigration area; and
- Zbarazh rayon in Ternopil oblast, a high-emigration area.

First, foundational or contextual information on Ukraine will be offered while a second part will go into more specific locations of Ukraine which are the selected research areas in four Ukrainian oblasts. In both parts, demographic, socio-economic as well as migratory processes and their contemporary discursive themes will be presented.

Country Background

Geography

Geographically, Ukraine is situated in the middle between Atlantic and Ural and thus in the centre of Europe. Ukraine's territory is 603,628 km². The land borders of Ukraine are 4,558 kilometers long. Ukrainian shares borders with Russia (1576 km) in the east and northeast, with Belarus (891 km) in the north and in the southwest and west it shares borders with Moldova (939 km), the autonomous region of Transnistria, Romania (169 km in the south, 362 km in the west), Hungary (103 km), Slovakia (90 km) and Poland (428 km). The southern border is constituted by the Black Sea (3,783 kilometers of coastline).

Geopolitically, Ukraine, because of its central situation in EurAsia by is perceived by the western countries "buffer state" between Russia and NATO countries and its borders as "sanitary borders"; keeping out the 'threat from the east' (Mikhel', 2009).

Ukraine is divided into 25 oblasts (administrative counties) (see figure 1 below; most of the following figures and tables will be displayed in the annex). The largest city and capital is Kyiv with an official population of 2.82 million; however, estimates range from 4-6 million. Other major cities are Kharkov (1.46 million), Dnepropetrovsk (1.04 million), Donetsk (1 million.), Odessa (1.08 million) and Lviv (735.000).



Figure 1: Map of Ukraine

Source: http://www.rada.com.ua/ukr/RegionsPotential/, accessed 22/5/2010.

Past and Present Socio-Economic Situation in Ukraine

On 24th of August 1991 Ukraine gained its independence. The world community positively accepted the results of all-Ukrainian referendum in December 1991. Since then, Ukraine has lived through several political crises: Presidential elections of 1994, adoption of the Constitution in 1996, the 'Orange Revolution' of 2004 and the political stalemate from 2008-9. And yet, it has kept its unity and avoided to fall apart.

In the beginning to the mid 1990s the Ukrainian economy suffered a collapse, from which it is only slowly recovering. GDP has decreased by 40.8 percent; only 74.1 percent of its scope of 1990 was recovered by 1999. In this period (1990-1999) real income decreased by 32.9 percent, but has increased by 101.3 percent between 1999-2008 (Åslund, 2002; Heyts et al. 2009). The year 2000 set a turning point in Ukraine's economic history. In 2000, the country's economy took off with growth rates of 5.9 percent and accelerated in the following years (ICPS, 2005). GDP grew more than 12 percent in 2004; in 2005 the expansion was only 2.7 percent, however, this trend has changed again in 2006 and 2007 when GDP growth exceeded 7 percent each year (IMF, 2008). Likewise promising was the situation of the government budget showing a surplus as well as the developments at the financial sector.

At the same time Ukrainian economy has been increasingly integrated into the world's economy and thus becoming dependent on its dynamics. Therefore the global financial-economic crisis in 2008 influenced Ukrainian economy drastically and suddenly. First, the balance of payment got under pressure and inflation of the Ukrainian currency was inevitable; secondly, exports fell and worsened the current accounts; thirdly, liquidating the banks debts and other sectors of economy were an additive problem; industrial decline, inflation and the decrease of real income as well as the breakdown of the global banking system made this also a Ukrainian crisis (Heyts et al. 2009). In the fourth quarter of 2008, GDP fell by 8 percent; a reduction of industrial production (25 percent) and exports (16 percent) only in November and December (World Bank, 2009b). This trend continued and the annual GDP growth rate for 2009 was projected at -9.0 percent (Ibid.). The trade shock affected the Ukrainian economy, exports slumped due to a sharp decline in the price of steel, which is one of the most significant export goods of Ukraine, while import were hit negatively due to the increase in the price of gas. Nevertheless, the economic downturn set in after a period of high economic growth, which has raised living standards substantially.

Initially, Ukraine was amongst the most prosperous countries within the 'Eastern block' despite relatively poor resources. In the early 1990s, Ukraine was ranked at 45th place on the UN Human Development Index (HDI) and was categorised among the countries with high HDI. In 2009, Ukraine is on rank 85th of the HDI, the second highest amongst the medium human development group (UNDP, 2009) (Table 1). From 2000-2007 the trend of the human development index is tentatively positive (UNDP, 2010) (Figure 2). Its GDP per capita (in current international \$US) in 2008

was \$US 7.271 in comparison to GDP per capita (in current international \$US) of \$US 16.139 in the Russian Federation and 33.441 in the Euro-region (for 2008 respectively) (World Bank, 2009a).



Figure 2: Human Development Index of Ukraine, 1994-2009

Source: Vlasuk (2006).

In 2008, Ukraine's index of GDP per capita was ranked 97th place worldwide. But not only among high-income countries the GDP as well as the GDI demonstrate low standards in comparison to neighbouring countries (Figure 3, see annex).

The development of the Ukrainian economy (measured in GDP) in the period 1999-2008 clearly illustrates the economic crises (1990s and 2009) and dynamic cyclical developments (Figure 4). An inconstant development can be observed, for instance between 2000-2004 GDP growth fluctuated from 5.9 percent in 2000 to 12.1 percent.



Figure 4: Development of GDP: 2000-2010* (% change to previous year)

Source: State Committee of Statistics of Ukraine: http://www.ukrstat.gov.ua, accessed 20/5/2010. *data for January-March 2010

Economic growth starting in 2000 was caused by several factors (Heyts et al. 2009), for instance:

- Global economic growth; Ukrainian exports increased², especially in the metal and pharmaceutical and chemical industries³;
- Increasing volumes of investment⁴;
- 1.2 times higher income levels.

Inflation rates improved over the years, and yet prices fluctuated heavily, which hampered further economic developments as shown below (Figure 5). During 2004-2006 inflation increased dramatically (average 11.4 percent per year) which affected prices of food products, public utilities etc. According to State Committee of Statistics data, inflation index during the period of January-March 2010 was 4.7 percent.

Demographic Background

Population/depopulation

Ukraine has a population of 45.9 million in January 2010. This number has been decreasing for almost two decades. In 1990, the population of Ukraine was 51.8 million.⁵ Broadly-speaking the combined effects of a reduction in the birth rate, an increase in the death rate, and the state and access to the health care system in the country as well as negative net-migration has led to a substantial decrease in Ukrainian population (Heyts et al. 2009; Shanghina 2002). This trend continues and from January-February 2010 the population size decreased by a further 39.7 thousand people.

This however might be looked at in more detail. After a long decrease in the 1990s, birth rates coefficient has started to increase gradually from 2002 onwards. The highest increase took place in 2008 (see Table 2). From a historic perspective, birth rates, death rates and population growth can be looked at by going back to Soviet times, i.e. looking at the development from the 1950 to 2008 (Figure 6). Symbolically, at the year of Ukrainian independence in 1991, the line of death rates and birth rates cross each other.

² Main destinations of Ukrainian export: Russia Federation, Kazakhstan, Germany, Italy, Poland, Belorussia, Egypt: http://www.ukrexport.gov.ua/ukr/vnishno_t_balans/3513.html, accessed 1.08.2010.

³ Investment into the main product groups of Ukrainian export as stated above.

⁴ The biggest investors (without offshore zones) in the Ukrainian economy (January-March 2010) are Germany (16.6 percent), Netherland (9.6 percent), Russia Federation (6.7 percent), Austria (6.4 percent), UK (5.6 percent), France (4.2 percent), Sweden (3.2 percent), USA (3.1 percent):

http://www.me.gov.ua/control/uk/publish/article/info_boxes?art_id=38501&cat_id=38506, accessed o1/08/2010.

⁵ State Statistics Committee of Ukraine: http://www.ukrstat.gov.ua/, accessed 1/4/2010.



Natural Population Growth of Ukraine

Source: http://www.ukrstat.gov.ua/, accessed 22/5/2010.

At the regional level, Table 3 provides a closer insight on the oblasts' development between 2000 and 2010 and figure 6 illustrates the birth rates for the Ukrainian sub-regions in 2009. The lowest levels can be found in the northern and eastern oblasts (Sumy, Chernihiv, Luhans'k, Donetsk) and the highest in the western regions (Rivne, Volyn', Zakarpattya).⁶

Main reasons for the declining birth rate in Ukraine could be the following:

- the worsening economic situation in Ukraine, i.e. decrease of living standards, especially in small towns and rural areas;
- transformation of the social unit of 'the family', older traditional models of 'the family' substituted by modern style of living;
- worsening health conditions of the population as such and the access to health services (Makarova, 2007);
- the development of women's higher levels of education has led to shifted preferences of family planning; less children but providing better opportunities for child's education and career perspectives (Aksyonova, 2007).

Kyiv is a special case not experiencing a process of depopulation, but the opposite. Table 4 underlines the constantly growing population of the city of Kyiv. The number of Kyiv population as of 1 February 2010 was 2.785 million. In January 2010 the population size grew by 158 people, mostly due to immigration processes.⁷ The capital's higher standard of living and cosmopolitan lifestyle

⁶ State Statistics Committee of Ukraine, http://www.ukrstat.gov.ua/, accessed 30/4/2010.

⁷ Shevchenkivskyy district of Kyiv, http://shev.gov.ua/index.php?option=com_docman&task=doc_view&gid/, accessed 1/5/2010.

are some of the factors that make Kyiv different from the rest of the country. It also attracts international migrants and people from more than 130 countries can be found in Kyiv which is unique for Ukraine (also see section on Kyiv below) (Pylynsky, 2009).⁸

The death rate coefficient reached 15.3 in 2000 in comparison to the average coefficient of 10.6 in the European Union. In the 1990s, an increase of the death rate has particularly increased among the population of working age. The rate grew eightfold in the period of 1991-2000 (Shanghina 2002). Kurylo (2006) as well as Prybytkova (2008) predicted such opposite trends of birth and death rates to continue. An additional phenomenon is the aging Ukrainian society. Ukraine is among the world's 20 oldest populations. Concerning the share of people older than 60, Ukraine is on the 11th place, considering that the average life duration is on 66th place (see Table 5).⁹

Importantly, the de-/population process differs in rural areas and urban areas (Terets 2009). Rural area's population gradually become older and high immigration areas (mostly in bigger cites) become younger.

Ethnicities

The population consists of 77.8 percent Ukrainians and 17.3 percent Russians; Crimea oblasts is an exception where Ukrainians are a minority group (24.3 percent) (Figure 8).

But Ukraine is becoming increasingly diverse and over one hundred different minority groups can be found such as Armenians, Azerbaijani, Chuvashes, Czechs, Gagauz, Georgians, Germans, Greeks, Roma, Kazakhs, Lithuanians, Mordvins, Slovaks and Uzbeks (see Table 6). Ethnic Ukrainians and Russian are unequally dispersed across the oblasts as shown in table 7.

Ukrainian Political System and Landscape

After independence in 1991, a new democratic constitution was adopted on the 28th of June 1996. It provides the framework for a pluralistic political system that formally guarantees the protection of basic human rights and liberties. Ukraine is a republic administered by a mixed semi-parliamentary/semi-presidential system. The President is elected by popular vote for a five-year term; executive power is exercised by the Cabinet, in particular the head of the Cabinet; the Prime Minster is nominated by the President, who must be confirmed by parliament. The parliament, the Verkhovna Rada (450 seats), is elected likewise for a five-year term and constitutes of members elected by proportional representation and by single-seat constituencies (50 percent each).

⁸ National Census 2001, http://www.ukrcensus.gov.ua/results/general/nationality/city_kyiv/, accessed 1/5/2010.

⁹ http://www.ukrrudprom.ua/digest/Trendi_narodonaselennya.html?print, accessed 30/4/2010.

A large number of political parties can be found in Ukraine, 176 in April 2010¹⁰.Over the past five years this number has grown 1.5 times (in 2004 there were only 102 parties). Smaller parties often join in multi-party coalitions (called 'electoral blocks'), which allow them to participate in parliamentary elections. In the 2007 elections, representatives of 17 political parties had gained seats in the Ukrainian parliament (Tyshchenko, 2010) (see Table 8).

The reciprocal relationship between party politics and the public has an evident impact of the political landscape of Ukraine. The results of presidential elections in 2010 illustrate a clear-cut division (with only some exceptions) of the Ukrainian political landscape into two parts: west and east. Often, this is assumed to illustrate divergent geopolitical and cultural orientations, East and Russia looking versus West and EU looking (Figure 9).

Figure 9: Results of Presidential elections in Ukraine in 2010



Source: Central election commission of Ukraine, 2010, www.cvk.gov.ua/pls/vp2010/WP0011, accessed 20/5/2010.

An absence of transparent funding and support system of political parties, the need of reforming the present public administrations, an increasing corruption and the economic crisis are complicating the already complex issues of the Ukrainian political system. Corrupt funding of representatives of politics, public administration and industry deepens political apathy among members of the public debate. Therefore, corruption represents a severe problem and undermines the 'rule of law'. A study conducted in 2009 demonstrates that the respondents believe that the most corrupt institutes were the Ukrainian parliament (65 percent), the President and his secretariat (59 percent) and the

¹⁰ Ministry of Justice of Ukraine, http://www.minjust.gov.ua/0/499, accessed 2/5/2010.

government (57 percent). As regards people's everyday-life experiences the reported corrupt officers/institutions were: traffic wardens (63 percent), judicial system (59 percent), police (58 percent) and the medical system (54 percent)¹¹ (see also section below). The overall trust in Ukrainian executive powers is very low among members of civil society.¹²

Socio-Economic Parameters

Economy/Labour Market

In 1999, the unemployment rate in Ukraine peaked (11.9 percent) but to decrease gradually in the following years. The development of unemployment rates in Ukraine (ILO definition) between 2000 and 2009 can be consulted in table 9. Among them almost every ninth lost his job due to economic/industrial reasons (Vlasyuk et al. 2005).

Unemployment rates increased in all regions. The most dramatic increases were recorded in Vinnvtsva oblast (by 4.2 percent), Rivno (by 3.9 percent), Donetsk, Sumy and Poltava oblasts (by 3.7 percent)¹³. Three groups of oblasts as regards their unemployment rates can be identified and summarised as illustrated in table 10.

The main reason for unemployment is the changing structure of the Ukrainian labour market. The economic crisis of the mid-1990s led to substantial unemployment. In 1998, 41.8 percent of workers became unemployed due to structural macroeconomic reasons (Figure 10)¹⁴. Indeed, the majority of unemployment was not short-term but long-term unemployment; the majority (56.3 percent) of the unemployed registered in 1998 was still unemployed in 1999.

The financial crisis of 2009 gradually affected the labour market. The level of unemployment has increased by 37.5 percent (2 million) from 2008. Almost three thirds are urban populations (1.5 million) while the rural areas only account for 502,000 unemployed persons. Also a gender difference can also be observed: men were affected more likely than women (Figure 11)¹⁵.

From 2008 to 2009, the major developments at the Ukrainian labour market are (State Statistics Committee of Ukraine):

A slump of economic activity in the labour force: from 72.3 percent to 71.6 percent; increased unemployment rates from 6.9 percent to 9.6 percent.

¹¹ Corruption situation in Ukraine: comparative analyses of all-Ukrainian studies: 2007–2009 (2009), for the Border program of Corporation "Millennium Challenges" and "Supporting active participation of the citizens in counteracting corruption in Ukraine, "Worthy Ukraine", http://www.pace.org.ua/content/view/175/53/lang,uk/, 22/5/2010.

¹² 84% of Ukrainians do not trust parliament, Radio Ukraine, broadcasted 23/12/2009,

http://www.nrcu.gov.ua/index.php?id=148&listid=107707, accessed 3/06/2010.

¹³ State Statistics Committee of Ukraine, http://www.ukrstat.gov.ua/, accessed 2/5/2010.

¹⁴ Ukraine: an overview of Ukrainian labour market (2009), Project "Review of labour market of the Black sea region", European Education Fund, Kyiv. ¹⁵ State Statistics Committee of Ukraine, http://www.ukrstat.gov.ua/, accessed 30/4/2010.

- Declining rate of the creation of new vacancies (by 27.7 percent);
- Declining rates of reintegrating unemployed person into the labour market: from 43.3 percent to 32.8 percent;
- Increasing rate in average monthly unemployment benefits by 14.8 percent;
- Increasing average monthly nominal salary by 5.5 percent; reduction of real salary index from 106.3 percent to 90.8 percent.

Nevertheless, during the past decade the overall level of unemployment rates and with it poverty (Figure 12) gradually decreased, whilst in 2008/2009 the unemployment rate has increased (Figure 11).

These indicators of poverty are contested by experts since the impact of inflation was not taken into account. Heyts et al (2009) argued that poverty level in 2008 was 16.1 percent instead of 12.6 percent. Düvell (2007: 2) indicates that about 25 percent of the Ukrainian population live on US\$ 5 a day; this number is however decreasing. The Institute of Demographics and Social Studies (2008) conducted a study that found 28.2 percent of the Ukrainian population belong to the category of 'poor' and 15 percent live in destitution. In 2009, the highest index number of poverty could be found in Zakarpattya oblast, and the lowest in the city of Kyiv. The highest share of people affected by poverty though can be found in Donetsk oblast, the lowest in Kirovograd oblast.

Only in five of the oblasts the average wage was higher than the national average wage: city of Kyiv (UAH 3.022, \$US 377), Donetsk oblast (UAH 2.224, \$US 278), Dnipropetrovsk oblast (UAH 2.033, \$US 254), Kyiv oblast (UAH 2.006, \$US 250), Luhansk oblast (UAH 1.975, \$US 247).¹⁶ The lowest level of wages can be found in Ternopil (1.455 UAH, \$US 182), Volyn (1.479 UAH, \$US 185), Chernihiv (1.510 UAH, \$US 189) and Kherson (1.535 UAH, \$US 192) oblasts.¹⁷

In February 2010, the total amount of unpaid salaries for employees and workers increased by 2.7 percent or by UAH 45 million UAH, and on 1 March it rose by 17.9 percent (UAH 264 million), up to UAH 1738 million. The highest rates of unpaid salaries can be found in Kirovohrad, Zhytomyr, Sumy and Luhansk oblasts; the lowest in Ivano-Frankivsk oblast.¹⁸

Education

Ukraine has a well-organized system of education, a relic from Soviet times (Figure 13). The education level of the Ukrainian population is comparatively high when looking at international indicators. The level of literacy is 99.4 percent (men 99.7 percent and women 99.2 percent)¹⁹. In 2005

¹⁶ Minimum wage in Ukraine was 744 UAH in 2010.

¹⁷ On socio-economic situation in Ukraine in January-March 2010: Report (2010), http://www.ukrstat.gov.ua/, accessed 20/5/2010.

¹⁸ Ibid.

¹⁹ Ukraine literacy, http://www.indexmundi.com/ukraine/literacy.html, accessed 15/06/2010.

only 12 percent of the economically active population had not finished secondary education, but more than 45 percent had finished specialized secondary or polytechnic education.²⁰.

The sector of higher education plays a significant role in Ukraine; high numbers of students and educative institutions illustrate this role (Table 11). About 7 percent of the Ukrainian GDP is spend on education, which represents \$US 143 per capita, placing Ukraine at 48th place worldwide (Heyts et al. 2009).

The Ukrainian education system was not reformed after the independence and therefore failed to adjust to the transition of the economy. During the 1990s, many academics emigrated to the USA, Russia, Germany, Israel and Canada. During the last 15 years 600 fellows of National Academy of Science institutions have moved abroad; among them 105 doctors of sciences and 327 candidates of sciences²¹. However, in more recent years the number of 'academic emigration' has shrunk to one tenth of the number of academics leaving Ukraine during the 1990s.

Health care

Health care is a problematic issue in Ukraine. In particular high rates of HIV/AIDS and tuberculosisinfections are a severe problem in Ukraine (International Centre of Prospective Studies, 2008). The health care sector is underfinanced and understaffed, additionally it is burdened by the constantly increasing consumer prices (Figure 14). The general access to health care is becoming increasingly restricted; an asymmetric relationship between demand and supply of health care becomes evident.²²

Rights

Although human rights are guaranteed and protected by law, the implementation level shows substantial deficiencies. Shortfalls of the Ukrainian legal system and necessary reforms in the judicial system exacerbate the enforcement of human and social rights. Discriminative actions, for instance, at the work place as well as unfair payment of employees are only two examples. International bodies (such as UNO, OSCE, Council of Europe, European Court of Human Rights) as well as non-governmental organizations confirm that human rights issues emerged in the relation to Ukrainian security agencies, a corrupted judicial system, anti-Semitism, minority groups, freedom of speech, human trafficking and others (Heyts et al. 2009).²³

Ukraine. Project, Kyiv. www.etf.europa.eu/pubmgmt.nsf/(getAttachment)/.../NOTE7J7DW6.pdf, accessed 20/5/2010.

²⁰ European foundation of professional education (2008), development of human resources and migration policy in

²¹ National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine, www.nas.gov.ua, accessed on 2/5/2010.

²² National Institute for Strategic Studies (2009). Ukraine in 2005–2009: strategic evaluations of socio-political and socioeconomic development (2009), http://www.niss.gov.ua/, accessed on 2/5/2010.

²³ The Kharkiv Human Rights Protection Group offers an overview of individual cases of human rights violations, not only for the oblast of Kharkivska but also for Ukraine as a whole (http://www.khpg.org/en/, accessed 20/7/2010). Most prominently the case of a journalist's 'disappearance' (Vasyl Klymentyev) was more widely discussed and has reinforced the

Social Issues: Corruption, Crime, Drugs

With reference to surveys conducted by the 'National Press-Club of Reforms',²⁴ 92 percent of Ukrainians consider corruption to be wide-spread in Ukraine; 72 percent of the respondents thought that corruption has grown in Ukraine during the past five years (Hladun, 2006). Similarly, the Kyiv International Sociology Institute conducted a survey enquiring the level of corruption in Ukraine. 61.3 percent of respondents reported an increase of corruption since 2004.²⁵

A research project entitled 'Worthy Ukraine' addressed the level of acceptance of corruption In Ukraine. Among Kyiv residents, the level of acceptance was the highest (54.4 percent) while the lowest was found in Vinnytsya oblast (23.2 percent).²⁶ Such differences among regions were likewise confirmed by another study.²⁷ Corrupt activities differ in western and eastern regions: extortion is widespread in eastern parts of Ukraine (such as the Kharkivska oblast) while 'voluntary bribes' is more common practice in western Ukraine. The most corrupt institutions (via bribing) are state medical institutions (63 percent), secondary school institutions (60 percent), police (46 percent) and road inspection (40 percent), high schools (44 percent) and institutions deciding upon council housing (40 percent).²⁸

Some experts tend to be highly critical about the issue of corruption and how this issue imbues all level of politics and public services. For instance, regarding the founding years of Ukraine Anderson and Albini (1999) claimed that forms of a 'new oligarchy' dominated and controlled the Ukrainian political and economic landscape with the firm help of corruption among key institutions such as the Ukrainian intelligence service. We are not aware of a recent study establishing whether and to what extent this has changed though there are grounds to believe that these 'new oligarchs' still hold considerable power.

Drugs are a wide-spread and precarious issue in Ukraine. The UN estimated that the number of drug addicts in Ukraine will increase in future; a sidestepping effect of the economic crisis and increasing unemployment.²⁹ Closely related issues such as HIV/AIDS infections are similarly problematic. Ukraine is one of the countries of highest rates of drug use and HIV/AIDS infections. Officially, 174.000 of Ukrainians are diagnosed as "drug addicts"³⁰ (see also figure 29). International experts state that the real number of drug-dependents can be calculated by multiplying eight times

²⁴ "On overcoming corruption" in Ternopil oblast in 2009,

issue of a diminishing freedom of speech in Ukraine. A comprehensive but outdated report was compiled by the Ukrainian Helsinki Human Rights Union in 2006 (Ukrainian Helsinki Human Rights Union, 2006).

http://www.guds.gov.ua/sub/ternopilska/ua/publication/print/11179.htm, accessed 7/5/2010.

²⁵ Questionnaire: In Ukraine the level of corruption decreased, http://novynar.com.ua/politics/71608, accessed 2/02/2010.

²⁶ Corruption in Ukraine, latest surveys at: mediacrimea.com.ua/index.php?do=static&page, accessed 4/2/2010.

²⁷ Nationwide survey data, http://www.radiosvoboda.org/content/article/1761261.html, accessed 5/5/2010.

²⁸ Level of corruption is decreased in Ukraine, http://ua.korrespondent.net/ukraine/870438/print, accessed 12/05/2010.

²⁹ UN: crisis causes the growth of drug abuse in Ukraine, http://tsn.ua/ukrayina/oon-kriza-sprichinit-v-ukrayini-rist-

narkomaniyi.html, accessed 5/5/2010. ³⁰ Ukrainians are spending billions on drugs, http://www.narcolog.com.ua/drug/prevalence/ukraintsi_vitr_241.html, accessed 2/2/2010.

the official number. Experts argue that the number of drug addicts will reach 1 million in the near future.³¹ Alcoholism is growing issue. Estimates state that 7 percent of people of working age suffer from alcoholism. Among minors and young adults this issue is gradually growing.

Culture

Religions and Minorities

The base of the Ukrainian multi-ethnic nation is mainly formed by Slavic people, who have common ancestors and speak similar languages (Indo-European languages). Most of the Ukrainian population is eastern Slavic (ethnic Ukrainians, Russians and Byelorussians), also western (Polish, Czechs and Slovaks) and southern (Bulgarians, Serbs, Croatians). Only Slavic-Christians live in Ukraine: Orthodox, Catholic and Greek-Catholic; more than 96 percent of the Ukrainian population is Slavic (Heyts et al. 2009: 492, 493).

According to the State committee on nationalities and religions, on 1 January 2009 there were 55 religious faith registered in Ukraine; of all registered communities in 2008, 51.6 percent were Christian-Orthodox, 30 percent Protestant, 11.2 percent Greek-Catholic, 3.2 percent Roman-Catholic, 1.6 percent Muslim and 0.9 percent Jewish (Figure 15).

The Ukrainian Orthodox Church dominates eastern and southern oblasts (while Ukrainian Orthodox Church of the Kyivan Patriarchate dominate Kyiv); the Roman-Catholic Church in central oblasts; the Greek-Catholic Church and Autocephalous Orthodox Church in western oblasts; Protestant Church in central and eastern oblasts.

Two cultural macro-regions can be pointed out: Ukrainian in central and western regions and Russian in eastern and southern regions. The Ukrainian population is only a minority in the exceptional oblasts, which are the Autonomous republic of Crimea and the city of Sevastopol (for the distribution of minority groups and their proportions residing in Ukraine oblasts see Table 12).

Language

Fifty percent of the population speak Russian as first language whilst another significant number of ethnic Ukrainians regularly use the Russian language in everyday life. There is correlation between language and ethnic identity though this cannot be taken as a *per se* indicator for ethnic affiliation to one or the other 'nation'.³²

³¹ 10 percent of the Ukrainian drug takers live in Kyiv, http://tsn.ua/ukrayina/u-kiyevi-prozhivayut-10-ukrayinskihnarkomaniv.html, accessed 26/05/2010.

³² The issue of language is strongly politicised; in the field of research and public debates alike. In eastern and southern Ukraine, many Ukrainians consider the Ukrainian language as their native language, but speak Russian in their everyday

Ukrainian language is mostly used in the central, northern and western parts of Ukraine, while Russian is predominantly spoken in southern and eastern regions where the Ukrainian language is only used in state institutions and in some rural areas (Figure 16).



Figure 16: Ukrainian as a native language, percentages in each oblast (according to 2001 National Census)

Source: http://www.ukrcensus.gov.ua/, accessed 22/5/2010.

The 'language structure' of the Ukrainian population is characterized by the following features:

- Ukrainian is the native language for 67 percent of the population, which is 2.8 percent more than according to 1989 National Census;
- Russian is the native language for 29.6 percent of the population, comparing to the previous census this indicator fell by 3.2 percent;
- The proportion of other languages named as native during this period (1989-2001); it has grown by 0.4 percent and was in total 2.9 percent;
- Respondents indicated that their national language was considered as their native language (85.2 percent of Ukrainians and 95.9 percent of Russians), which underlined the strong correlation between nationality and language, i.e. language as a strong criteria of national self-identification.

life. Thus, numbers as well as terminology (as used in surveys) become confusing. 'Native language' may be understood as 'mother-tongue' while 'first language' is the language used in everyday life.

Migration

Migration Patterns and Flows

Migration History

The history of Ukraine is characterized by foreign rulers, i.e. by colonial powers. An almost nonintermittent³³ rule by dominant powers at the time can be observed: First by Lithuania and Poland, parts of today's Ukraine were ruled by the Ottoman Empire, Germany and the Austro-Hungarian Empire, later Tsarist Russia and subsequently the Soviet Union before its independence in 1991. These conditions also shaped the migration history of the country. Throughout the years, population movements made Ukraine a multi-ethnic and multi-religious population, while domestic turbulences led to high rates of emigration.

At the beginning of the twentieth century, rural poverty dramatically increased and undeveloped industries could not absorb the surplus of rural labour. Approximately 10 percent of this population decided to leave the country. A first wave of emigration was heading overseas: to the United States (Kuropas, 1991; Subtelny, 1991), to Canada (Martynowich, 1991)³⁴ and to a lesser extend to South America (Cipko and Lehr, 2006). Before World War I, around 470.000 people moved to the United States and about 170.000 to Canada (Satzewich, 2002). Further emigration flows were stimulated by the unsuccessful national liberation struggle between 1917-1920 (Malynovska, 2006b).

During the Soviet rule and even more drastically during the Stalin period, hundreds of thousands of people from rural areas were forced to move, 'dekulakized' resettled to less populated areas. After the reunification with Soviet Ukraine, 1939-1941, possibly another million people, mainly politically engaged people, religious people, intellectuals as well as workers from rural areas were deported from western Ukraine. Among these were ethnic Germans (approx. 450.000) and Crimean Tartars (approx. 200.000), but also Armenians, Bulgars, Greeks and Poles (Malynovska, 2006b).

During the communist rule, Ukrainian emigrants only moved within the Eastern block, particularly to Russia and the oil producing Soviet Republics in the east, such as Kazakhstan (Düvell, undated). Generally, inter-soviet migration led to population growth in the Ukrainian territory. In the 1960s, migration-induced growth constituted 12 percent of the total population growth in Ukraine. This migration trend continued during the 1970s and 1980s, however, migration flows slowed down

³³ Only in early 1918, Ukraine declared its independence, but its new government collapsed. The Soviet Red Army invaded and installed a Bolshevik government in 1922. Ukraine became subsequently one of the four founding republics of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics (USSR).

³⁴ For a concise overview on Ukrainian emigration to Canada in the late 19th century: Taras Shevchenko Museum Toronto, Ontario, http://www.virtualmuseum.ca/pm_v2.php?id=story_line&lg=English&fl=0&ex=464&sl=5504&pos=1, accessed 19/04/2010.

slightly. While net-migration in most Soviet republics was negative, migration flows still contributed to population growth by approximately 8 percent (Steshenko, 1987; Zakharova, 1991). Emigration was dominated by the Ukrainian population and by 1989 close to 7 million Ukrainians, i.e. 15.4 percent of the total population resided outside Ukraine (mostly in other Soviet republics). At the same time, 43.3 percent of the Russian citizens residing in Ukraine were born outside Ukrainian territory (Anderson, 1989; USSR Goskomstat, 1989).

The Perestroika has liberated international migration for Soviet people. Restrictions to leave the country were reduced, for instance for the purpose of family reunification. Notably, members of ethnic minorities (Germans, Greeks, Jews and Poles) who had relatives abroad started to leave the Ukrainian territory between 1987 and 1990. For instance in 1990, permissions to leave for Israel only amounted 68,000³⁵.

After the Ukrainian struggle for independence,³⁶ from 1991 to 1993, migration flows were dominated by reverse and return migration, Russians and Belarusians moved out of the Ukrainian territory, while Ukrainians, Tatars returned from Kazakhstan and Uzbekistan. The same period witnessed the arrival of first refugees.

East Ukrainians tended to move east, i.e. to Russia, whilst west Ukrainians with the exception of Zakarpattyia tended to move westwards. This pattern has changed over time and east-west movements lost its relevance after 1994 (see Pirozhkov et al. 2003, Malynovska 2004).

Due to the movement of people and the territorial change of Ukraine, ethnic Ukrainians, respectively people born on what is now Ukraine territory can be found in several countries: Russia (4.3 million in 1989; 2.9 million in 2002)³⁷, U.S. (Ukrainian ancestry about 1 million)³⁸; Canada (400,000 single Ukrainian ancestry and 650,000 partial ancestry)³⁹, Brazil (500,000), Belarus (248.000 in

³⁵ State Committee of Ukraine for Statistics, http://www.ukrstat.gov.ua/, accessed 21/04/2010. Zissels (1997) points to Jewish people from several countries (Israel, the U.S., Germany, Russia) returning to Ukraine. With reference to the Ministry of Statistics of Ukraine some 6.500 Jews returned to Ukraine between 1994 and 1997, while the actual numbers figures could be two or three times higher due to 'unregistered returnees'. Such figures need to be treated with care as Zissels (1997) noted and Gobert (2001) elaborated upon: "It is not in Israel's best interest to report official figures for return (i.e. out-migration); it may also be in the interest of a leader of the Ukrainian Jewish community to exaggerate them" (Golbert, 2001: 730)

³⁶ Diaspora-Ukrainians around the world (especially from Canada and the U.S.) played a vital role during the struggle for independence. A strong lobby outside Ukraine has developed over hundreds of years of Ukrainian diaspora. Meanwhile also conflicts arose between Ukrainian 'returnees' and governmental circles – certain diaspora politics have emerged (King and Melvin, 1999).

³⁷ National Census 2001 of the Russian Federation, *Russian Federal Service of State Statistics*, http://demoscope.ru/weekly/ssp/rus_nac_02.php. accessed 08/05/2010.

³⁸ U.S. Census Bureau, http://factfinder.census.gov/servlet/ADPTable?_bm=y&-geo_id=01000US&-

ds_name=ACS_2006_EST_G00_&-_lang=en&-_caller=geoselect&-format=, accessed 09/05/2010.

³⁹ Statistics Canada, www.statcan.gc.ca, accessed 08/05/2010.

2007)⁴⁰, Poland (up to 300,000), Slovakia (35,000), Lithuania (22.500 in 2001), Hungary (10,000), Czech Republic (5,000) Croatia (4,000), Moldova and Rumania (Düvell, 2007; OSCE, 2001).

Net-Migration

The geographical position of Ukraine inevitably generates a vibrant in and out migration of people – Ukraine is situated on the European-Asian crossways; amongst east-west and west-east routes of migration. In addition, Ukraine is surrounded several countries and their relationships are characterized by active exchanges of these countries' people. Thus, Ukraine is a country of emigration and transit migration and also increasingly receiving migrants and refugees from many parts of the world. It is one of the top sending (ranked 3) and receiving (ranked 4) countries worldwide⁴¹ (Düvell, 2007) (Figure 17, Table 13, Table 14).

Available migration figures are distorted by the large extent of temporary migration and circular migration. Ukrainian-Russian labour migration, for instance, varies between 1 million and 3 million (during summer season). Cross-border commuters and petty traders between Ukraine and Belarus, Poland and Turkey are another factor of distortion. These movements cannot *per se* be referred to as 'migration'. Most of these business and trading trips take 1-3 days and can be rather understood as cross-border economic activity and rather an alternative to migration strategy. The impetus of such business trips is the high-income margin. One trip generates for some families up to 40 times more income than the average per capita income (Pirozhkov, 1996).

Emigration

In the early 1990s, after the fall of the Soviet Union, 50-60 percent of the Ukrainian population have expressed aspirations of leaving Ukraine (Shevstova, 1992).⁴² Ukrainian emigrants are estimated to be up to 7 million individuals (World Bank, 2006).

Between 1994 and 1998 some 636.000 people left Ukraine for the Russian Federation; in the course of the 1990s approximately 10.000 Ukrainian emigrants went to Argentina; within three years the Ukrainian population in Portugal increased from solely 127 to 65.000 (1999-2002) (Cipko, 2006) (Figure 18).

In the early 1990s, petty trade and shuttle traders became a common form of survival strategy (as mentioned above). This was the only form of work many Ukrainians could find during the economic

⁴⁰ CIA (2007), The World Factbook 2007, https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/bo.html, accessed 08/05/2010.

⁴¹ The figures stemming from the World Bank report 2007 included return migration and therefore this ranking tends to be misleading. It does however demonstrate tentative indictors, which are rather used here as illustrative figures than analytical components.

⁴² One shall note that these figures include non-Ukrainians from the other Soviet Republics and also a share of ethnic Russians in eastern part of Ukraine.

crisis in the mid-1990s, i.e. buying small quantities of certain goods in countries such as China, Hungary, Poland, Turkey and selling them in Ukraine and *vice versa* (Pavlychko, 1996). Through such trade shuttling, business contacts and network were build which facilitated gradually but increasingly labour migration. By the end of the 1990s, labour migration became a mass phenomenon. Estimates such as indicated by Malynovska (2006a) refer to 2-3 million Ukrainian citizens working abroad, mostly in building and construction sector, housekeeping as well as in the agricultural industry. Most recent numbers of Ukrainians working abroad including persons migrated as guest workers amounts to nearly 4.5 million persons, of whom nearly 1.7 million reside in the EU (Markov et al. 2009) (see also table 15, more specifically table 16 shown in the annex demonstrated the proportion of Ukrainians working and living in the EU).

The scale of remittances for Ukraine is the second highest among countries with average levels of migration flows (World Bank, 2006). No accurate figures of the scope of remittances are available, but for the year 2006, the World Bank (2009c) puts the figure of remittances at US \$829 million and for the 2007 at US \$4.503 million. This represents an increase of 443 percent. An estimate for 2008 was given at US \$5.000 million. Malynovska (2006a) referred to a range between US \$4 and 6 billion; in 2003 Boris Dovzhuk, director of the Ternopol job centre claims that annually US \$100 million flow into the western Ukrainian town of Ternopol (population in 2004: approx. 205.000).⁴³

Wealth disparities⁴⁴ triggering social disruption in Ukraine were identified (Åslund, 2004; Whitefield and Wittrock, 2009), while other scholars go a step further and call the economic transition in post-socialist Ukraine "a process of social Darwinian economic vandalism, a new form of imperialism, or, as the most radical reformers would argue, a necessary and painful step toward integration into the global economy" (Wanner, 2005).

Emigration raised not only demographic issues, but also social issues as for instance family issues. An increasing number of divorces were recorded (The Economist, 2003), while another survey resulted that 75 percent of Ukrainian women have left one or two and 8 percent three or more children behind (see also below section on discursive themes) (IOM, 2006). The issue of 'emigration-orphans' may have an effect on gender roles and responsibilities as well as women's social status on the one hand, but more importantly, these children and adults are social orphans and their family life might be highly disrupted (Piperno, 2007; Yarova, 2006). The phenomenon of social orphans is increasing in numbers over past recent years in Ukraine (based on data from UNICEF, Kyiv office (Danzer and Dietz, 2009)).

⁴³ *Ukrainian National News Agency*, Ukrainian bankers worried over U.S. dollars accounting for a third of nation's money in. circulation, 1 June 2006.

⁴⁴ Studies confirm that remittances play a decisive role for consumption and investment level, thus remittances will sustain economic growth rates (Ratha, 2003). At the same time remittances can also lead to wealth disparities in particular areas of a country which could trigger social disruptions as demonstrated by Buch and Kuckulenz (2004).

Emigrants' aspirations widely differ, however evidences show that aspirations increasingly centred on economic motivations. A national survey confirmed that most emigrants are driven by the situation of their living conditions (Malynovska, 2006c). Only 1.1 percent of the respondents of the survey stated that they are 'rich', 45.6 percent described themselves as 'poor' and 53 percent referred to a 'medium-level'. Malynovska (2006c) argued that in a cohort of people living close to the border areas the satisfaction of those people with their well-being is 19 times higher than among people of a nation-wide cohort (see also section on labour migration). A survey conducted in 2002 investigated how labour migrants' households would 'self-asses' their increase of welfare in their family due to migration. 41.1 percent reported a 'tangible increase'; 43.1 percent stated that their financial situation has 'somewhat improved'; 8.8 percent stated 'no change' of the family well-being. At the same time, 63.4 percent referred to a higher 'economic status' due to labour migration and 13 percent reported a 'poor financial situation' (SIFY, 2004; Tolstokorova, 2009).

Similarly, INTAS⁴⁵ conducted an ethno-survey (see Massey et al. 1987; Massey and Zentento, 2000)) in 2005/2006, which points to a change in motivations and major motives of (potential) Ukrainian migrants and non-migrants. Dietz (2007b) argued that a shift took place. The formerly migratory movement inspired by ethnic and political reasons after the independence of Ukraine (Frejka et al. 1999, Dietz 2007a) were replaced by motives and motivations mainly driven by economic reasons.

Economic concerns such as unemployment, social welfare and professional development were signified by more than 60 percent of population sample. About 95 percent agreed to the general question of 'economic improvement'. Political and ethnic reasons as well as concerns over military conflicts or criminality in Ukraine were considered as causal factors by less than 20 percent (Dietz, 2007b; Wallace and Vincent, 2007).

Nonetheless, Sabuschko (2007: 4) refers to the "myth of Europe" that represents justice and social welfare, which is still alive in contemporary Ukraine. It ever since epitomised the ideal of human rights and the rule of the law. The Parisian idea of *liberté, egalité, fraternité* was a popular symbol that was impregnated in the imagination of Ukrainian people. Europe is still the "paradise lost", a place where these original ideas of human rights are guaranteed and more importantly respected by the law (Sabuschko, 2007). This judicial aspect of human rights, the implementation of fundamental human rights following the rule of law is of particular significance with reference to Kuts (2006). Human rights are enshrined in the Ukrainian Constitution, however the actual implementation and enforcement of rights represent an ambiguous issue.

⁴⁵ 'International Association for the promotion of cooperation with scientists from the New Independent States of the former Soviet Union (NIS)' was established in June 1993. This non-profit, charitable association, based in Brussels was founded with the aim of supporting scientific co-operation between scientists on the basis of mutual benefit.

Immigration

During the past two decades, Ukraine also gradually became a country of immigration and the Ministry of the Interior noticed an increase in applications for permanent residence (Braichevska et al. 2004). Indeed, in 2004, Serhiy Brytchenko, head of the Presidential Administration's Migration Directorate drew attention to an increasing number of immigration flows into Ukraine (Brytchenko, 2004).

According to the UN Secretary General (2006) Ukraine ranks fourth in the world in terms of number of international migrants: in 2005, 6.6 million international migrants in Ukraine account for 3.6 percent of the scope of international migrants worldwide. 2 million people came to Ukraine between 1991 and 2004 mostly from former Soviet satellite states; the majority was Ukrainians returning from Russia (see also section below).

These patterns of immigration have changed during the period 1991-2010. In the first period, ethnic Ukrainians and their descendants returned to Ukraine. In a second period (2001-2010), newcomers from various destinations increasingly arrived.⁴⁶ In 2009, 178,500 immigrants arrived in Ukraine. In the period from 2001-2009, official data provide quantities and nationalities of immigrants as illustrated in figure 19 and figure 20.

Kyiv is the hub of immigrants⁴⁷, but also Kharkov and Odessa are popular destinations. One of the most significant groups of immigrants is students (about 20 percent of the total immigration population). According to the Ukrainian Ministry of Education and Science (2008), most of the students are enrolled at universities in Kyiv (8526), Kharkov (8340), Odessa (3910), Donetsk (2277), Lugansk (2230), Sevastopol (2202). Further destinations are Dnipropetrovsk, Zaporizzia, Lviv and Poltava. In academic year (2007/2008), there were 39.700 foreign students⁴⁸ from 129 different countries. The share of foreign students in comparison to the total number of students in Ukraine (2007: 2.72 million) is rather low, however, the trend is clearly positive since the share of total numbers of foreign students has increased from 2006-2008 by 11 percent. The most common countries of origin are China (17.24 percent), the Russian Federation (12.1 percent), Jordan (7.1 percent), Syria (6.9 percent), India (6.5 percent) and Iran (6.2 percent). More than a third enrolled in medicine.

⁴⁶ In Ukraine, immigrants are often categorised by scholars as well as policy makers into two groups: traditional and non-traditional immigrants or old and new immigrants (e.g Braichevska, et al. 2004; Popson, 2004). Traditional or 'old' immigrants are considered to be immigrants from CIS countries, while non-traditional immigrants are people originating from East Asia, Africa and the Middle East.

⁴⁷ In Kyiv alone, there were close to 500 active migrant associations, which at the time were tightly networked with the Kyivans communities and local institutions (Popson, 2004). However, most recent research assessed the third sector (NGO sector) as diminishing in number and activity (Palyvoda and Golota, 2010). Kuts (2006) concluded that civil society can not be regarded as an powerful agent in the Ukrainian political landscape.

⁴⁸ The definition of 'student' may differ from other countries' definition. This remains unclear, and therefore comparisons may be treated with care: the total number of foreign students in the Great Britain is 13 percent, in Germany 12 percent, in France 11 percent and the U.S. 4 percent.

A study conducted by the Kennan Institute in 2001–2002 included surveys interviewing immigrant households in Kyiv from twenty-three countries. The majority of respondents were from Afghanistan and Vietnam. Most of them arrived after the collapse of the Soviet Union; 38 percent of all migrants entered Ukraine irregularly. The most commonly stated impetus for leaving their countries and moving to Ukraine was 'economic reasons' or 'improving living conditions' (38 percent). A small proportion (3 percent) originally intended to only transit through Ukraine and move on to the EU (Braichevska, et al. 2004).

Refugees and Return Migration

Deported persons and their descendants returned to Ukraine and represent significant groups. 250.000 Crimean Tartars, Bulgarians, Armenians and Greeks returned to Crimea and more than 2.000 Germans resettled in southern Ukraine. After resettlement, notably Tatars found themselves on the margins of society. In 2005, only about 50 percent of returned Crimean Tartars had permanent housing, while more than 50 percent of the working age population were unemployed (Malynovska, 2006b).

Starting in 1991, after Ukraine gained independence, refugees arrived from several countries such as Afghanistan, Chechnya as well as further former Soviet republics such as Abkhazia, Uzbekistan, but at an increasing scale also from other parts of the world.⁴⁹ In mid-1992, 60.000 victims of the conflict in Moldova/Transnistria have been granted asylum in Ukraine. Another 15.000 refugees arrived from the conflict zone of Abkhazia, however only 3.000 were granted asylum status (Stadilna, 2003). Some scattered numbers of Chechen refugees arrived in 1994 and 1995. About 1.500 to 2.000 arrived in period of 1995-1997 as a result of the war in Chechnya (Levin, 2006). Since 1997, about 1.500 citizens of the Russian Federation have applied for asylum in Ukraine, of those most are assumed to be Chechen refugees (Düvell, undated; Levin, 2006).

Ukraine adopted the first Refugee Law in 1993 but it was only implemented in 1996. Initially, recognition rates were high but have since dropped significantly. Since 1996, about 5.459 asylum seekers were granted refugee status, of which 2.277 continued to reside in Ukraine (measured at the beginning of 2008).⁵⁰ Only a small number is legally resettlement to other safe countries as part of international schemes arranged by UNHCR (see figures 21 and figure 22).

Since 1996, the majority of recognized refugees originate from Afghanistan (51 percent, 1.171 persons); from CIS countries (including Russian Federation, Armenia, Georgia, Azerbaijan, and Tajiki-

http://www.unhcr.org.ua/unhcr_ukr/main.php?article_id=3&view=full&start=1, accessed 30/05/2010.

⁴⁹ Pozniak (2008) found that 73 percent of refuges applying for asylum in Ukraine are of working age and are welleducated. 52.1 percent obtained higher education. 54.9 percent of the respondents of the survey stated that they speak in addition to their mother-tongue language Russian and Ukrainian. 30 percent claimed they speak Russian fluently. ⁵⁰ Refugee and asylum statistics for Ukraine

stan: 808, 29 percent); from African countries (e.g. Congo, Sudan, Ethiopia and Angola: 293 persons, 13 percent).⁵¹

Readmission agreements (with Ukraine installed in 2006 and ratified in 2007)⁵² as well as return directives⁵³ are not designed to interfere with the right to seek asylum, but occasionally not only irregular migrants and failed asylum seekers are returned under such agreements (Byrne, 2003).⁵⁴ Also asylum seekers whose application is pending and who would qualify under the protection of international law are returned. By this practice, the right to seek asylum, as enshrined in Article 14 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, is violated.⁵⁵

Occasionally, refugees have no access to refugee status determination procedures (Polikarpova, 2007). As consequence of the rigid⁵⁶ and partially problematic Ukrainian asylum system – although the asylum and migration mandates in Ukraine have been reorganized several times in recent years⁵⁷ – is that many people turn to irregular strategies of migration as the following sections will elaborate.

Irregular Migration and Transit Migration⁵⁸

A substantial share of Ukrainian migration is irregular (Düvell, 2007). From a EU perspective the concern of irregular transit migration (that goes through Ukraine and lead into the EU) is of particular importance (Düvell and Vollmer, 2009). Because of its geographic location as well as its established bonds and networks with Asian and African countries, which go back to Soviet times, Ukraine territory became a crossing of (predominantly) east-west migration (Dietz, 2007a; Mansor and Quillin, 2006). For the sake of protecting EU borders as well as EU interests, sophisticated border surveillance have been introduced in the case of the Ukrainian borderland. An echelon of

⁵¹ Refugee and asylum statistics for Ukraine,

http://www.unhcr.org.ua/unhcr_ukr/main.php?article_id=3&view=full&start=1, accessed 30/05/2010.

⁵² Council of the European Union (2007).

⁵³ Directive 2008/115/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on common standards and procedures in Member States for returning illegally staying third-country nationals, 16 December 2008, http://eur-

lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2008:348:0098:0107:EN:PDF, accessed 09/05/2010.

⁵⁴ Experts are undecided about the effects of readmission agreements for Ukraine. For instance Viktor Chumak argued that Ukraine will not become a migration buffer zone due to readmission treaties with the EU (ICPS, 2005b), while Uehling (2004), Vachudová (2000) and Zimmer (2008) have a much more critical view towards such readmission agreements between Ukraine and the EU.

⁵⁵ Everyone has the right to seek and to enjoy in other countries asylum from persecution; This right may not be invoked in the case of prosecutions genuinely arising from non-political crimes or from acts contrary to the purposes and principles of the United Nations (Universal Declaration of Human Rights, G.A. res. 217A (III), U.N. Doc A/810 at 71 (1948). Article 14).

⁵⁶ Until May 2005, Article 9 of the Ukrainian Law on Refugees only allowed to seek asylum within the first three working days (in case of irregular entry) and five working days (in case of regular entry) after arrival in Ukraine. If this deadline was ignored, asylum applications were rejected by the migration service. UNHCR office in Kyiv reported that in 2002 and 2003 up to 70 percent of asylum applications were rejected on these or similar procedural grounds (UNHCR, undated).
⁵⁷ For more details see below section on policy developments.

⁵⁸ There is no single definition for transit migration in international policy or international law. This complex concept is problematic and a definition is hampered by the vagueness and the transient nature of the phenomenon as such; for a discussion see Düvell and Vollmer (2009).

controls was introduced that reaches from inside the EU territory far into Ukraine (as far as Kyiv) (Molodikova and Düvell, 2009).

In the mid-1990s, transit routes were described that start in south-east and central Asia via Russia and Ukraine to western Europe, i.e. migrants mostly from Afghanistan, Bangladesh, China, Pakistan, Sri Lanka, Vietnam; as well as the Middle East, i.e. from or through Iran, Iraq, Jordan, Syria and Turkey. Another route by migrants from Angola, Ethiopia, Morocco, Nigeria and Somalia led primarily through Turkey and Iran into the trans-Caucasus and finally to or through Kyiv and Moscow (ICPS, 2006; IOM, 1994).

In 2009, 23.384 individuals were apprehended by the State Border Guards Service for illegally crossing the Ukrainian border. The development of apprehension at the Ukrainian border from 2006–2009 and apprehensions within Ukraine as well as deportations of irregular migrants (2001-2009) can be drawn from the graphs in figure 23 and figure 24.

Duvell (undated) argued that the number of those who cross the border undetected is higher than it is commonly assumed. Suggested multipliers range from 1:2 to 1:8, however a ratio of 1:3 to 1:4 can be regarded as plausible. NGOs engaged in refugee support have confirmed such multiplier ratios.

Borders, border guards and detention centres⁵⁹ are a precarious issue around the globe and also in Ukraine. Corrupt border guards as well as criminal gangs force migrants often to become victims of trafficking and subsequent sexual exploitation is a particular issue at the Ukraine-EU border (Düvell, 2007; Hughes, 2000; Zhyznomirska, 2006). 'Transit migrants' fear such criminal organisations and either decide to stay in Ukraine instead or try to travel on potentially even more hazardous migration routes.

Gendered Migration Patterns

The economic downturns in the 1990s particularly affected women. Women accounted in this period for an economic low performing social group and at times the unemployment rate reached 80 percent (Dyczok, 2000).

In developed regions, the share of women emigrating from Ukraine - 51 percent – marginally outweighs men (United Nations, 2006), while the share of women in the total estimated migrant stock is growing over time (Piperno, 2007; Wallace and Vincent, 2007; Zimmer, 2007a).

The gendered pattern of migration from Ukraine became obvious in the early 1990s: the majority of men migrate to eastern destinations (i.e. mostly to the Russian Federation), while women predominantly migrate to destinations west of Ukraine (i.e. Italy, Spain, Portugal, etc.) (Hormel and

⁵⁹ For more details see: http://www.globaldetentionproject.org/about/about-the-project.html, accessed 08/05/2010.

Southworth, 2006; Malynovska, 1996). Determinants for such a pattern are mostly given by the economic sectors in the destination countries which have a 'gender preference'. The construction sector in the Russian Federation demands foreign male workers and the tourist and cleaning sector in western/southern EU demands foreign female workers. Up to 70 percent of migrants from western Ukraine are women (Zimmer 2007b).

In various destination countries Ukrainian migration is predominantly female: 65 percent in Spain; 75.5 percent in Greece and 90.2 percent in Italy. Petty trade to neighbouring countries of Ukraine is likewise done by 53.6 percent of women. The gender composition of migration flows changes dramatically over time depending on the seasonal as well as economic cycles (Tolstokorova, 2009).

The preference of women selecting Italy for instance has a religious background as argued by Tolstokorova (2008). Many women in domestic sector in Italy originating from western Ukraine and specially the women from traditional rural families migrated to Italy hoping to continue practicing their Catholic belief in this destination country (see also table 15).

Two Outstanding Features of Contemporary Migration in Ukraine

The first is the shift of migration motivations that took place according to Dietz (2007a, 2007b): from migratory movement inspired by ethnic and political reasons to motives and motivations mainly driven by economic reasons. The contextual economic and socio-political developments of Ukraine of the past 5-10 years play an important role in this development and will be analytical taken into account. The second outstanding feature is the share of women in migration process. This percentage share is high in comparison to other countries and may not only be determined by economic sectors in the destination countries but also by more complex, inner-societal conditions. A comparative perspective needs to be drawn to this particular feature.

Politics and Discourses in Ukraine

The following section offers a brief overview on the recent legal/policy developments concerning migration as well as an evaluation of the state-of-the-art in policy-making affairs in Ukraine.⁶⁰ In a second section a brief elaboration of discursive themes will be provided that condense the core elements in policy, media and popular discourses in Ukraine.

Policy and Legislative Developments - Internal Affairs

The Declaration of State Sovereignty of the July 1990 guarantees the regulation of migration (Article 4, point 5). Shortly afterwards the Law on "The Citizenship of Ukraine" was adopted which fa-

⁶⁰ Migration law and policy developments have been discussed in the past (e.g. Chekhovych, 2001; Kondeatiev et al. 2000; Piskun, 1998; Subotenko, 2001), but recent up-dates and critical assessments are rare.

cilitated the repatriation of Ukrainians residing outside Ukraine. A series of laws went through parliament in the mid-1990s and in the first decade of the 21st century including:

- Draft of the Law of Ukraine "On State Migration Service of Ukraine" (No. 4797, 2009)
- Decree of the President of Ukraine on "Directions of the State migration Policy of Ukraine and Urgent Actions of Increasing of its Effectiveness" (No. № 657/2007, 2007)
- Law of Ukraine "On State Border Guard Service of Ukraine" (No. 661-IV, 2003)
- Law of Ukraine "On Refugees" (No. 2557 III, 2001)
- Law of Ukraine "On Immigration" (No. 2491 III, 2001)
- Decree of the President of Ukraine on Issues Pertaining to Arrangements for Enforcement of Law of Ukraine "On Immigration" (No. 596/2001, 2001)
- Law of Ukraine "On Citizenship of Ukraine" (No. 2235 III, 2001)
- Decree of the President of Ukraine on "Issues of Enforcement of the Law of Ukraine "On Citizenship of Ukraine" (No. 215/2001, 2001)
- The Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine Resolution "On measures to provide assistance to persons who had left places of their permanent residence in the Autonomous Republic of Abkhazia (Georgia) and arrived in Ukraine" (No. 674, 1996)
- Law of Ukraine "On Legal Status of Aliens" (No. 3929 XII, 1994)
- Law of Ukraine "On Procedure for Exit and Entry of Ukrainian Citizens into Ukraine" (No. 3857 XII, 1994)

Various government departments are involved to co-ordinate such laws and regulations. The State Committee of Nationalities and Migration and several sub-bodies at regional and local levels were created in 1993 and expanded in 1994. Main bodies that are involved include the Ministry of the Interior, the State Committee for Border Control, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Security Service of Ukraine, the Ministry of Labour and Social Policy, the Ministry of Health as well as the Ministry of Statistics. In addition, the international policy arena got increasingly engaged with Ukrainian migration affairs. The International Organization for Migration (IOM) and the United Nations High Commissionaire for Refugees (UNHCR) commenced collaborations with Ukrainian authorities. The initial liberal policy approach towards migration, mostly return migration, and towards ethnic minorities during the first decade after the independence has gradually changed to a more restrictive approach. For instance, the rights of immigrants and the amount of available resident permits in Kyiv were limited (Braichevska et al. 2004). From the beginning if the 21st century policy-makers aimed at discouraging further immigration (Popson, 2004). According to Article 5 of Ukrainian law

"On migration", there is a set immigration quota for Ukraine (the categories of 'immigrants' and 'distribution by regions' for 2010 can be found in table 17).⁶¹

Experts such as Malynovska (2004) described the state of laws and policies as unclear and scattered; a coherent strategy is missing.⁶² Policy-making culture in the past can be best characterised by reactionism due to rapid geopolitical, economic and societal transformation. This time of changes therefore made policy-makers focus on controlling measures first, i.e. in order to control the state of affairs in the Ukrainian migration regime. Consequently, one of the most developed policy sub-areas in both ways legislative and institutional is the area of irregular migration. As early as January 1996, the Ukraine government planned for a prospective program to control irregular migration, which were followed by further policy programs such as 'Programme for the Prevention of Illegal Migration 2001-2004³. Düvell and Vollmer (2009) underlined the lack of a coherent policy framework on migration in Ukraine. They point to an incoherent institutional organisation and management has an additional sidestepping influence on the implementation level of migration policy. Which department or authority at local level is in charge for which policy measure and is responsible for which implementation action is often unclear and introduces managerial uncertainties. Policies towards labour migrants, the insufficient number of relevant bilateral agreements on labour migration, and of consular services outside Ukraine, were especially criticised in the view of African and Asian countries as likewise endorsed by Pylynskyi (2008a).

Corruption is another complex issue. Corruption in Ukraine is not only a legal issue but also a societal and cultural issue. Pylynskyi (2008a) refers to the Ukrainian economy (or possibly to the Ukrainian state system as such) that follows certain rules which are not in line with the western European standards of rule of law. The stringent Ukrainian law has an asymmetric relation to its 'permissive application'. The judicial system also is not free of corruption, instead corruption became internalised as a cultural artefact and part of 'everyday business'. In addition (or as a consequence) policy-making or policy affairs as such are not held transparent. Particularly in this area of policy implementation, the complex issue of corruption within authorities and enforcement agencies seem vital (Pylynskyi, 2008a). Pylynskyi (2008a: 7) referred to policemen who treat migrants as a kind of "money source" and a "feeder" (through bribes).

A key issue in the Ukrainian policy domain on migration policy-making is the matter of demographic developments. The main indicators and estimates play a significant role in the process of decision-making. The discipline of demographic research appears to be at the centre of governmental interests and on this way a slightly weighted research field can be found bringing about a

⁶¹ The quota for Kyiv is the highest (2.247 people), Kharkiv oblast (1.132 people), and the smallest quota is for Volyn oblast (45 people). The Ternopil oblast has an immigration quota of 124 people. Notably, this quota does not include students from other countries.

⁶² The IOM (2006) criticised the absence of a coherent conceptual legal framework on national migration policy and management. "Clearly cut outlined mechanisms and feasible tools for implementation" were needed (IOM, 2006: 9). ⁶³ Presidential Decree on January 18, 2001, No. 22/2001.

plethora of especially quantitative studies (e.g. Adamets et al. 2009; Libanova and Kurilo, 2009; Pozniak, 2008; Shevchuk and Shvydka, 2009).

External Affairs/EU Politics

As an immediate external neighbour of the EU, Ukraine is of highest interest to the EU. Ukrainian authorities have not been preparing for administration and resources to deal with large-scale immigration and integration, since immigration was not regarded as a matter of national interest. Migrants from countries with no links with Ukraine were anticipated to move on towards the EU instead of staying in the Ukraine (Düvell and Vollmer, 2009). Therefore, stability and migration rank high on the EU-Ukrainian policy agenda, particularly in respect to the Ukrainian aspirations of joining the EU (Fischer et al. 2008; Turczyński, 2005).

In the meanwhile the EU sent signs of seeking a closer and yet distant relationship with Ukraine. Broader cooperation was formalised through the Partnership and Cooperation Agreement (1998) and the EU-Ukraine Association Agenda (2009) rated by experts as 'ambitious' (Boroda et al. 2010). With respect to migration various initiatives were agreed: the EU Action Plan on Justice and Home Affairs (2001) on border crossing from Ukraine into the EU; the European Neighbourhood Policy (2004); Söderköping Process (2003) initiated by the Swedish migration authority, IOM, UNHCR and EU authorities on regional border controls; the European Union Border Assistance Mission (EUBAM) (2005) targeting autonomous zone of Transnistria/Moldova; Border Management at the Moldova-Ukraine Border (BOMMOLUK) to improve border controls at the Moldova-Ukraine border; and the General Directors' Immigration Service Conference (GDISC) an ongoing cycle of meetings of senior officials of EU and non-EU directors of migration control authorities.

Simultaneously, Ukraine has signed a number of bilateral labour agreements with various EU countries and a number of countries, which aimed at the protection of Ukrainian citizens and workers abroad.⁶⁴ Some EU member states arranged specific agreements with Ukraine notably Portugal which requires work visa and employment contracts and in exchange guarantee various social rights, also for temporary workers (Ukrainian Ministry of the Interior, 2005).

Also the EU's Copenhagen criteria were addressed in the past and Ukraine has ratified a number of human rights treaties and conventions such as the:

- Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children, supplementing the UN Convention against Transnational Organized Crime 2000;
- International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights 1966;

- International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination 1966;
- Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment 1984;
- Convention relating to the Status of Refugees 1951;
- Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women 1979;
- International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights 1966;
- Convention on the Rights of the Child 1989.

International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of their Families 1990 was not ratified by Ukraine as of yet.

Discursive Themes

The underlying discursive evidences that were found in the different discourses in Ukraine are only sketched in the following sections. Exemplifying evidences will be stated only as to suffice for the purposes of this report. The discursive themes that were derived from this broad-brush approach have cross-cutting relevance for each discourse domain (policy, popular, media), and these will be the following:

- Emigration Ambiguous discursive elements: dangers, human losses or heroic act
- Immigration, identity, security
- EU Ukraine relations

Emigration – Ambiguous Discursive Elements: Dangers, Human Losses or Heroic Act

Policy campaigns were launched in the past, which let the discursive element of 'emigration as danger' emerge, i.e. emigration cannot only be an improvement of persons' life situation but it can also bear dangers (Shelley, 1998). This is expressed in information on trafficking emphasising emigration risks for women (IOM 1998) or the activities of women support NGOs ("La Strada Ukraine").⁶⁵ In 2005, the Ukrainian government announced the creation of bureau to combat human trafficking (Associated Press Newswires, 2005). Collaborative operations between the Ukrainian authorities and the IOM have started the same year (BBC Monitoring Ukraine and Baltics, 2005). Nevertheless, in the policy as well as in the popular discourse, a distinction between migration processes (e.g. irregular migration processes such as smuggling) and trafficking (a criminal process of trade) is missing and therefore figures may be highly overestimated and related discursive themes on these highly distinct matters have started to get interchanged and misleadingly intertwined.

⁶⁵ "In 1998, the Ukrainian Ministry of Interior estimated that 400,000 or more Ukrainian women were trafficked during the previous decade" (Düvell, 2007: 3).

At policy level, the scope of emigration developed into a political dispute, in which emigrants become subjects of the games played by competing political forces (Bilan et al. 2010). The parliamentarian opposition usually refers to high numbers of emigration since higher numbers are used as a discursive tool to accuse the government of being incapable of creating appropriate social and labour policies. Therefore, it is argued, people leave the country and Ukraine might 'lose' valuable human capital or 'members of their own kind'. On the other hand, government circles behave reluctant when it comes to measures that address the reduction of emigration figures. Instead, the government aims for advocating and supporting 'ordinary' Ukrainians who wish to stay in Ukraine and have no aspiration of leaving Ukraine.

Scholars and policy makers likewise refer to a capital or 'human loss' fearing that Ukraine is 'losing' their people⁶⁶. Effects such as brain drain or emigration of highly-skilled Ukrainians can have ambivalent economic effects⁶⁷, however, discursive artefacts among members of the public rather confirm the element of 'human losses'. In the popular discourse this act of 'leaving the mother country behind', was occasionally associated with 'dissidents'. For instance, in an open letter by a priest from the Lviv region to the Ukrainian President in 2003 pointed to Leonid Danylovych's and his government's fault of "sending away millions of our citizens, representatives of our intelligent-sia, into strange lands".⁶⁸ In line with this narrative, Sabuschko (2007) argued that first the Ukrainian intelligentsia was keeping alive the Ukrainian culture as European culture for which they were send to prisons and gulags at the time, and nowadays the Ukrainian intelligentsia tends to leave its own country behind.

A more general policy approach is taken by the Ukrainian Parliament Commissioner for Human Rights (UPCHR) (2004) which, in collaboration with Ukrainian consular posts highlights the negative experiences of Ukrainians abroad. In this context the related theme of protection of rights of Ukrainians abroad is brought into play.⁶⁹ In contrast, further discursive evidences found in popular discourses point to a different picture of emigration – introducing an ambiguous aspect into the discursive theme of emigration. Emigration does not only appear as a 'human loss' or 'act of dissidents' but was also described as investments in the future or as an inevitable sacrifice that one can do for others such as family members. In contemporary migration cultures and narratives of migration Emigration can stand for a 'heroic act' as found in the case of Filipino (Rafael, 1997; Tyner, 1997) or Indonesian migrants (Robinson, 2000). In the case of Ukraine, ethnographic fieldwork in

⁶⁶ These 'depopulation processes' are also discussed in the context of abandoned residential property (apartments in the cities and houses in small towns and villages). This emerging development can be observed in some smaller towns such as cities in Donetsk and Dnipropetrovsk oblasts (Pylynskyi, 2008a)

⁶⁷ Not only negative effects of having lost social capital to other countries, but also encouragement for non-migrants to fill such positions of highly-skilled emigrants, which reduces negative economic effects, were found by Lundborg and Rechea (2002).

⁶⁸ Mykhaylo Nyskohuz, Open letter to the President of Ukraine, 15/03/2003 in Keryk (2004: 2).

⁶⁹ For this reason, the Ukrainian Ministry of Foreign Affairs initiated first steps to guarantee mechanism in the area of foreign employment and social security including a treaty for creation and free trade zone between Ukraine and EU as well as new regulations for the movements of employees (Official letter of the Ministry for Foreign Affairs of Ukraine No. 71/BKB/36-194/503-60046 from 23/07/2008 to the International Centre's for Policy Studies inquiry (see IPP et al. 2008)).

western Ukraine also found this heroic element in migration cultures. "I realised I had to go; I had to go for my family"⁷⁰ as an interviewee confessed while another interviewee proudly stated: "Some people are just afraid, but I have put a lot of efforts of learning other languages so I could make my life in Germany […], so one day I will live in Spain or Italy and I will have a good life there".⁷¹

The three main elements briefly illustrated in this section demonstrated the ambiguous nature of the theme of emigration in the Ukrainian discourses. Although emigration can contribute to the economic welfare of emigrants and their families who can be seen as the 'saviours' or 'heroes' in critical times, discursive elements with negative connotations were found. At policy level these negative aspect are endorsed by the 'dangers' that migration can potentially bear (i.e. trafficking) and in the popular discourse emigrants are swiftly portrayed as 'dissidents' or 'traitors', people who leave their country and their culture behind.

Immigration, Identity, Security

Immigration and repatriation has an impact of the composition of population. Pylynskyi (2008a) points to the changing ethnic structure in Ukraine. This has a certain impact on politics or 'ethnopolitics', which are heatedly debated issues and have discursive effects. Malynovska (2003) argued that these effects have prevented active support for the repatriation of ethnic Ukrainians (Malynovska, 2003). The Ukrainian state missed to reinforce policy-making on ethnic Ukrainians who resided outside Ukraine and wished to return to Ukraine. A large number of Ukrainians residing in Transcaucasia and Central Asia immigrated into the Russian Federation instead of returning to their 'home country'.

A survey was conducted with Kyivan citizens and experts which demonstrated that people are not concerned by the arrival of immigrants from Asia, Africa, and the Middle East (Braichevska et al. 2004). The overwhelming majority of respondents did not refer to immigrants as 'competitors on the labour market'. The few respondents who had a negative attitude indicated an optimistic future, i.e. relations between Ukrainian citizens and immigrants may improve over time. However, Malynovska (2004) pointed to public fears of uncontrolled influx of foreigners entangled with Ukrainian nation-building and identity formation. The role of the 'ethnic core' is a theme in popular discourse, which addresses the formation of Ukrainian statehood and its ambivalent debate on Ukraine as a multi-ethnic and multi-lingual country opposed by the question of a homogenous 'one nation-state'. Stability and integrity are two features of statehood that seem to have highest stands in popular discourses and immigrantion may pose a danger to these two desires. A survey conducted by the Institute for Demography and Social Studies and the Kennan Institute addressed students in Kyiv on their attitude towards immigrants from developing countries. 35.4 percent of respondents said 'No, Ukraine has to be the country for Ukrainians' and 19.3 percent of respondents thought that

⁷⁰ Informal conversation 1, Zbarazh in Ternopilska oblast.

⁷¹ Informal conversation 2, Lviv.

government policies should stimulate immigration only for ethnic groups that are 'traditionally' living in Ukraine (Pylynskyi, 2008b).

Malynovska (2004) described popular themes of 'threats' and of 'invasions of foreigners', which are recurrently used by the Ukrainian media. Many journalists draw on their own alarming prognoses and refer to "uncontrolled migration is a threat to the national security of Ukraine".⁷² Nikolayenko (undated) found in her study that the Ukrainian media focuses on negative aspects of immigration such as the direct relation between immigrants and crime, 'imported' diseases as well as drug use.⁷³ Unfounded claims in popular discourses on epidemic diseases among migrants and the fear of its spread to the 'Ukrainian population' can be found. Ukraine's HIV/AIDS infection rate is one of the highest amongst non-African countries (CIA, 2005) and such facts give rise to discussion.

A further element of security can be also found in the popular discourses: a growing Muslim population is getting associated with policy strategies of counter terrorism (Popson, 2004).⁷⁴ Xenophobic movements appear to be an increasing element in the public sphere. Skinheads and racist groups are marginal in Ukraine but racist violence is increasingly condoned by parts of society (Pylynskyi 2008a).⁷⁵

Some media sources focus on prophesising future threats that the Ukrainian society may have to face.⁷⁶ Direct relations to situations and incidences in the EU are constructed as to exemplify these potential future threats induced by immigrants (e.g. Paris and its suburban riots). Ukrainian media coverage by and large ambiguously simplifies migration processes. For instance, a series of sensationalistic articles in *Ukrainskyi tyzhden* (Ukrainian week)⁷⁷ on migrants' journey through Ukraine to western Europe mainly drawing attention to border guards and national security services perspective. Realistic coverage is additionally hampered by foci that address the conflict-loaded relationship among government departments as regards issues of migration (Pylynskyi 2008a). Popson (2004) referred to the media coverage as 'sensationalistic news stories', which mainly report on irregular migration, crime, and drug/human trafficking. Irregular migration and associated

⁷² Novinar, May 2008.

⁷³ The issue of a potential 'soft security threat' as generally discussed by Ullman (1983) and for the case of Russia by Tsiulina (2008), also influence public discourses on xenophobic behaviour in Ukraine. Nevertheless, an element for national security threat as Tsiulina (2008) has argued, goes far beyond the scope in the case of Ukraine.

⁷⁴ For the case of Ukraine, securitization processes were identified and critically reviewed by Zhyznomirska (2006). Similar to the discussions in the past, Zhyznomirska (2006) pointed to the dangers of demonising and stigmatising social groups. The discursive construction of such threats and stigmatisation of migrants as 'criminals', 'bogus refugees' and 'intruders' has been discussed in academia in the framework of the theory of securitization of migration (Buzan, 1992; Waever et al. 1993; Bigo, 2005) and applied to certain country contexts such as Germany (e.g. Vollmer, 2008) and France (e.g. Freedman, 2004).

⁷⁵ Amnesty International (2008), Ukraine Government must act to stop racial discrimination, London: Amnesty International, http://www.amnesty.org.uk/uploads/documents/doc_18550.pdf, accessed 11/05/2010.

⁷⁶ The media discourse in Ukraine represents a comparatively similar bottom line as it can be found in EU Members States: demonising immigration, sending out messages of alarming 'foreign threats' and negatively exacerbating migration related issues (Vollmer, 2009).

⁷⁷ Ukrainskyi tyzhden (Ukrainian week), 27/06/2008 - 03/07/2008.

process are generally overrepresented in the media (e.g. The Ukrainian Observer; News Agency Prima; Kyiv Post).

In Zakarpattyia oblast as well as western Ukraine, frequently, local media reproduces border guard reports that demonstrate success in enforcement matters. Apprehension figures recurrently underline effective border operations in order to demonstrate the authorities' control over migration affairs (Düvell and Vollmer, 2009). Journalists refer to grossly exaggerated figures of irregular migrants in the country which has led to article titles such 'Is Kyiv a paradise for illegal migrants?'⁷⁸ including recommendations such as "cleaning the markets in Shuliavka [Kyiv] with fire" or accusing migrants from Eastern Asian countries to be criminals.

This convoluted discursive theme fleshed out by elements of immigration, identity and security has demonstrated the interrelations between migration and ethno-politics, migration and security on the one hand, and on the other it showed how 'new' or 'young' these elements are in the discourses: sometimes radical statements can be found in discursive evidences; discourses appear to be immature.

EU – Ukraine Relations

Tense relations are at stake between the EU and Ukraine. Some discursive elements as regards migration related topics can be summarised.

The first element involves the asymmetric relationship between visa requirements for travelling into the EU for Ukrainian citizens and the absence of visa requirements for EU citizens travelling to Ukraine. Oversimplified, the former stands for a closed club and some people with appropriate documentation are allowed into the club while the latter is an open door. From a policy perspective, restrictive visa regulation may result in reverse effects (i.e. an increase of irregular migration) as it was discussed by Shakhno and Pool (2005). However, in a public arena the matter of unfairness is the predominating element in this discursive theme.

Although some 'friendly' signals were launched by EU administration, Ukraine's next steps will be rather directed towards its internal socio-economic problems and integration of a functional economic cooperation with its western as well as eastern periphery. Efforts can be anticipated towards positioning Ukraine and its supporting geopolitical stability and security in the region, also in the view of having a status of a major eastern transport and energy transit country for Europe (Vlasyuk et al. 2005).

Secondly, ongoing Ukrainian-Russian relations play a decisive role in EU-Ukraine politics. After the breakdown of the Soviet Union, a tense relationship has developed between Ukraine and Russia

⁷⁸ Dzerkalo Tyzhnia (Mirror of the week), 13/06/2008.

(Soskin, 2003). Some political issues arose in more recent years as regards foreign affairs. The aftermath of the August 2008 Russia-Georgia conflict, Kyiv had to deal with increasingly assertive signals from Russian foreign policy. Reading such signals a bit more carefully, the Kremlin occasionally expresses its unhappiness with Kyiv's endeavours towards the EU (Pifer et al. 2009). The issues of Ukraine's geopolitical orientation, the Black Sea Fleet, Sevastopol as well as Crimea were and will be in future a 'hot iron' in the domain of Ukrainian-Russian relations. In turn, due to the role of Russia and the 'cultural divide' in Ukraine, these international or foreign affairs can have implications on the inner political spheres or can become 'internal' matters as such. In fact, these issues have the political dynamite to trigger an internal political crisis, let alone a foreign political crisis with Russia as well as the EU.

The newly elected government of President Yanukovych, however, after reassuring the relevance of good EU-Ukraine relations is nevertheless considered rather pro-Russian which will change the geopolitical role of Ukraine.
Background on Research Areas

Kharkivska Oblast and the Research Area Novovodolaz'ka

Geography: Climate, Agro-Ecological Conditions

Kharkivska oblast is located in north-east Ukraine. There are two climate zones: the forest in the central, northern and western areas and the plains in the southern and eastern areas. The north and northeast of Kharkivska oblast shares borders with the Belgorodskaya oblast of the Russian Federation. The territory of the region is 31.4 thousands sq. km that accounts for 5.2 percent of the territory of Ukraine. High-yield black soil and favourable climate conditions allow the region to produce commodity grain, the most important industrial crop, as well as to run oleiculture and gardening.

Demography

The population of Kharkivska oblast, estimated on the 1st January 2010, was 2.769.100 (2.214.100 urban population and 555.000 rural population). In 2009 the population decreased by 13.333 people which is due to demographic changes and migration processes as demonstrated below.⁷⁹ In 1995-2010 this linear decrease was observed across almost all districts of Kharkivska oblast and amounted to 340.900 people (Figure 25).

The region is characterized by high population density: 93 persons per sq. km.⁸⁰ The most densely populated suburban rayons of the oblast are: Kharkivskyy (133 persons per sq. km), Dergachivskyy (110 person per sq. km). The lowest population density is in Bliznyukivskyy (19 person per sq. km) and Dvurechanskyy (20 person per sq. km) rayons. In 2010 the urban population made up 79.71 percent and the rural population 20.29 percent of (see Table 18)⁸¹.

The negative population growth is a typical feature of the Kharkivska oblast as well as of Ukraine as a whole. Despite the fact that there was a positive trend in increasing fertility rates in the region, the mortality rate exceeded this rate.

The age structure of the oblasts has also changed; the population is becoming increasingly older. The share of the population older than working age in Kharkivska oblast was 24.5 percent in 2008 (see also table 20 in annex).

⁷⁹ Main Department of Statistics in Kharkivska oblast: http://www.kharkivoda.gov.ua, accessed 4/5/2010

⁸⁰ Ukrainian National Census 2001, http://www.ukrcensus.gov.ua/, accessed 4/05/2010.

⁸¹ Main Department of Statistics in Kharkivska oblast, http://www.kharkivoda.gov.ua, accessed 4/05/2010.

Education

There are 70 institutions of higher education operating in Kharkivska oblast.⁸² At the beginning of the academic year 2009/10, 267.500 students were enrolled in the universities which was 5.6 percent less than in the previous academic year. In comparison with the data of 2008, the share of the full-time students decreased by 3.6 percent.

The total share of the female student population was 52.2 percent, in the universities of the I-II levels of accreditation (44 percent) and in universities of III-IV levels of accreditation (52.9 percent)⁸³. Notably, Kharkivska oblast has the second highest number of students (after Kyiv) in Ukraine.

On February 2010, 12.004 foreign students representing 41.8 percent of the total foreign population in the oblast obtained higher education degrees in Kharkiv. Of these, the highest numbers of the students were from Turkmenistan, China, Vietnam, Russia, Jordan, Morocco, Iraq, Syria, Lebanon and India.

The demand for high-skilled labour decreased in the past few years in Ukraine, but particularly in Kharkivska oblast. Almost 50 percent of graduates are unable to find jobs in the profession they were trained for. Instead, the labour market demands more machine operators, construction workers etc. Paradoxically, the number of vocational schools that train such specialties (machine operators, construction workers) is decreasing annually (Figure 27). In contrast, vacancies for accountants, economists and traders are rare.

Economic/Industrial Structure

Kharkivska oblast is one of the economic leading oblasts in Ukraine. In 2008, the Gross Regional Product⁸⁴ (GRP, in current prices) of Kharkivska oblast was 59.389 million UAH, which has increased by 2.1 percent in the period 2007-2008 (just below the Ukrainian average of 2.3 percent) (Table 21). In 2008 its share of the GDP of Ukraine was 6.3 percent. After, Kyivska (17.9 percent), Donetska (12.4 percent) and Dnipropetrovska oblasts (11.0 percent), it has the 4th highest GRP.⁸⁵

The index of the industrial production in January-March 2010 in comparison with the corresponding period of the previous year was 113.1 percent (national index: 110.8 percent). The production of the mining industry decreased by 1.1 percent; natural gas production increased by 0.7 percent; the output in the processing industry increased by 1.7 percent; the iron and steel industry grew by 9.2 percent.

⁸² Main Department of Statistics in Kharkivska oblast, http://www.kharkivoda.gov.ua, accessed 4/5/2010

⁸³ Network and activity of the higher education institutions at the beginning of 2009/10 academic year / Department of Statistics in the Kharkivska oblast, published on the 25.11.2009 № 423 ⁸⁴ Records of Gross Regional Product (GRP) only started in 2004 in Ukraine. Before 2004 value added price was used

as main economic indicator.

⁸⁵ Main Department of Statistics in Kharkivska oblast, http://uprstat.kharkov.ukrtel.net, accessed 5/5/2010

In January-February 2010 average monthly nominal wages in Kharkivska oblast was 1.799 UAH, 2.4 times higher than the standardized minimum wage (744 UAH). However, the nominal income in the region was 6.9 percent or 134 UAH less than the average nominal income in Ukraine. A positive trend of growing income levels for the period 2002-2008 can be observed in Kharkivska (Table 22). Nominal average wages have increased in Kharkivska oblast, but in 2009 it decreased by 26.9 percent and real wages by 13.7 percent in comparison with 2008 (Table 23).

In 2008/2009 the labour market of Kharkivska fell into a depression (Figure 28); the demand for workers slumped by 7 percent. In 2009, the unemployment rates for the working age population (ILO methodology) increased by 43.3 percent (105.5 thousand persons); the unemployment rate grow to 8.4 percent. Unemployment remains a major problem among young people. One third of the unemployed population is under the age of 35 and 30.4 percent are rural residents.

Social Issues: Corruption, Crime, Drugs

A large-scale survey addressing the issue of corruption in Ukraine resulted that the two oblasts of Donetska and Kharkivska lead the Ukrainian corruption index.⁸⁶

Drug addiction remains one of the harmful social diseases in Ukraine, also in the Kharkivska oblast (Figure 29).⁸⁷ Kharkivska oblast became not only a transit point for drugs, but also a market place for drugs (Sobolev and Serdyuk, 2000).

An increase in juvenile crime is a serious problem for major Ukrainian cities including Kharkiv. In 2009, the number of crime has increased in the city of Kharkiv: 2 murders, 17 robberies, 57 burglaries, 30 crimes related to illegal seizure of vehicles.

Ethnicity

Russians are the largest ethnic minority in the Kharkivska oblast. Their number declined in 2001 by 7.6 percent compared to 1989. The proportion of all other ethnic groups in Kharkivska oblast can be drawn for the table below (Table 24).

The Ukrainian language was considered as the native language for the 53.8 percent of the population and Russian by 44.3 percent, which is respectively 3.3 percent more and 3.8 percent less than in 1989.⁸⁸

⁸⁶ Nationwide survey data, http://www.radiosvoboda.org/content/article/1761261.html, accessed 5/5/2010.

⁸⁷ UN: crisis causes the growth of drug abuse in Ukraine, http://tsn.ua/ukrayina/oon-kriza-sprichinit-v-ukrayini-ristnarkomaniyi.html, accessed 5/5/2010. ⁸⁸ Ukrainian National Census 1989, http://www.ukrcensus.gov.ua/, accessed 4/5/2010.

Migration

Kharkivska oblast's proximity to the Russian Federation and its historical, social and economic peculiarities determine the scope, reasons and the structure of emigration patterns. Also the geographic and transport conditions of the oblast facilitate regional migration. Kharkivska oblast is selected as a region with a high level of emigration; indeed, in 2009 the oblast ranked next to Donetska oblast as the oblast with the second highest level of emigration in Ukraine. According to official data the total number of emigrants from the Kharkivska oblast was 1967 (2009).

The Russian Federation is the main destination for emigrants from Kharkivska oblast. These emigrants can easily and legally travel to Russia thanks to a visa-free policy. However, most of these migrants work illegally, i.e. without the required permit. Most of migrants are men who work predominantly in construction, especially in and around Moscow and other industrial centres. In other words most of the migratory movements in and out of Kharkivska oblast is not recorded and therefore not reflected in the official statistics.

High level of unemployment and comparatively low living standards (including economic, ecological and social factors) led to emigration and subsequent family issues. Family members following the emigration path in order to be reunified with their family members abroad is a highly significant reason for emigration in Kharkivska oblast (accounting for 77 percent) (Figure 30).

For the period 2000-2005, 11 percent of emigrants left the country for better education aboard; labour emigration is likewise about 11 percent; 1 percent of the recorded departures are children of emigrants who were left behind in the country and decided to go and leave the country on their own. Other undefined reasons accounts for less than 1 percent.

Discursive Elements - Emigration to the East as a 'Survival Strategy' and Growing Xenophobic Landscapes

Firstly, labour migration plays a dominant role in Kharkiv oblast. A steady growth in the number of households opting for this strategy of survival, i.e. by temporarily leaving the country for seeking work abroad can be increasingly observed⁸⁹ and is likewise represented in popular discourses. According to a survey conducted in 2006, 32 percent of respondents in Kharkiv oblast with varying degrees of certainty expressed their desire to work abroad (Kazilov, 2006). Most households of Kharkiv oblast are oriented toward Russia. Inhabitants of Kharkiv oblast tend to express an affinity to Russian culture, they speak Russian and feel comfortable with the Russian way of life and mentality and thus seem to prefer the Russian Federation over Europe in their choice of migration destination countries.

Secondly, the Ukrainian media and several NGOs reported about protests against irregular migrants and foreign students in Kharkiv, Ternopil, Chernivtsi, and Chernihiv.⁹⁰ In 2009, a Kharkiv based but national association "Svodoba" organized a demonstration in Kharkiv against irregular migration.⁹¹ The demonstrators demanded to abolish the readmission agreement regarding deportation of third-country irregular migrants from EU member state to Ukraine.

Research Area - Novovodolaz'ka Rayon

Novovodolaz'ka is a rayon (administrative unit of an oblast) situated in the west of the Kharkivska Oblast. Nova Vodolaga is the administrative center of the Novovodolaz'ka rayon, 45 km away from Kharkiv. The current population of Nova Vodolaga is 13,000. The distribution of urban and rural population as well as the size of the research area of Novovodolaz'ka can be drawn from table 26.

According to the data of the Oblast State Archive, Novovodolaz'k rayon was created in 1923 by order of the Presidium of the Ukrainian Central Executive Committee and the present boundaries established on 4th of January 1965 by the decree of the Presidium of the Supreme Council of Ukraine.⁹² The administrative center of the rayon is Nova Vodolaga, an urban-type settlement was founded in 1675. The structure Novovodolaz'sk rayon includes 2 townships, 13 rural councils and 56 settlements.

Novovodolaz'sk has 21 programs of development of industries, agriculture, medicine, education, culture, sports and social work over the years. Today, Novovodolaz'k rayon provides higher education at the Lipkovatovsk Agricultural College and the Rokitnensk Vocational Technical School; the rayon has 32 schools, 15 preschools, 31 libraries and 30 cultural institutions, including 'Regional Center of Social Services for Youth', 'Children's Art School', 'Vatutinsk Music School', 'House of Children and Youth Art', 'Children and Youth Sport School'. Likewise, a Central Rayon Hospital was built, 4 district hospitals, 4 ambulant clinics, 27 obstetric units.

The rayon's industry is dominated by 2 large enterprises which are the Novovodolaz'sk dairy and Novoselivs'k Mining and Processing Plant. The agricultural industry consists of 28 agricultural enterprises, 48 farms, a number of small subsistence farms, as well as larger companies such as Agrobiznes-NV, Agroservis, Agrokhimiya. Main products of the rayon are grain, meat and milk.

⁹⁰ 2008 Human Rights Reports: Ukraine, http://www.state.gov/g/drl/rls/hrrpt/2008/eur/119110.htm, accessed 18/07/2010.

 ⁹¹ See http://www.objectiv.tv/091209/34826.html accessed 26/07/2010.
⁹² See http://www.vodolaga.com.ua/day.html#fakt, accessed 19/07/2010.

Kyiv City and the Research Area Solomyansky Rayon

Geography: Climate, Agro-Ecological Conditions

Kyiv is the capital and the largest city of Ukraine, located in the north central part of the country and on both sides of the Dnieper River which flows north to south through the city towards the Black Sea. It is surrounded by forests and plains Kyiv's climate is continental humid, although it has changed significantly during recent decades due to global climate changes.

Demography

Kyiv attracts people from many other regions in Ukraine. According to official data, the capital of Ukraine is one of the few regions where population size is constantly growing (Figure 31).

Since the beginning of the new millennium, its population size has been growing by 15-18.000 persons per year. This rise is not only determined by high employment levels and high salary rates in Kyiv, but also by the high fertility rates among migrant groups. With reference to official statistics, on 1 January 2010 the number of Kyiv population was 2.785.100. During the period of January-December 2009 it increased by 19.600 persons.⁹³ The natural growth was 4.196 persons (or 1,5 per 1.000 persons) and the increase due to immigration growth was 15.404 persons (or 5,6 per 1.000 persons) (see for more details table 27). A population increase was recorded in all districts of the city except Shevchenkyvsky. The highest populated districts are Desnyanskyy (339.000) and Dniprovskyy (330.400) and thee least populated district is Pecherskyy (129.900.). The highest density can be found in Shevchenkivskyy district (8.780 per 1 square km) and the lowest in Holosiyivskyy district (1.310 per 1 square km).

The actual size of the population of Kyiv is problematic, and the official number provided by the State Statistic Committee of Ukraine does not reflect the actual number of people living in Kyiv. Pozniak (2009) argued that the actual number of population in Kyiv is about 3.144.300, which is 420.000 more than the number provided by government statistics. Different methods of estimating the number of actual population were applied. In the study conducted by the Institute of Demography and Social Research variables such as the consumption of salt, rate of general consumption, census of immigrants, as well as further data sets of the State Statistic Committee were integrated into the estimate.⁹⁴ It is mostly internal migration (for study and work) in Ukraine that contributes to Kyiv's constant population growth. According to the Ministry of Education, 983 foreigners studied in Kyiv⁹⁵. In 2008, research found that only 54 percent of migrants possess the required permission

⁹³ State Statistic Committee of Ukraine, www.ukrstat.gov.ua, accessed 19/04/2010.

⁹⁴ Notably, students are not considered as 'migrants'. They are not included in the statistics under the category of migrants while they are considered in the population census.

⁹⁵ Korrespondent. Ministry of Education calculated the number of foreign students in Ukraine. У Міністерстві Освіти України назвали кількість іноземних студентів, http://ua.korrespondent.net/ukraine/1046167, accessed 19/04/2010.

for permanent residence and 46 percent have a temporary work permit.⁹⁶ Thus, the immigration situation in the capital continues to be complex and hardly controlled by the authorities. Significant gaps of knowledge, especially between official data on migration and the actual the situation on the ground remains unsolved.

The death rate in Kyiv is 15-30 percent higher than the birth rate depending on the season of the year and district. As a rule of thumb, in the districts which are inhabited by young people (Troy-eshchyna, Obolon', Kharkivsky districts), the birth rate is higher than in the districts located in central Kyiv and districts inhabited by older people (e.g. Pechersk or Podil districts).

One of the most striking effects of the economic crises is the decreasing birth rate. In the 1990s and at the beginning of the 21st century, negative demographic trends developed in Kyiv: the total birth coefficient had decreased from 12.0 (newborn per 1.000 persons) in 1990 to 10.9 in 2010.⁹⁷ The economic crisis demonstrated its effects and demographers forecast an ongoing drastic decrease in the upcoming five years. Some demographers estimate a decrease of 50 percent. The crises in the 1990s as well as the most recent one not only affected the birth rate but also the death rate. The death coefficient has been increasing from 8.7 in 1990 to 10.6 per 1.000persons in 2010. Especially in the past few years the death rate has been increasing.

Furthermore, the population in Kyiv is ageing. The population of young people is declining and the population group of older than working age is increasing. Between 1995 and 2009 the share of children aged 0-14 decreased by 33 percent, while the share of people of retirement age (65 and over) increased by 34 percent (Table 28). This ageing process is expected to continue.

Economic/Industrial Structure

The Gross Regional Product (GRP) in Kyiv is the highest in Ukraine and has dynamically grown in the past few years (Table 29). The export volume as well as the import volume in 2008/2009 has however declined (by 21.2 per and 26.5 percent respectively).

From January 2009 to January 2010 manufacturing declined significantly (non-metal production: 46.4 percent; car-building: 21.1 percent; metallurgy and metal products manufacturing: 15.1 percent; food manufacturing, drinks and tobacco products: 12 percent. Industrial growth could be found in wood industry, chemical products and energy supply.

As of January 2010 the wage level of Kyiv inhabitants was still the highest among all regions of Ukraine. It is 1,6 times higher than the average figure. In January 2010, nominal wage of staff in

⁹⁶ Report ' About work of Coordination Union on regulation of migration processes in Kyiv' (2008) (in ukr) Звіт про роботу Координаційної ради по регулюванню міграційних процесів у м. Києві за 2008 рік,

http://www.kmv.gov.ua/divinfo.asp?Id=211940, accessed 19/04/2010.

⁹⁷ Give birth rate in the capital: Demographic gap is foreseen till 2020,

http://www.newsru.ua/ukraine/03feb2010/babies.html, accessed 02/05/2010.

small-sized enterprises (10 or less employees) was 2.969 UAH per month in comparison with the average nominal wage of 1.916 UAH in the country (in Donetsk oblast 2183 UAH, Dnipropetrovsk oblast 2.023 UAH, Luhansk 1.963 UAH, Zaporizhzhya 1.846 UAH, Kharkiv 1.757 UAH)⁹⁸. The average wage paid by large-scale enterprises (more than 10 employees) was 3.684 UAH. Kyivan districts with the highest level of wage were: Pechersky (4.400 UAH), Shevchenkivsky (4.387 UAH) and Holosiyivsky (3.931 UAH), respectively 19.4 percent, 19.1 percent and 6.7 percent higher than the average Ukrainian wage. A permanent growth of wages in Kyiv can be observed for the period 1995-2009 (Table 30, Figure 32).

The rate of unemployment is the lowest in the country. It is 0.4 percent, which is 4.8 times less than an average rate (1.9 percent), and 1.4 times less than the unemployment level given by International Labour Organization (Kyiv: 6.2 percent; Ukraine: 8.6 percent – see above for further details).⁹⁹ Among the unemployed 15.6 percent are workers, 82.5 percent are civil servants, and 1.9 percent had no previous professional qualifications.

Numbers of unemployed in 2000-2009 calculated by International Labour Organization are shown in figure 33 (further indicators of the labour market (annual data from 2000 to 2009) are shown in the Table 31).

Despite the economic crisis, wages continued to increase and the level of employment is likewise improving. Not only in Kyiv but in all regions in Ukraine the unemployment rates have steadily decreased between 2000-2008.

Education

The 2001 National Census indicated the trend of an overall improving educational level of the population, i.e. number of persons with higher education is growing (for Kyiv see Table 32 and Table 33). At the same time there is a decline in the number of educational institutions teaching practice and techniques orientated studies (such as metal-works and construction) in Kyiv: a drop from 48 in 1995 to 31 in 2009. Consequently, a constantly declining number of such students graduating in these studies can be observed between 1990-2009 (see Table 34). However, surplus of highly skilled workers (higher education level) and a shortage of special-trained workers can be found on the labour market in Kyiv and nationwide.

 ⁹⁸ There is a smallest level of unemployment in Kyiv, http://jeynews.com.ua/news/d0/41994, accessed 2/05/2010.
⁹⁹ Ibid.

Social Issues: Corruption, Crime, Drugs

According to the data of Ukrainian social service for family, children and the youth, every tenth Ukrainian drug addict lives in Kyiv.¹⁰⁰ In 2009, the number of officially registered criminal incidences was 34.944 crimes in Kyiv only. This number has increased by 9,300; (36.6 percent) for the same period of the previous year. Thefts have drastically increased, from 2008-2009 by 77.7 percent; offences against property increased by 73.1 percent.¹⁰¹

Ethnicity

Kyiv is a diverse and multi-ethnic city by which it differentiates itself from most Ukrainian cities (Table 35). According to the National Census, representatives of over 130 ethnic groups live in the territory of the city.¹⁰²

Migration

The population in Kyiv is mainly growing due to internal migration processes (91.7 percent), i.e. migration from various regions within Ukraine to Kyiv city (Table 36) and to a much lesser extent due to international immigration processes (8.3 percent).

Discursive Elements – Unsafe Environment

The European Commission as well as NGOs have noted increasing racial hatred and xenophobia in Ukraine and especially in Kyiv¹⁰³. A study of Amnesty International in Ukraine reflects the growing number of attacks against people on racial, ethnic or religious grounds, which caused concern.¹⁰⁴ The nature of the attacks ranges from verbal abuse to serious physical harm and even murder. In addition, any person who does not look like the average Ukrainian is subject to police harassment (e.g. constant inspections of documents). Increasing number of attacks creates an atmosphere of fear and uncertainty, especially among asylum seekers and refugees. Amnesty International expressed its concern towards inadequate reaction of the Ukrainian authorities.

¹⁰⁰ Every tenth Ukrainian drug taker lives in Kyiv, 16 May 2008,

¹⁰³ U.S. Bureau of Democracy, Human Rights, and Labor (2009), 2008 Human Rights Reports: Ukraine,

http://www.state.gov/g/drl/rls/hrrpt/2008/eur/119110.htm accessed 18/07/2010.

http://www.xenodocuments.org.ua/files/library/amnesty/ai_ukraineracism_UKR-1.doc, accessed 26/07/2010.

^{2/05/2010}http://jeynews.com.ua/news/d0/41994http://www.narcolog.com.ua/drug/prevalence/kozhen_desjati_325.html, accessed 2/2/2010.

¹⁰¹ Criminal situation in Kyiv, http://militia.kiev.ua/index.php?option=com_content&task=view&id=1060, accessed 4/5/2010.

¹⁰² State Statistics Committee, http://www.ukrcensus.gov.ua/results/general/nationality/city_kyiv/, accessed 3/5/2010.

¹⁰⁴ Ukraine: The government should take measures to eliminate racial discrimination,

Another study found that during 2007-2008 there were 15 attacks on foreign students, one was even killed and concluded that the educational environment is unsafe for foreign students.¹⁰⁵ In addition, foreign students often complain about inadequate information about tuition costs in Ukraine.¹⁰⁶ According to the data of a non-governmental organization called African Centre and East European Development Institute, it was pointed out that students gradually find out about the true price for studying at universities in Ukraine and usually this price is higher than expected. Irregular migrants often face higher fees due to threats of denunciation.

Research Area – Solomyansky Rayon of Kyiv

Solomyansky rayon of Kyiv was founded in 2001 (formerly Zaliznycznyj and Zovtnevyj rayons). It is located in the south-western part of city. There are 331 streets and alleys in the district of a length of 215 kilometers.¹⁰⁷ With its two railway stations (Kyiv-pasazhyrskij and Kyiv-tovarnyj, i.e. Central and South) and the smaller of the two international airports (Zhuliany) the rayon is considered to be an important gate of the capital of Ukraine.

General characteristics of the population, labour resources and migration flows in Solomjanska research area are summarised in table 37.

Kirovogradska Oblast and the Research Area Znamyanska Rayon

Geography: Climate, Agro-Ecological Conditions

Kirovogradska oblast is located in northeastern Ukraine on the boundary of the forest-steppe and the climate is mild continental. The land area is 24.6 thousand sq. km, representing 4.1 percent of the territory of Ukraine.

The oblast is rich in natural resources: there are over 340 mineral deposits of which 85 deposits are used: brown coal, non-ore and ore raw materials (iron, nickel), raw material for nuclear energy (uranium). New gold, platinum, diamonds and chrome deposits were discovered in the last decades.

Demography

On the 1st of March 2010, the population of Kirovogradska oblast was 1.016.500 people (2.2 percent of Ukraine's population), of which 61.7 percent are urban and 38.3 percent rural residents. During January-February 2010 the population decreased by 1.281 persons (7.8 persons per 1.000

¹⁰⁵ U.S. Bureau of Democracy, Human Rights, and Labor (2009), 2008 Human Rights Reports: Ukraine, http://www.state.gov/g/drl/rls/hrrpt/2008/eur/119110.htm accessed 18/07/2010.

¹⁰⁶ Ukraine as a trap for African student, http://cripo.com.ua/print.php?sect_id=4&aid=80339, accessed 26/07/2010.

¹⁰⁷ Official web-site Solomyansky rayon administration and council in Kyiv, http:// www.solor.da-kyiv.gov.ua accessed 15/07/2010.

inhabitants), 422 persons (4.1 persons per 1.000 inhabitants) from urban areas and 859 persons (13.6 persons per 1.000 inhabitants) from rural areas. Reasons for this decrease are mainly demographic developments while migration process played a minimal role¹⁰⁸ (Table 38).

During the period of market reforms (1990-2008) the decrease of population was 10-fold in comparison to the previous 50 years in Kirovogradska oblast (Figure 34). A deteriorating health system, the long-term economic crisis of the 1990s, a rapid increase in mortality but decrease in fertility rates contributed to this development (Semykina, 2009).

The population in rural areas has decreased particularly rapidly. The reasons for this are social and economic living conditions, ill-developed social infrastructure and limited access to medical treatment. Kirovogradska oblast is characterized by average population density; negative population growth (Table 39); the rate of outmigration from the oblast is very low; internal migration patterns in Kirovograd can be derived from the changes of population numbers.

The tables show that there was a rapid fertility decline in Kirovogradska oblast between 1991 and 2001 (Figure 35). Economic growth seemed to have a direct positive impact on fertility rates as the period from 2002 to 2009 demonstrates.

Deteriorating health conditions of the population in the Kirovogradska oblast resulted in increased mortality rates. Between 1991-2006 the population mortality increased by 18 percent, from 2006 to 2007 it was the top rate in Ukraine. Notably, the group of working age population has the fastest growing mortality rate in Kirovogradska oblast. During 1991-2007 mortality rate of persons aged 20-29 increased by 41 percent, aged 30-39 by 50 percent, aged 40-49 by 30 percent and aged 50-59 by 20 percent (Table 40) (Semykina, 2009).

Economic/Industrial Structure

Kirovogradska oblast contributes to the overall Ukrainian economy by: industrial production (1.0 percent); agriculture (3.6 percent), crop production (4.3 percent), livestock (2.5 percent). The Gross Regional Product (GRP) as an indicator of macroeconomic trends amounted to 13.961 million UAH (at current prices) in 2008, which stand for an increase of 13.7 percent in comparison to the previous year (Table 41). The total share towards the Ukrainian GNP was 1.5 percent in 2008.¹⁰⁹ The gross regional product per capita in Kirovogradska oblast is 13.515 UAH while the Ukrainian average is 20.495 UAH.

The industry sectors and their distributional share in the beginning of 2010 are shown in Table 42. In March 2010 compared with the corresponding month of 2009, industrial output has increased by

¹⁰⁸ Main Department of Statistics in Kirovogradska Oblast: http://www.kirstat.kr.ua/, accessed 8/5/2010.

¹⁰⁹ Gross Regional Product for 2008: Press Release of the Main Department of Statistics in Kirovogradska Oblast, http://www.kirstat.kr.ua/pres.htm, accessed 8/5/2010.

23.9 percent; production growth in the processing industry in January-March 2010 was 26.9 percent.

The average nominal wage in Kirovogradska oblast in January-February 2010 amounted to 1.572 UAH, which is twice the minimum wage (744 UAH). The highest salary level can be found in the transport and in the financial sector, where wages are 1.6-1.7 times higher than average wages. The average nominal wage in Kirovogradska oblast increased in 2002-2008. However, in 2009, it decreased by 27.9 percent (Table 43).

Real wages varied strongly over the period 2002-2009 according to official statistics (Table 44). The economic crisis led to lowest index figures of this period. The labour force in the Kirovogradska oblast has been rapidly decreasing (Table 45). In 2000 there were 511.100 persons employed but by 2009, the number shrunk to 480.300 persons. The number of the unemployed though has decreased from the level of 14.9 percent in 2000. On the 1 April 2010, the number of registered unemployed was 16.600 people, which is 7.9 percent lower than on 1 March 2009. Semykina (2009) points to the need of restructuring the industry and innovative developments that were neglected in the region. As a consequence, the greatest number of employees can be found in the sector of agriculture (in 2007: 31.53 percent).

Education

At the beginning of the academic year 2009/2010 there were 15 universities of I-II level of accreditation according to the data of the Main Department of Statistics in Kirovogradska oblast: eight colleges, four junior technical colleges and three specialized schools. In addition, there were seven universities of III-IV level of accreditation, including one academy, two universities and four institutes.¹¹⁰ A network of public vocational schools likewise exists, which provides education for construction, transport, communication and agricultural industries.

Altogether, 8.000 students graduated from universities in Kirovogradska oblast: 3.100 (38.8 percent) junior specialists¹¹¹, 1.100 (14.2 percent) with a Bachelor degree, 2.800 (35.4 percent) of specialists¹¹² and 925 with master degrees (11.6 percent of the total number of graduates). 10.363 students were enrolled in vocational schools at the beginning of 2009. The development of for the past 15 years can be drawn from the table below (Table 46).

¹¹⁰ Main Department of Statistics in Kirovogradska oblast, http://www.kirstat.kr.ua/, accessed 8/5/2010.

¹¹¹ 'Junior specialist' is a degree offered at technical and vocational schools, which are different from other higher educational institutions of the first level of accreditation.

¹¹² Institutions encourage students to complete a full (traditional) program of 5.5 years of length which leads to either the Diploma of Specialist or Master (Magister) degree. Often, the Master degree requires an additional semester of study. The main difference between these two programs is that the first one, leading to the Diploma of Specialist (engineer), is professionally oriented and its purpose is to work in the Ukrainian industry. The Master degree is oriented towards a scientific/research career.

In 2009, 2.165 graduates (27 percent of the total) found a job after graduation. 939 graduates had gone through a new training which qualified them as 'workers'. White-colour professions such as accountants, financiers and managers got increasingly competitive (Semykina, 2009).

Social Issues: Corruption, Crime, Drugs

University degrees are in high demand in Kirovohrad region and students as well as their parents try 'almost everything' to enter one of the three Universities in Kirovohrad city where 90 percent of the around 10.000 students study. This competitive environment produces opportunities for corruption (mostly bribery) among teachers and students, as well as their parents.¹¹³

Linskyy et al. (2007) addressed drugs and alcohol issues in their study and compared several regions in Ukraine (Figures 36 and 37). A slight reduction of alcoholism and an increase of the consumption of alternative drugs can be found in the case of Kirovogradska oblast.

From January-March 2010, 2.635 crimes were committed in Kirovogradska oblast, a rise of 708 crimes (36.7 percent) from the corresponding period in 2009.¹¹⁴ Most criminal offences were against property (66.9 percent); others were related to drugs (5.2 percent); physical assaults (4.7 percent); criminal acts against labour and other personal rights and freedoms of man and citizens (1.9 percent). Based on the statistics of the Ministry of the Interior and the magazine "Focus",¹¹⁵ Kirovogradska oblast was ranked the most criminal oblast in Ukraine. The oblast was ranked 11th place (out of 25) with a crime rate (24.1 per 10.000 people), and ranked number one in the list of murder rates (0.29 per 10.000 people).

Ethnicity

The vast majority in Kirovogradska oblast is Ukrainian (90.1 percent). Between 1989 and 2001 the share of Ukrainians in total grew by 4.8 percent (Table 48).

The Ukrainian language was considered as native by 88.9 percent of the population and Russian by 3.5 percent of the population. Bob and Vishnyak (2006) have discovered that the proportion of those who believe their native language is Ukrainian, is considerably less among young people. In the age category 55 and older, the Ukrainian language was considered native by 69 percent of the respondents while in the category aged 18-29 only 65.5 percent felt this way. At the same time, among the group aged 18-30 the proportion of those who consider Russian their native language

¹¹³ Creative Union "TORO", http://www.toro.org.ua/projects/18.html, accessed 8/05/2010

¹¹⁴ Main Department of Statistics in Kirovogradska oblast, http://www.kirstat.kr.ua/soc_econ_kryminogen.htm, accessed 8/5/2010.

¹¹⁵ http://www.focus.ua/magazine, accessed 8/5/2010.

was 33.1 percent and 29.5 percent among those who were older than 55. A downward trend of the number of people who believe their native language is Ukrainian can be anticipated.¹¹⁶

Migration

Emigration processes had virtually no influence on the development of depopulation in this region (a proportional share of 0.8 percent). Instead, demographic developments were the reason of the shrinking number of population in Kirovogradska oblast (a proportional share of 99.2 percent) (Table 49). A distorting factor in statistics such as internal (circular) migration to Kiev can be ruled out since the distance to Kyiv is too far.

In 2008, 226 persons left Kirovogradska oblast. Positive economic development and favourable career perspectives may be two convincing factors. Kondratets (2009) points the migration processes that affect most parts of Ukraine, which is the exchange of people with CIS countries. This process can be likewise observed Kirovograd oblast, but at much lower scale.

Discursive Elements – The Concern over Orphans

This region is particularly affected by social problems. Social orphanage is perhaps the most acute problem for this region. According to the data of the Ukrainian Ministry of Interior, every tenth juvenile offender in Ukraine has parents who left Ukraine and sought work abroad. The child orphanage issue in Ukraine is exacerbated by the fact that the people caring for children of migrant workers, which traditionally are relatives and friends of parents and even neighbors, usually cannot protect the rights of children.

The NGO "Flora" tries to attract the attention of social services, civil servants and teachers in order to communicate the issues and hardship of these children that were left behind by their parents. The NGO has initiated a "Child Protection Services" in four rayons of Kirovograd oblast: Kirovograd, Kompaniivsk, Znamyansk, Novomirgorod.¹¹⁷ A number of mobile advice centers where psychologist, social worker and lawyers are providing their help are situated in these rayons. In addition, a telephone helpline was started as well as seminars for the regional coordinators or the children themselves were offered.

http://uabooks.info/ua/book_market/analytics/?pid=2386, accessed 8/5/2010. ¹¹⁷ Problem of social orphanhood in Kirovograd oblast,

http://www.leleky.org/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=646:2010-06-11-10-40-13&catid=1:2009-05-10-09-58-05&Itemid=2, accessed 15/07/2010.

¹¹⁶ Survey conducted by Ukrainian Democratic Circle (Sergiy Bob) and Ukrainian Sociology Service (Alexander Vishnyak) from 7 to 25 December 2006. Total 5000 respondents were interviewed, see

Research Area – Znamyanska Rayon

Znamyanska rayon is situated in the north of Kirovogradska oblast known for low scale emigration. There are one town, one urban-type settlements and 45 villages in Znamyanska research area. The distance from Znamyanska rayon's administrative center to Kirovograd is 40 km. Some more details on the population and size of the area can be drawn from table 50 (see annex).

During the period of January-April 2010, the population of Znamyanska decreased by 74 persons that was 9 people per 1.000 inhabitants (in January-April 2009: 17.4 persons). This reduction can be explained by the increasing death rate. A positive balance of migration can be observed for the same period, i.e. the number of arrivals in the research area exceeds the number of departures (by 2 persons).

In April 2010, registered unemployment in the rayon amounted to 2.75 percent, which is 0.03 percentage points less than the corresponding figure for the oblast. Average monthly nominal salary in Znamensk rayon in January-March 2010 was 1.341 UAH, which is 1.5 times more than the general minimum wage. The level of salaries in Znamyanska is 16.2 percent lower than the average wage of the oblast (1.599 UAH).

There are six general education schools with 3.123 pupils and two vocational technical schools with 777 students in Znamyanka. Today, Znamyanka has four medical institutions, 61 political parties and 23 registered religious communities.

Ternopilska Oblast and the Research Area Zbarazh Rayon

Geography: Climate, Agro-Ecological Conditions

Ternopil oblast is located in the western part of Ukraine near to the border with Poland, Slovak republic, Hungary and Romania. Its territory spreads 195 km from north to south, and 129 km from west to east. Ternopil oblast covers 13.800 square km or 2.3 percent of Ukrainian territory. The fertile black earth and grey soils is the main natural resource.

Demography

On 1 March 2010, the population of Ternopil oblast was 1.087.800 people (2.3 percent of the total population). The administrative centre of the oblast is the city of Ternopil with about 230.000 inhabitants (Table 51).¹¹⁸ A comparatively high density of population can be found in Ternopil oblast (83 people/km²). The majority the population in Ternopil oblast lives in villages (57.3 percent). Also in Ternopil oblast, a depopulation process can be found, partially due to emigration as well as demographic developments.

¹¹⁸ Main Department of Statistics in Ternopil oblast, http://www.te.ukrstat.gov.ua/, accessed 8/5/2010.

However, in recent years (between 2000 and 2009) an increasing trend of population growth can be observed (Table 52). Demographic developments vary substantially in various areas of Ternopil oblast, especially between rural urban areas. The highest population growth rate can found in the Ternopil city (2.5 people per 1.000 inhabitants). In rural areas the population growth rates are very low. In 2008 the birth rate was 9.1 percent and the death rate 17.6 percent, i.e. a decline of 8.5 percent (urban areas: 9.3 percent, rural areas: 10 percent). A trend of an aging population becomes evident consulting the statistics as indicted below (see Table 53).¹¹⁹ In rural areas, the working age population has constantly decreased (49.7 percent), while the share of children (20.5 percent) decreased and the number of pensioners (29.8 percent) grew. A less dramatic development can be found in Ternopil city.

Economic/Industrial Structure

The proportion of industrial sectors of Ternopil oblast in the Ukrainian economy is: industrial production (0.5 percent) (for 2009); agriculture (3.0 percent) life stock (2.8 percent).¹²⁰ In 2008 the GRP in Ternopil oblast was 10.618 million UAH, which accounted for 1.1 percent of the total Ukrainian GNP (Table 54).¹²¹ The GRP per capita was at 9.688 UAH in 2008 (the average figure for Ukraine is 204.95 UAH).

The industrial production in the last decade varies at a generally upward trend, however, a dramatic decrease was recorded for the year 2009. In the same year the investment volume into agriculture decreased by 67 percent¹²² (a general picture of the industrial sectors of the Ternopil economy in January 2010 can be drawn from Table 55).¹²³

Since 2000 high rates of increasing wages have been recorded in Ternopil oblast. The main reason for this economic growth is industrial growth especially in the construction sector as well as in the transport sector. In 2007, the average monthly growth rate in wages was 29.6 percent and 39.2 percent in 2008 (up to 1.313 UAH). In the year of 2009, these growth rates settled down to 9.4 percent; the average monthly nominal wage in January-March 2010 was 1.406 UAH.¹²⁴ Although a growing trend of nominal average income can be observed (see Table 56), the real average income constantly shrunk (Table 57). The level of average income in Ternopil oblast is the lowest in Ukraine.

¹¹⁹ Regional informational portal Ternopilshchyna, http://irp.tneu.edu.ua/, accessed 8/5/2010.

¹²⁰ Passport of Ternopil oblast (as of 1.01.2010), http://www.oda.te.gov.ua/, accessed 8/05/2010.

¹²¹ Gross regional product in 2008, Press release of the Main Department of Statistics in Ternopil oblast,

http://www.ternstat.tim.net.ua/express03.html, accessed 8/05/2010.

¹²² Ternopil regional state administration: On situation of oblast's socio-economic development in I quarter of 2010, http://www.oda.te.gov.ua/index.php?module=economics, accessed 15/5/2010.

¹²³ Passport of Ternopil oblast (as of 1.01.2010), http://www.oda.te.gov.ua/, accessed 8/5/2010.

¹²⁴ Program of socio-economic and cultural development of Ternopil oblast in 2009, www.rada.te.ua, accessed 15/05/2010.

Between 2001 and 2006, the poverty level has increased in all districts of the Ternopil oblast. On the Ukrainian "map of poverty" as Libanova (2009) put it, an indicator of 25.1 percent can be found in Ternopil oblast in 2006 (city of Ternopil: 19.4 percent).

The ILO indicates a growing trend of unemployment for the region: 8.7 percent (2007), 8.8 percent (2008) and 11.3 percent (2009) (age 15-70; see Table 58). In the beginning of 2010 the number of registered unemployed has grown by 8.9 percent to almost 16.000 persons; highest numbers were found in Zalishchytskyy, Chortkivskyy, and Lanovetskyy districts.

On 1 May 2010, 13.416 unemployed were registered in the Ternopil oblast,¹²⁵ among them a growing number of university graduates. This suggests a growing discrepancy of the educational system and labour market demands.

Education

The department of statistics in Ternopil oblast refers to 19 institutions of higher education (10 of I-II accreditation level and nine institutions of III-IV accreditation level), and 23 polytechnics at the beginning of academic year 2009/2010.¹²⁶ At institutions of I-II level of accreditation the number of students gradually decreased, while the number of students at the level III-IV increased constantly between 1995/1996-2003/2004 and decreased, however less sharply, until 2009/2010 (Table 59).

The greatest share of the working population graduate from polytechnics (10.500 students) where students can study 75 different courses such as constructing, gastronomy, transport, agriculture. 84.1 percent of students complete secondary education in Ternopil oblast.

Social Issues Problems: Corruption, Crime, Drugs

Corruption and drug addiction is another growing issue also in Ternopil oblast, however the level is below the Ukrainian average. In Ternopil oblast official data refers to 217 cases of corruption by state officials and other state representatives in the year 2009.¹²⁷ A move of drug consumption from southern and eastern regions of the country to the western regions such as Ternopil oblast can be observed in the past few years.¹²⁸

A particular cause for concern is crime, and it is often argued that this is as much a consquence of the political and socio-economic crisis as of a lack of control over the business, financial and bank sector. Usually, the lowest levels of criminality are to be found in western oblasts of Ukraine includ-

¹²⁵ Ternopil oblast job centre, http://www.dcz.gov.ua/, accessed 8/05/2010

¹²⁶ Main Department of Statistics in Ternopil oblast, http://www.te.ukrstat.gov.ua/, accessed 8/05/2010

¹²⁷ "On overcoming corruption" in Ternopil oblast in 2009,

http://www.guds.gov.ua/sub/ternopilska/ua/publication/print/11179.htm, accessed 7/5/2010.

¹²⁸ According to SSU data, http://www.sbu.gov.ua/sbu/control/uk/publish/article?art_id=49280&cat_id=49157 accessed 7/5/2010

ing Ternopil. Data by the Ministry of the Interior demonstrate that Ternopil oblast was on the 23rd place with regards to numbers of crimes committed (16 crimes per 10.000 persons Ternopil oblast compared with 41.2 crimes per 10.000 persons in Luhansk oblast)¹²⁹.

Ethnicity

According to Census data, 14 nationalities live in Ternopil oblast. Ukrainians represent 97.8 percent of the total population of Ternopil oblast (see also table 60).

Migration

Emigration and labour migration is characteristic for the western regions of Ukraine. Migration flows are traditionally directed towards the neighbouring western countries. The main economic indicators as demonstrated above provide the reasoning for such developments. Brych (2009: 37) stated that "only a half of the people (covered in his survey) were able to cover the expenses on food and everyday products". Every third person felt threatened by unemployment. It is thus hardly surprising that since 1995 the balance of migration in Ternopil oblast is negative: high emigration rates and a shrinking overall population (Table 61).

Many seasonal workers leave in order to work in Poland, Czech Republic, Russian Federation, UK, Greece, Spain, Italy, Portugal, Germany, USA, Israel, etc. According to the data of Ternopil Regional Employment Centre, 26.200 migrants from rural areas of Ternopil oblast worked abroad in 2006. A survey on labour migration in 2008 pointed to 50.400 labour migrants who were working abroad, but still 'officially' live in Ternopil villages.

Discursive Element – A Monument for Labour Migrants

Symbolically, the population and local authorities of Ternopil contemplate to erect a monument to honour the labour migrants who contributed significantly to the economic welfare of their families and the development of the region. A media article metaphorically captured the importance of this monument, and yet shed light on the social disruption that can be caused by the phenomenon of migration:

"All the figures of the monument will be forged out of metal; in the foreground: a father, a mother and a child near the family tree; in the background: a chapel in the form of a hemisphere with the meridians, symbolizing the earth [...]. The creators of the composition want to capture the meeting of the child and his parents who have returned from abroad. The meeting is held in the courtyard near the family tree. The composition of the monument will be 'asking' why in such a big country like Ukraine,

¹²⁹ The cities with the highest criminality in Ukraine, www.life.pravda.com.ua/problem/4a2fc231e1346/view_print/, accessed 26/5/2010.

there was no place for millions of people, why they were forced to leave their children, the infirm parents, loved ones, all this just to earn for a living?"¹³⁰

Research Area - Zbarazh Rayon

The research area Zbarazh rayon has a population of 59.062. The rayon is composed of one town (Zbarazh), one urban-type settlements and 73 villages. Its administrative centre is Zbarazh town located in the northern-east part of the oblast, not far from Ternopil city (24 km) and a population of 13.000 (13.700 in 2006) (see also table 62).

On the 1st of January 2010, the number of registered unemployed was 1.050 persons. Among the rayons of the Ternopil oblast and their industrial production, Zbarazh rayon is at the 9th place. There are 54 general education schools, where 6.340 students study and two vocational technical school with 756 students.

The number of total medical institutions is 68, including three hospitals with 285 beds and two clinics. The number of employees in the health sector is 775 including 149 people with higher education. The number of registered political parties in rayon is 69. The number of active religious communities their churches is 911.

The scale of labor migration from Zbarazh rayon is high, especially in villages, which are characterized by inhabitants that feel cut off from the industrial and business world. Substantial differences exist between rayons and single villages in Ternopil oblasts as regard the selection of destination countries in the Europe. Established social networks between the community in the rayons and villages are often dominated by the pioneers who left the rayon or village first and who are associated with success and prosperity.

Dovzuk (2005) points the preferred destination countries among residents of the Zbarazh rayon, which are: Italy (41.0 percent), Portugal (16.9 percent), Poland (10.6 percent), Russia (9.8 percent), Spain (5.5 percent). Reasons for emigration among citizens of Zbarazh town are strongly driven by socio-economic factors (Figure 38).

Conclusion

Ukraine experienced several political and economic crises leading to societal disruptions; emigration rates reached record-high levels; immigration started to set in first abruptly (return migration) and then international increased gradually and at lower levels. Combined effects of a reduction in the birth rate, an increase in the death rate, and the state and access to the health care system in the country as well as a negative rate of net-migration, has led to a substantial decrease in Ukrainian population. Ukraine migration flows are split into two to directions: in western Ukraine emigrants mainly head towards the EU, the U.S. etc., while in eastern Ukraine towards the Russian Federation. Low income levels; a rapidly ageing society; an education system that mismatches the demands of the labour market as well as dominating social issues of a partially dysfunctional state, corruption, drugs and crime are social phenomena and current drivers of contemporary migration patterns in Ukraine.

References

- Adamets, S., Mesle, F., Pyrozkov, S. and Vallin J. 2009. "The great famine: population losses in Ukraine". *Demography and Processes of Population Reproduction* 2 (12):3-12.
- Anderson, J. and Albini, J. 1999. "Ukraine's SBU and the New Oligarchy", *International Journal of Intelligence and CounterIntelligence* 12 (3): 282-324.
- Aksyonova, S.Y. 2007. "Paradoksalnist problem suchasnoji ditorodnoji aktyvnosti v Ukraini", *Journal Demography and social economy*, 2: 14-23.
- Anderson, B.A. and Silver, B.D. 1989. "Demographic Sources of the Changing Ethnic Composition of the Soviet Union", *Population and Development Review* 15 (4): 609-656.
- Associated Press Newswires. 2005. Ukrainians increasingly vulnerable to human trafficking, 2 August.
- Åslund, A. 2004. The Political Situation in Ukraine Before the Presidential Election, Washington D.C.: Carnegie Endowment for International, http://www.carnegieendowment.org/events/?fa=eventDetail&id=690, accessed 10/05/2010.
- Åslund, A. 2002. *Building Capitalism: The Transformation of the Former Soviet Bloc.* New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- BBC Monitoring Ukraine and Baltics. 2005. Ukraine, International Organisation for Migration sign cooperation agreement, 25 October.
- Bidnist v Ukrajini: metodyka ta praktyka analizu. 2008. K.: Instytut demografii ta socialnyh doslidzen, www.nbuv.gov.ua, accessed 2/5/2010
- Bigo, D. 2005. Frontier Controls in the European Union: Who is in Control?, in Bigo, D., Guild, E. (eds.), *Controlling Frontiers.* Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Bilan, Y., Lapshyna, I. Vdovtsova, S., Vollmer, B. 2010. *Justification of selection of regions*, Eumagine project, Oxford: Centre on Migration, Policy and Society.
- Boroda, M., Miroshnychenko, O., Shevliakov, I., Tatarevskiy, O. 2010. *The EU–Ukraine Association Agreement: From imitation to results*, Policy Brief, International Centre for Policy Studies (ICPS), Kyiv: ICPS.
- Brytchenko, S. 2004. "Ukrainian Citizenship: Trends and Prospects", Uryadovyy Kuryer, 5 August.
- Braichevska, O., Volosiuk, H., Malynovska, O., Pylynskyi, Y., Popson, N., Ruble, B. 2004. *Nontraditional immigrants in Kyiv*, Washington D.C.: Woodrow Wilson International Centre for Scholars.
- Buch, C. and Kuckulenz, A. 2004. Worker Remittances and Capital Flows to Developing Countries, Zentrum für Europäische Wirtschaftsforschung (ZEW) Discussion Papers No. 04-31, Bonn: ZEW.
- Buzan, B. 1991. *People, States and Fear: An Agenda for International Security Studies in the Post-Cold War Era* (2nd edn.). London: Harvester Wheatsheaf.
- Brych, V. 2009. "Social-economic structure of Ternopil oblast population as a factor of outside migration", *Ukraine: aspects of work*,1: 33-37.

- Byrne, R. 2003. "Harmonization and Burden Redistribution In The Two Europes", *Journal of Refu*gee Studies, 16: 336.
- Chekhovych, S. 2001. Jurydychni aspekty mihratsiinykh protsesiv v Ukraini. Kyiv: Ukrainian Centre of Legal Studies.
- Central Intelligence Agency (CIA). 2005. The World Factbook 2005, https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/rankorder/2155rank.html, accessed 22/04/2010.
- Cipko, S. 2006. Contemporary migration from Ukraine, in Rios, R.R. (ed.), *Migration Perspectives.* IOM: Geneva.
- Cipko, S., Lehr, J. 2006. "Volhynia in the New World: Ukrainian Settlement in Paraguay", *Ukrainskyi vymir* 4: 86–98.
- Council of the European Union. 2007. Council Decision on the signing of the Agreement between the European Community and Ukraine on readmission of persons, Brussels, 5 June 2007, http://soderkoping.org.ua/page16843.html
- Danzer, A.M. and Dietz, B. 2009. "Temporary Labour Migration and Welfare at the New European Fringe: A Comparison of Five Eastern European Countries", Working Papers No. 273, München: Osteuropa-Institut München.
- Dietz, B. 2007a. "Migration policy challenges at the new Eastern borders of the enlarged European Union: The Ukrainian case", Working Papers No. 267, München: Osteuropa-Institut München.
- Dietz, B. 2007b. Migrationen in der Ukraine: Hintergründe und Trends Ergebnisse einer Haushaltsbefragung, Kurzanalysen und Informationen, München: Osteuropa-Institut München.
- Dovzuk O. 2005. *Labor Migration of the Ternopil' oblast: a quantitative and geographical aspects*, Ternopil: Dzhura.
- Düvell, F. 2007. Ukraine Europe's Mexico? Central and East European migration, Country profile, Oxford: Centre of Migration, Policy and Society: http://www.compas.ox.ac.uk, accessed 01/05/2010.
- Düvell, F. undated. Ukraine Immigration and Transit Country for Chechen Refugees, Research Resources Report 3/3, Oxford: Centre on Migration, Policy and Society.
- Düvell, F. and Vollmer B. 2009. *Irregular Migration in and from the Neighbourhood of the EU A comparison of Morocco, Turkey and Ukraine*, Oxford: Centre on Migration Policy and Society (COMPAS): http://clandestino.eliamep.gr/category/irregular-migration-transit-countries/, accessed 01/05/2010.
- Dyczok, M. 2000. Ukraine: movement without change, change without movement. Amsterdam: Harwood Academic Publ.
- European Education Fund. 2009. Ukraine: an overview of Ukrainian labour market 2009 Project Review of labour market of the Black sea region, Kyiv: European Education Fund.
- Evropejskyy fond profesijnogo navchannja. 2008. Rozvytok ludskyh resursiv i migracijna polityka v Ukrajini. Proekt, Kyiv. www.etf.europa.eu/pubmgmt.nsf/(getAttachment)/.../NOTE7J7DW6.pdf
- Fischer, S, Puglisi, R. Wolczuk, K., Wolowski, P. 2008. "Ukraine: quo vadis?" *Chaillot paper* No. 108, Paris: Institute for Security Studies.

- Frejka, T., Okolski, M., Sword, K. (eds.) 1999. "In-Depth Studies on Migration in Central and Eastern Europe: The Case of Ukraine", *Economic Studies* No. 12, United Nations Economic Commission for Europe, New York and Geneva: United Nations.
- Freedman, J. 2004. Immigration and insecurity in France. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Golbert, R. 2001. "Transnational orientations from home: constructions of Israel and transnational space among Ukrainian Jewish youth", *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 27(4): 713-731.
- Gross regional product in 2008: express-release of Main department of statistics in Ternopil oblast: http://www.ternstat.tim.net.ua/express03.html, accessed 8/05/2010
- Heyts, V., Danylenko, A., Zhulinski, M., Libanova, E. and Onishenko, O. (Ed.) 2009. Socialnoekonomichnyj stan Ukrainy: naslidky dlja narodu ta derzavy: nacionalna dopovid, К.: НВЦ НБУВ.
- Hormel, L., Southworth, C. 2006. "Eastward bound: A case study of post-soviet labour migration from a rural Ukrainian town", *Europe Asia Studies* 58 (4): 603-623.
- Hladun, Z.S. 2006. *Current problems of administrative law in Ukraine and ways of their solving.* Collection of works of Law institute of Ternopil academy of national household, Ternopil.
- Hughes, D. M. 2000. "The 'Natasha trade': the transnational shadow market of trafficking in women", *Journal of International Affairs* 53(2): 625-651.
- Human Development Report. 2009:

- U.S. Bureau of Democracy, Human Rights, and Labor (2009), 2008 Human Rights Reports: Ukraine http://www.state.gov/g/drl/rls/hrrpt/2008/eur/119110.htm accessed 18/07/2010.
- International Centre for Policy Studies (ICPS). 2006. Illegal migration in Ukraine, ICPS Newsletter, Kyiv: ICPS.
- International Centre for Policy Studies (ICPS). 2005a. Economic Statistics, Kyiv: ICPS.
- International Centre for Policy Studies (ICPS). 2005b. Readmission treaty is unlikely to make Ukraine a migration buffer of the EU, ICPS Newsletter, Kyiv: ICPS.
- IMF. 2008. 'Ukraine: Request for Stand-by Arrangement-Staff Report; Staff Supplement; Press
Release on the Executive Board Discussion, and Statement by the Executive Director for
Ukraine',.IMFCountryReportNo.08/384,
08/384,
01/05/2010.http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/scr/2008/cr08384.pdf, accessed 01/05/2010.01/05/2010.01/05/2010.
- IOM. 2006. Labour migration Assessment for the WNIS Region 18, Kyiv: IOM Mission in Ukraine.
- IOM. 1998. Information Campaign against Trafficking in Women from Ukraine: Research Report 1998, Geneva: IOM.
- IOM. 1994. Transit migration in Ukraine, Geneva: IOM.
- Institute for Public Policy (IPP), Institute for Development and Social Initiatives "Viitorul", International Centre for Policy Studies (ICPS). 2008. Migration trends and Policies in the Black sea region: cases of Moldova, Romania and Ukraine, Kyiv: IPP, Institute for Development and Social Initiatives "Viitorul", ICPS.

http://hdrstats.undp.org/en/countries/country_fact_sheets/cty_fs_UKR.html, accessed 19/04/2010.

- International Centre of Prospective Studies. 2008. Potential of Ukraine and its realization: Analytical report, Kyiv.
- Kazilov, A., Nikolaevskij, V. and Petrenko, Y. 2006. Osobennosti migracionnyh processov v ukrainskom pogranichje (po rezultatam socyologicheskogo issledovanija v Kharkovskoj i Lvovskoj oblastjah). *Metodologia, teoria ta praktyka sociologichnogo analizu suchasnogo suspilstva: Zbirnyk naukovyh prac v 2 m*. T. 2.
- Keryk, M. 2004. Labour migration: our saviour or betrayer? Ukrainian discussion concerning labour migration, www.migrationonline.cz, accessed 13/04/2010.
- King, C. and Melvin, N.J. 1999. "Diaspora Politics: Ethnic Linkages, Foreign Policy, and Security in Eurasia", *International Security* 24 (3): 108-138.
- Klenks, F. 2008. Europas neuer Zaun, www.florianklenk.com, accessed 08/05/2010.
- Kondratiev, Y., Rymarenko, Y., Olefir, V. 2000. *Osnovy mihratsiieznavstva.* Kyiv: National Academy of Internal Affairs of Ukraine.
- Kondratets L. 2009. Quantitative Component Formation Research for Labor and Resource Potential in Region, http://www.nbuv.gov.ua/portal/natural/Npkntu_e/2009_15/stat_09/23.pdf, accessed 20/7/2010.
- Kuropas, M.B. 1991. *The Ukrainian Americans: Roots and Aspirations, 1884–1954.* Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Kurylo, I. 2006. The transformation of social-economic structure of the population and its demographic consequences. Kyev.
- Kuts, S. 2006. Civil Society In Ukraine: Driving Engine Or Spare Wheel For Change? CIVICUS Civil Society Index Report for Ukraine, Kyiv: Center for Philanthropy Counterpart Creative Center, World Alliance for Citizen Participation (CIVICUS).
- Levin, M. 2006. Chechen migration and integration in Ukraine, Working paper, http://www.chechnyaadvocacy.org/refugees/ChechenMigrationinUkraine.pdf, accessed: 30/3/2010.
- Libanova, T. and Kurilo I. 2009. "Social and Demographic Policy in Ukraine in the Context of Cairo ICPD Program of Actions", *Demography and Processes of Population Reproduction 2 (12):* 12-28.
- Libanova, E.M (Ed.) 2009. *Demographic factors of poverty*, Kyiv: Institute of Demography and Social Research, NAS of Ukraine.
- Linskyy I.V, Minko, O.I. and Pervomayskyy E. B. 2007. *Current Trends spread of dependence on psychoactive substances in Ukraine: Analytical Review*, Kharkiv, Vol.4, 52 p., http://www.psychiatry.org.ua/articles/paper254.htm, accessed 12/05/2010.
- Ljashenko, A. 2006. *Prospects of development of party system in Ukraine:* http://www.rb.com.ua/eng/politics/analytics/2006/408.html, accessed 12/05/2010.
- Lundborg, P. and Rechea, C. 2002. "Will Transition Countries Benefit or Lose from the Brain Drain?" International Journal of Economic Development 5 (3): 1-26.
- Makarova, O.V. 2007. "Demografichna polityka: suchasni realii ta perspektyvy", *Journal "Demography and social economy*", 1: 3-11.

- Malynovska, O. 1996. Migration and migration policy in Ukraine since 1991 [Migration und Migrationspolitik in der Ukraine nach 1991], Berichte des Bundesinstituts für Ostwissenschaftliche und Internationale Studien, No. 42 Cologne: Bundesinstitut für Ostwissenschaftliche und Internationale Studien.
- Malynovska O. 2003. The main principles of Ukrainian migration policy and a future scenario of its development, in Iglicka, K. (ed.), *Migration and labour markets in Poland and Ukraine*. Warsaw: Institute of Public Affairs.
- Malynovska, O. 2004. "International migration in contemporary Ukraine: trends and policy". *Global Migration Perspectives*, No 14, Geneva: Global Commission on International Migration.
- Malynovska, O. 2006a. Caught between East and West, Ukraine struggles migration policy, country profiles, Washington D.C.: MPI.
- Malynovska, O. 2006b. *Migration and migration policy in Ukraine, National Institute of International Security Problems*, http://www.niisp.gov.ua/articles/78/, accessed: 19/3/2010.
- Malynovska. 2006c. *Trans-border Migration of the Population of the Ukrainian Western Frontier Areas in the Context EU Enlargement*, Reports & Analyses 6/06, Warsaw: Centre for International Relations.
- Mansoor, A.M., Quillin, B. (eds.). 2006. *Migration and Remittances Eastern Europe and the Former Soviet Union.* Washington D.C.: The World Bank.
- Markov, I, Ivankova-Stetsyuk O., and Seleshchuk H. 2009. Ukrainian Labour Migration in Europe Findings of the Complex Research of Ukrainian Labour Immigration Processes, Lviv.
- Markov, I. 2008. Za kordonom pracuje 4.5 mln ukrainciv ekspertni dani, http://novynar.com.ua/politics/24701, accessed 5/6/2010.
- Martynowich. 1991. Ukrainians in Canada The Formative Period 1891-1924. Edmonton: Canadian Institute of Ukrainian Studies Press.
- Massey, D.S. and Zenteno, R. 2000. "A validation of the Ethnosurvey: the case of Mexico-US Migration", *International Migration Review* 34 (3): 766-793.
- Massey, D.S. and Alarcon, J. 1987. *Return to Aztlan: the social process of international migration from Western Mexico.* Berkeley, University of California Press.
- McElroy, Damien. and Tim Wall. 2008. "Ukraine suffers from the economic crisis along with the rest of Eastern Europe," *The Telegraph*, October 25. http://www.telegraph.co.uk/finance/financetopics/recession/3260054/Ukraine-suffersfrom-the-economic-crisis-along-with-the-rest-of-Eastern-Europe.html
- Mikhel' D.O. 2009. "Osnovni aspekty geopolitychnogo polozhennja Ukrainy ta ii zovnichnjopolitychnyj vymir", *Journal "Politology"*, 97: 176-180.
- Motyl, Alexander J. 2009. Ukraine between Russia and the European Union: an analysis of the present situation, CICERO FOUNDATION GREAT DEBATE PAPER: 09/6, www.cicerofoundation.org/.../Alexander_J_Motyl_Ukraine.pdf.
- Molodikova, I., Düvell, F. (eds.). 2009. *Tranzitnaia migratsia i tranzitnie strani: teoria, praktika i politika regulirovania* [Transit Migration, Transit Countries: Theories, Cases, and Politics]. Moscow: University book.
- Mozol, A. 2001. "Kharakterystyka i analiz mihratsiinoho zakonodavstva ta mihratsiinykh protsesiv v Ukraini", *Pravo Ukraini* 4: 118-122.

- Müller, M. 2005. "Wir werden hoer gehalten wie die Hunde!", Frankfurter Rundschau, 24 Dezember.
- National Institute for Strategic Studies (2009), Ukraine in 2005–2009: strategic evaluations of socio-political and socio-economic development. 2009, http://www.niss.gov.ua/, accessed 29/04/2010.
- On situation of oblast's socio-economic development in I quarter of 2010: Ternopil state regional administration, http://www.oda.te.gov.ua/index.php?module=economics, accessed 15/05/2010.
- On socio-economic situation in Ukraine in January-March 2010: Report. 2010. http://www.ukrstat.gov.ua/, http://www.ukrstat.gov.ua/, accessed 17/5/2010
- Organization for Security and Co-operation (OSCE). 2001. Letter from the High Commissioner on National Minorities (OSCE) to Russian Minister for Foreign Affairs, 12 January, http://www.osce.org/documents/hcnm/2001/01/2746_en.pdf, accessed 09/5/2010.
- Palyvoda, L. and Golota, S. 2010. *Civil Society Organizations in Ukraine. The State and Dynamics* (2002-2009): Survey Report, Kyiv: Publishing House 'Kupol'.
- Program of socio-economic and cultural development of Ternopil oblast in 2009, www.rada.te.ua, accessed 12/05/2010
- Pavlychko, S. 1996. Feminism in post-communist Ukrainian society, Marsh, R. (ed.), *Women in Russia and Ukraine.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Pifer, S., Åslund, A. and Elkind, J. 2009. "Engaging Ukraine in 2009", *Policy Paper*, Number 13, Washingto D.C.: Brookings Institution.
- Piperno, F. 2007. "From Care Drain to Care Gain: Migration in Romania and Ukraine and the rise of transnational welfare", *Development* 50(4): 63–68.
- Piskun, O. 1998. Osnovy mihratsiinoho prava: porivnialnyi analiz. Kyiv: MP Lesia.
- Polikarpova, A. 2007. Refugee resettlement from Ukraine, Belarus and Moldova, Paper presented to European Conference on Models of Integration and Resettlement of Refugees, Madrid, 8-9 November.
- Popson, N. 2004. Migration in Ukraine and the Case of Kyiv: Suggestions for Preparation of a Research Agenda. Paper presented at the workshop "Understanding the Transformation of Ukraine: Assessing What Has Been Learned, Devising a Research Agenda", University of Ottawa (Canada), 15-16 October 2004.
- Pozniak, O. 2009a. Naselennja Kyeva za 15 rokiv zroste do 4 mln, http://economics.unian.net/ukr/detail/28038, accessed 12/4/2010Sub-subsection
- Pozniak, O. 2009b. "Problemy formuvannya migratsiynoyi polityky Ukrayiny v suchasnykh umovakh", *Journal "Demography and social economy*", 1 (11): 20-28.
- Pozniak, O. 2008. *Substitutive migration: problems and priorities for Ukraine* [Zamisna migratsiya: problemy i prioritety dlia Ukrainy], *Agora* 7: 35-42.
- Prybytkova, I. M. 2008. "Demographichna perspectyva Ukrainy", in *Ukrainian Society 1992-2008.* Sociological Monitoring, Kiev: IC HAHY: 67-75.

- Pylynskyi, Y. 2008a. Undocumented Migration: Counting the Uncountable Data and Trends across Europe, Country Report Ukraine, Oxford: Centre on Migration Policy and Society (COMPAS): http://clandestino.eliamep.gr/wp-content/uploads/2009/10/clandestino_report_ukraine_final_1.pdf, accessed 01/05/2010.
- Pylynskyi, Y. (ed.). 2008b. Urgent: Tolerance! [Aktualno: tolerantnist!], Kyiv: Stylos.
- Pylynskyy, Y.M. (ed.). 2009. Netradycijni immigranty v Kyevi: sim rokiv potomu, Kiev: Stylos.
- Rafael, V.L. 1997. "Your grief is our gossip: Overseas Filipinos and other spectral presences", *Public Culture* 9: 267-291.
- Ratha, D. 2003. Worker's Remittances: An Important and Stable Source of External Development Finance, in Maimbo S.M. and Ratha D. (eds.), *Global Development Finance: Striving for Stability in Development Finance*. Washington D.C.: World Bank.
- Robinson, K. 2000. Gender, Islam, and nationality: Indonesian domestic servants in the Middle East, in Adams, K. & S. Dickey (eds.), *Home and hegemony: Domestic service and identity politics in South and Southeast Asia*. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press.
- Satzewich, V. 2002. The Ukrainian diaspora, London: Routledge.
- Semykina, M.V. 2009. *Regional problems of conservation and development of labor potential in the global crisis*, www.nbuv.gov.ua/portal/Soc_Gum/Rarpsu/2010_15/Semikina.pdf, accessed 01/05/2010.
- Shakhno, S. and Pool, C. 2005. *Reverse effects of restrictive immigration policy Ukrainian mi*grants in the Netherlands, www.migrationonline.cz, accessed 19/06/2009.
- Shevstova, L. 1992. "Post-Soviet Emigration Today and Tomorrow", *International Migration Review* 26 (2): 241-257.
- Shevchuk, P. and Shvydka G. 2009. "Sex-age patterns in Ukraine", *Demography and Processes of Population Reproduction* 2 (12): 39-48.
- Shelley, L. 1998. "Organized Crime and Corruption in Ukraine: Impediments to the Development of a Free Market Economy", *Demokratizatsiya* 6 (4): 648-663.
- Sobolev V.A., Serdyuk A.A. 2000. "Drug addiction as an object of sociology analysis", Series Case Studies of Contemporary Society: methodology, theory and methods, № 492, C. 167-172, Kharkov: University of Kharkov.
- Soskin O. 2003. *Geopolitical future of Ukraine; Russian and European influences,* www.uanato.info/file/.../SoskinOleg%20E-CHNATOp71-72.doc, accessed 20/5/2010.
- SIFY. 2004. Osoblyvosti zovnishnyoi trudovoi migracii molodi v suchasnyh umovakh [Specificities of External Labour Migration of Youth in Current Conditions]. Kyiv: State Institute for Family and Youth.
- Stadilna, J. 2003. "Nam ci problemy zrozumili" (We understand these problems), *Golos Ukrainy*, Kyiv, March 20.
- Stan korupciji v Ukrajini: porivnalnyy analiz zagalnonacionalnyh doslidzen: 2007–2009. 2009. Dlja Porogovoji programy dlja Ukrainy Korporaciji "Vyklyky tysjacholittja" / Spryjannja aktyvnij uchasti gromadjan u protydii korudcii v Ukrajini "Gidna Ukrajina". K., http://www.pace.org.ua/content/view/175/53/lang,uk

- State Committee of Nationalities and Religion in Ukraine. 2009. Analytical note about migration situation in Ukraine in 2009, http://scnm.gov.ua/, accessed 04/05/2010.
- Statistical Collection. 2000. Labor in Ukraine in 1999, Statystychnyi zbirnyk, Pratsia v Ukrainy u 1999 rotsi, Kyiv.
- Steshenko, V.S. 1987. Demographic development in the Ukrainian SSR (1970-1979), [Demograficheskoe razvitie Ukrainskoi SSR (1970-1979]. Kyiv: Naukova Dumka.
- Subotenko, G. 2001. "Deiaki aspekty suchasnoho stanu zakonodavstva Ukrainy, shcho reguliuie pravovyi status bizhentsiv", *Problemy mihratsii* 6 (1): 36-45.
- Subtelny, O. 1991. Ukrainians in North America: An Illustrated History. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Terets, V.M. 2009. "Depopulation and ageing in socio-economic context", Visnyk of Khmelnytskyy national university. 92-97.
- The Economist. 2003. Emigration from Ukraine, 25 October.
- Tyshchenko, Y. (ed.), Ukrainian independent center of political studies. 2010. Modeli politychnoji comunikacii: politychni partii ta gromadjanske suspilstvo, "Ukrayina" agency, www.ucipr.kiev.ua/files/books/political_communication2010.pdf, accessed 05/05/2010.
- Tolstokorova, A. 2009. "Costs and Benefits of Labour Migration for Ukrainian Transnational Families: Connection or Consumption?", *Cahiers de l'Urmis*, N°12: http://urmis.revues.org/index868.html, accessed 20/04/2010.
- Tolstokorova, A. 2008. Locally neglected, globally engaged: Ukrainian women on the move. In: *Technologies of globalization. International conference proceedings* /Eds. Anderl, R., Arich-Gerz, B. & Schmiede, R. Technical University Darmstadt, pp. 44-61.
- Tsiulina, A. 2008. "Public Discourse on Labour Migration to Russia: A Potential Threat to Russia's Soft Security? Center on Migration", Citizenship and Development (COMCAD) *Working Papers*, No. 60, Bielefeld: COMCAD: http://www.unibielefeld.de/tdrc/ag_comcad/downloads/workingpaper_60_Tsiulina.pdf, accessed 9/04/2010.
- Turczyński, P. 2005. "European Policy towards Ukraine European Policy towards Ukraine", *The Polish Quarterly of International Affairs* 2: 49-81.
- Tyner, J.A. 1996. "Constructions of Filipina migrant entertainers", *Gender, Place and Culture* 3(1): 77-93.
- Uehling, G. 2004. "Irregular and Illegal Migration Through Ukraine", *International Migration* 42 (3): 77-109.
- Ukrainian Ministry of Education and Science. 2008. Education of Ukraine 2007 Information and analytical data [Osvita Ukrainy 2007 - Informatsiyno-analitychni materialy diyalnosti Ministerstva osvity i nauky u 2007 rotsi], Kyiv: Znannia.
- Ukrainian Helsinki Human Rights Union (UHHRU). 2006. Regional Aspects of the Human Rights Situation in Ukraine, Kyiv, http://helsinki.org.ua/en/index.php?id=1159392030, accessed 22/7/2010.
- Ukrainian Ministry of the Interior. 2005. Foreign Ministry: Ukrainian-Portuguese agreement on temporary labour migration of Ukrainians to Portugal comes into effect, Press release 27/03/2005,

http://www.kmu.gov.ua/control/en/publish/article?art_id=14605724&cat_id=32598, accessed 22/04/2010.

- Ukrainian Parliament commissioner for Human Rights (UPCHR). 2004. Special Report of the Ukrainian Parliament Commissioner for Human Rights, Kyiv: UPCHR, www.ombudsman.kiev.ua/S_Report1/zm.htm, accessed 26/04/2006.
- Ullman, R.H. 1983. "Redefining Security". International Security 8(1): 129-153.
- United Nations. 2006. 2004 World Survey on the Role of Women in Development Women and International Migration, A/59/287/Add.1 ST/ESA/294, New York, N.Y.: UN.
- UN Secretary General. 2006. *World population monitoring dedicated to international migration and development*, a report of the UN Secretary General presented at the 39th Session of the Commission on Population and Development.
- UNDP. 2010. Human Development Report 2009, Human development index trends, http://hdrstats.undp.org/en/indicators/81.html, accessed 1/4/2010.
- UNDP. 2009. Human Development Report 2009 Overcoming barriers: Human mobility and development, New York, N.Y.: UNDP.
- UNHCR (undated), Ukrainian Legislation and Refugee Problems, Beyond Borders, Newsletter No.2, Bulletin of the UNHCR in Ukraine.
- USSR Goskomstat. 1989. Population of the USSR 1989: Statistical collection [Naselenie SSSR 1989: Statisticheskii sbornik], Moscow: Finansy i Statistika.
- Vachudová, M.A. 2000. Eastern Europe as Gatekeeper The Immigration and Asylum Policies of an Enlarging European Union, in Andreas, P. and Snyder, T. (eds.), *The Wall Around the West: State Borders and Immigration Control in North America and Europe.* Lanham, MD: Rowman and Littlefield.
- Vlasyuk, O.S., Krysachenko, V. S., Stepyko, M. T. 2005. *Ukrajinskyy socium*, Kyiv, http://www.niss.gov.ua/book/Krysachenko/11-6-Ukr_Socium.pdf, accessed 3/05/2010.
- Vlasuk, O. 2006. Quality of life in Ukraine: contemporary condition and tendencies, http://www.niss.gov.ua/book/Vlasyuk_mon/06-3.pdf, accessed 12/06/2010.
- Vollmer, B. 2009. Political Discourse and Media Nexus: Examples for Northern European Countries, paper presented at the Clandestino Project Conference, Understanding Irregular Migration in Northern Europe, London, 27/3/2009.
- Vollmer, B. 2008. The making of policies to combat irregular migration in Germany discourses between 1973–1999, Paper presented at the Conference 'Now you see them, now you don't defining irregular migrants in Europe and Asia and the immigration measures applied to them', 7–9 January 2008, Kuala Lumpur.
- Waever, O., Buzan, B., Kelstrup, M., Lemaitre, P. 1993. *Identity, Migration and the new Security Agenda in Europe.* London: Pinter.
- Wallace, C. and Vincent, K. 2007. "Recent Migration from the New European Borderlands", *Hungarian Review of Sociology* 13(2): 19-37.
- Wanner, C. 2005. "Money, morality and new forms of exchange in postsocialist Ukraine", *Ethnos* 70(4): 515-537.
- World Bank. 2009a. World Development Indicators (WDI) 2009, Washington D.C.: World Bank.

World Bank. 2009b. Ukraine economic update,

- http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTUKRAINE/Resources/Macro_update_090407_e_final .pdf, 10/04/2010.
- World Bank. 2009c. Data on remittances, Washington D.C.: World Bank.
- World Bank. 2006. World Development Report, Washington: World Bank.
- Yarova, O. 2006. The Migration of Ukrainian Women to Italy and the Impact on Their Family in Ukraine, in Szczepaniková, A., Čaněk, M. and Jan Grill (eds.), *Migration Processes in Central and Eastern Europe: Unpacking the Diversity*. Prague: Multicultural Center Prague.
- Zakharova, O.D. 1991. "The demographic situation in the USSR in the 1980s, [Demograficheskaya situatsiya v SSSR v 80-e gody.]", *Sociological Surveys* 4: 43-52.
- Zhyznomirska, L. 2006. "Externalities of the EU immigration and asylum policy: case study of Ukraine", *Review of European and Russian Affairs* 2 (2): 28-55.
- Zimmer, K. 2008. *Migrants and Refugees in the Buffer Zone: Asylum Policy in Ukraine,* www.migrationonline.cz, accessed 06/05/2010.
- Zimmer, K. 2007a. *Arbeitsmigration und demographische Krise*, Ukraine- Analysen, Bremen: Forschungsgruppe Osteuropa.
- Zimmer, K. 2007b. How Labour Migration is Changing Ukraine, *Business Week*, 22. January.
- Zissels, J. 1997. The Jewish community of Ukraine: its status and perspectives, paper presented at the 5th Conference on Judaic Studies, Kyiv.

Contents of Annexes

Figure 3: GDP indexes per capita and national income per capita in Ukraine and	
neighbouring countries in 2008	70
Figure 5: Consumer price indices and producer price indices 2000-2009	
(% change to previous year)	71
Figure 7: Birth rate coefficient in Ukraine 2009	72
Figure 8: Main minority groups in the Ukraine	73
Figure 10: Unemployed population and reasons of unemployment in 1998 and 2007,	
in % of total number	74
Figure 11: Unemployment rates (ILO method) in 2008 and 2009, working age and aged 15-70.	74
Figure 12: National poverty indices 1999-2008, in %	75
Figure 13: Levels of education, Census: 1959-2001	76
Figure 14: Indexes of consumer prices in health care, % to previous period	77
Figure 15: Religious communities in Ukraine, 2004 (number of communities, in %)	77
Figure 17: Net Migration of Ukraine 1990 – 2009	78
Figure 18: Number of emigrants and their destination countries 2008	78
Figure 20: Nationalities of immigrants in Ukraine, in thsd	79
Figure 21: Numbers of refugees and asylum seekers in Ukraine 1996 -2009	79
Figure 22: Number of person who gained refugee status 1996-2009	80
Figure 23: Irregular migrants apprehended at the Ukrainian border 2006-2009	80
Figure 24: Apprehensions within Ukraine and deportations of irregular migrants 2001-2009	81
Figure 25: The population of Kharkivska oblast 1995-2010	81
Figure 26: Number of the students admitted in higher educational institutions	
1995-2009, thousand	82
Figure 27: Number of vocational schools in Kharkivska oblast 1995-2009	82
Figure 28: The demand for workers in Kharkivska oblast 2002-2010	83
Figure 29: Prevalence of drug addiction in terms of Ukraine regions in 2008	
in absolute numbers	83
Figure 30: Main reasons of emigration from Kharkivska oblast in the period 2000-2005	84
Figure 31: Population in Kyiv 1995-2010	84
Figure 32: Development of monthly average nominal wage in Kyiv in 1995-2009, in UAH	85
Figure 33: Number of unemployed in Kyiv	85
Figure 34: Development of the population in Kirovogradska oblast 1939-2010, in thousand	86
Figure 35: Dynamics of fertility rates in Kirovogradska oblast 1991-2009	86
Figure 36: Registered and reconstructed (prognostic) prevalence of alcoholism	

in the Kirovogradska oblast 1994-2006	87
Figure 37: Registered and reconstructed the prevalence of drug-taking	
in the Kirovogradska oblast 1994-2006	88
Figure 38: Attractiveness of Zbarazh from locals' point of view (2009)	89
Table 1: Ukraine's human development index 2009	90
Table 2: Population (per 1000 population)	91
Table 3: Birth rate coefficient in Ukraine, 2000- 2010 (per 1,000 present population)	92
Table 4: Population of Kyiv 1995 – 2009	93
Table 5: Population and age distribution 1990-2009	94
Table 6: Main minority groups in the Ukraine	95
Table 7: Regions and level of ethnic homogeneity	95
Table 8: Political parties of Ukraine	96
Table 9: ILO unemployment rates in Ukraine 2000-2009	
(percent of the total population in respective age)	96
Table 10: Groups of oblasts as regards their unemployment rate	97
Table 11: Higher educational institutions of I-II and II-IV levels of accreditation	97
Table 12: Percentage proportions of the total number of a minority group	
residing in various oblasts	98
Table 13: Net Migration Ukraine 1990 – 2009	99
Table 14: Net Migration Ukraine, by oblasts 2000 – 2010	100
Table 15: Statistics Ukrainian labour migrants in the EU countries and the Russian Federation.	101
Table 16: Number and proportion of Ukrainians in the EU, several years	102
Table 17: Categories of immigrants in accordance with the second part of Article 4	
of the Law of Ukraine "On immigration"	103
Table 18: The population of Kharkivska oblast 1995-2008	104
Table 19: Mortality and birth rates in Kharkivska oblast 1995-2009	105
Table 20: The age structure of Kharkivska oblast population 1995-2009	106
Table 21: The Gross Regional Product in Kharkivska oblast 2004-2008	107
Table 22: Development of income in Kharkivska oblast 2002-2008	107
Table 23: Dynamics of the average nominal and real wages	
in percent to the previous year, 2002-2009	108
Table 24: National composition of the population	108
Table 25: Language composition of the population in Kharkivska oblast	109
Table 26: Population and total area Novovodolaz'ki rayon	110
Table 27: Natural population growth in Kyiv	110
Table 28: Distribution of residents in Kyiv by age 1995-2009	111
Table 29: Gross regional product in Kyiv (million UAH)	112
Table 30: Income in Kyiv	112
Table 31: Main indicators of labour market in Kyiv 2000-2009	113

Table 32: Number of students/institutions of higher education	114
Table 33: Secondary schools in Kyiv	114
Table 34: Number of schools and students at institutions teaching practice	
and techniques orientated studies	115
Table 35: Ethnic groups in Kyiv 1989 and 2001	116
Table 36: Migration of population in Kyiv, by district, 2007-2009	116
Table 37: Population, demography and migration flows in Solomyansky rayon on 01/01/2007	117
Table 38: Population of Kirovogradska oblast 1995-2010	118
Table 39: Indicators of mortality, fertility and natural growth	
of Kirovogradska oblast 1995-2009	119
Table 40: Age composition of Kirovogradska oblast 1995-2009	120
Table 41: Gross Regional Product of Kirovogradska oblast 2004-2008	121
Table 42: Industry in Kirovogradska oblast January 2010	121
Table 43: Average wages in Kirovogradska oblast 2002-2009	122
Table 44: Development of the average monthly nominal and real wages	
in % to the previous year, 2002-2009	122
Table 45: Labour force of Kirovogradska oblast 2000-2009 (in thousands)	123
Table 46: Number of students in higher educational institutions in Kirovogradska oblast	123
Table 47: Unemployment rate and further indicators for Kirovogradska oblast 2000-2009	124
Table 48: The main nationalities in Kirovogradska oblast	124
Table 49: Social-economical indicators of Kirovogradska oblast 2000-2009	125
Table 50: The number of population, area and population density of Znamyanka	125
Table 51: Population of Ternopil oblast 1991-2009	125
Table 52: Birth rate, death rate and natural growth in Ternopil oblast 1995-2009	126
Table 53: Age structure of Ternopil oblast population 1995-2009	127
Table 54: Gross regional product of Ternopil oblast 2004-2009	127
Table 55: Industry in Ternopil oblast (January 2010)	128
Table 56: Income of population of Ternopil oblast in 2002-2009	128
Table 57: Dynamics of average nominal and real income in Ternopil oblast,	
% to the previous year, 2002-2009	129
Table 58: Main indicators for the labour market in Ternopil oblast 2000-2009	129
Table 59: Number of institutions/students of higher education in Ternopil oblast	
(beginning of academic year)	130
Table 60: Number of nationalities living in Ternopil oblast	130
Table 61: Social-economic indicators of Ternopil oblast 2000-2009	131
Table 62: Demographic data of Zbarazh rayon	131

Annexes





Source: Global Property Guide, 2008, https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/, accessed 20/5/2010.



Figure 5: Consumer price indices and producer price indices 2000-2009 (% change to previous year)

Source: www.ukrstat.gov.ua, accessed 22/5/2010.



Source: www.ukrstat.gov.ua, http://uk.wikipedia.org/wiki/%D0%A4%D0%B0%D0%B9%D0%BB:RaionsEdited.GIF, accessed 1/5/2010.
Figure 8: Main minority groups in the Ukraine



Source: State Committee on Nationalities and Migration in Ukraine, 2009.



Figure 10: Unemployed population and reasons of unemployment in 1998 and 2007, in % of total number

Source: State Statistics Committee of Ukraine



Figure 11: Unemployment rates (ILO method) in 2008 and 2009, working age¹³¹ and aged 15-70

Source: State Statistics Committee of Ukraine: http://www.ukrstat.gov.ua/, accessed 30/4/2010.

¹³¹ Working age population: 16-59 (men) and 16-54 (women).





Source: Calculations of National Academy of Sciences; Data taken from a survey on households' living conditions conducted by the State Committee of Statistics.



Source: National Census 2001 http://www.ukrcensus.gov.ua/results/education_population/graphic/, accessed 11/6/2010.





Source: State Statistics Committee of Ukraine.



Figure 15: Religious communities in Ukraine, 2004 (number of communities, in %)

Source: State Committee on Nationalities and Religions.





Source: State Statistics Committee of Ukraine.





Source: Markov (2008).

Figure 20: Nationalities of immigrants in Ukraine, in thsd.



Source: Data on migration situation in Ukraine in 2009, http://www.scnm.gov.ua/control/uk/publish/article?art_id=134359&cat_id=47922, accessed 7/06/2010.

Figure 21: Numbers of refugees and asylum seekers in Ukraine 1996 -2009



Numbers of refugees and asylum seekers in Ukraine, 1996-2009

Source: Data on migration situation in 2009,

http://www.scnm.gov.ua/control/uk/publish/article?art_id=134359&cat_id=47922, accessed 20/5/2010.

Figure 22: Number of person who gained refugee status 1996-2009



Source: Data on migration situation in 2009, http://www.scnm.gov.ua/control/uk/publish/article?art_id=134359&cat_id=47922, accessed 20/5/2010.

Figure 23: Irregular migrants apprehended at the Ukrainian border 2006-2009



Source: State Border Guard Service of Ukraine, http://www.pvu.gov.ua/control/uk/index, accessed 21/05/2010.

Figure 24: Apprehensions within Ukraine and deportations of irregular migrants 2001-2009



Source: State Statistics Committee of Ukraine, accessed 21/05/2010.

Figure 25: The population of Kharkivska oblast 1995-2010



Source: Main Department of Statistics in Kharkivska oblast: http://www.kharkivoda.gov.ua, accessed 4/5/2010.



Source: www.edu.gov.ua, accessed 4/5/2010.

Figure 27: Number of vocational schools in Kharkivska oblast 1995-2009







Source: Main Department of Statistics in Kharkivska oblast: http://www.kharkivoda.gov.ua, accessed 4/05/2010.

Figure 29: Prevalence of drug addiction in terms of Ukraine regions in 2008 in absolute numbers



Source: Official Site of the Ivano-Frankivsk regional drug dispensary, http://drugclinic.mylivepage.com/wiki, accessed 6/5/2010.



Source: Annual statistical reports of the Demographic Department of Kharkiv State/Statistic Management, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005.



Figure 31: Population in Kyiv 1995-2010

Source: Main Department of Statistics in Kyiv, www.gorstat.kiev.ua, accessed 29/04/2010.

Figure 32: Development of monthly average nominal wage in Kyiv in 1995-2009, in UAH



Source: Main Department of Statistics in Kyiv, www.gorstat.kiev.ua, accessed 29/04/2010.

Figure 33: Number of unemployed in Kyiv



Source: Main department of statistics in Kyiv, www.gorstat.kiev.ua, accessed 29/04/2010.



Figure 34: Development of the population in Kirovogradska oblast 1939-2010, in thousand

Source: Main Department of Statistics in Kirovogradska Oblast: http://www.kirstat.kr.ua/, accessed 8/5/2010.

Figure 35: Dynamics of fertility rates in Kirovogradska oblast 1991-2009



Source: Main Department of Statistics in Kirovogradska Oblast: http://www.kirstat.kr.ua/, accessed 8/5/2010.

Figure 36: Registered and reconstructed (prognostic) prevalence of alcoholism in the Kirovogradska oblast 1994-2006



Source: Linskyy et al. (2007).



Source: Linskyy et al. (2007).

Figure 38: Attractiveness of Zbarazh from locals' point of view (2009)



Source: Internet poll 2009, http://1ua.com.ua/infc.php?obl=19&ray=1&City=36apaж, accessed 17/4/2010.

Table 1: Ukraine's human development index 2009

	Value	Index	Ranking
HDI value	X	0,796	85 (from 182 countries)
Life expectancy at birth (years)	68,2	0,720	110 (176)
Adult literacy rate (% ages 15 and older)	99,7	0,960	6 (151)
Combined gross enrolment ratio, %	90,0	0,960	32 (177)
GDP per capita, (PPP US\$)	6 914	0,707	94 (181)

Source: Human Development Report 2009, http://hdrstats.undp.org/en/countries/country_fact_sheets/cty_fs_UKR.html, accessed 21/5/2010.

Table 2: Population (per 1000 population)

	Births rate	Deaths rate	Natural growth (de- crease)
1990	12,6	12,1	0,5
1991	12,1	12,9	-0,8
1992	11,4	13,3	-1,9
1993	10,7	14,2	-3,5
1994	10,0	14,7	-4,7
1995	9,6	15,4	-5,8
1996	9,2	15,2	-6,0
1997	8,7	14,9	-6,2
1998	8,4	14,4	-6,0
1999	7,8	14,9	-7,1
2000	7,8	15,4	-7,6
2001	7,7	15,3	-7,6
2002	8,1	15,7	-7,6
2003	8,5	16,0	-7,5
2004	9,0	16,0	-7,0
2005	9,0	16,6	-7,6
2006	9,8	16,2	-6,4
2007	10,2	16,4	-6,2
2008	11,0	12,1	0,5
2009	11,1	15,3	-4,2 -5,7
2010*	10,7	16,4	-5,7

* January-February 2010

Source: www.ukrstat.gov.ua, accessed 22/5/2010.

Table 3: Birth rate coefficient in Ukraine, 2000- 2010 (per 1,000 present population)

		Birth rate coefficient								
	2000	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010*
	7,8	8,1	8,5	9,0	9,0	9,8	9,3	10,7	11,1	10,7
AR of Crimea oblasts	7,2	8,0	8,7	9,0	9,0	10,1	9,2	10,7	12,0	11,1
Vinnytsya	8,4	8,6	8,6	9,0	8,9	9,6	9,1	10,1	10,9	10,3
Volyn	11,3	11,1	11,3	11,9	12,2	13,2	12,0	14,3	14,7	14,4
Dnipropetrovsk	7,0	7,7	8,3	8,9	8,7	9,8	10,1	11,1	11,1	10,7
Donetsk	6,1	6,5	7,0	7,6	7,7	8,6	8,4	9,7	9,7	9,0
Zhytomyr	8,8	8,9	9,2	9,8	9,6	10,3	9,9	11,2	11,7	11,3
Zakarpattya	11,3	11,3	11,8	12,4	12,6	13,3	13,7	15,4	14,6	14,6
Zaporizhzhya	7,0	7,7	8,0	8,5	8,5	9,3	8,7	10,1	10,1	9,8
Ivano-Frankivsk	10,1	9,9	10,1	10,7	10,8	11,4	11,1	12,2	12,5	12,0
Kyiv	7,4	7,7	8,4	9,0	9,3	9,9	9,5	11,1	12,0	11,4
Kirovohrad	7,8	8,0	8,3	8,6	8,3	9,2	9,6	9,1	10,7	10,3
Luhansk	6,1	6,5	7,0	7,3	7,4	8,3	7,9	9,2	9,3	8,7
Lviv	8,9	9,2	9,6	10,1	10,1	10,6	10,0	10,5	11,8	11,2
Mykolayiv	7,9	8,0	8,9	9,0	8,9	9,7	9,6	10,8	11,0	10,9
Odesa	8,0	8,6	9,2	9,6	9,9	10,4	9,9	11,9	12,1	11,9
Poltava	7,0	7,1	7,4	7,5	7,7	8,7	7,8	9,0	9,8	9,4
Rivne	11,7	11,5	12,0	12,5	12,5	13,6	12,9	15,4	15,2	14,5
Sumy	7,0	6,7	7,2	7,2	7,2	8,3	7,6	8,4	9,1	8,5
Ternopil	9,2	9,2	9,3	9,9	9,9	10,5	9,5	10,8	11,4	10,4
Kharkiv	6,7	7,1	7,5	8,0	7,9	8,5	8,4	9,2	9,8	9,3
Kherson	8,4	8,5	9,1	9,1	9,0	10,2	9,5	11,1	11,2	11,1
Khmelnytskiy	8,5	8,5	8,7	9,1	9,0	9,9	9,3	10,5	11,0	10,5
Cherkasy	7,4	7,4	7,7	7,7	7,7	8,6	8,3	9,9	9,7	9,3
Chernivtsi	10,0	9,8	9,9	10,6	10,9	11,2	10,0	11,4	12,2	12,0
Chernihiv	6,9	7,0	7,2	7,5	7,5	8,1	7,6	8,1	9,4	9,0
City of Kyiv	7,2	8,1	8,8	9,8	9,8	10,4	8,8	10,9	11,7	10,9
Sevastopol	6,9	8,1	8,7	9,7	9,6	10,1	9,4	11,4	11,2	10,4

* January-February 2010

Source: State Statistics Committee of Ukraine: http://www.ukrstat.gov.ua/, accessed 30/4/2010.

Table 4: Population of Kyiv 1995 - 2009

]	otal present popula	tion			
	total, thsd.		of which, thsd.				
	,	males	females	15-24	25-44		
1995	2597,3	1222,1	1375,2	416,1	840,7		
1996	2588,8	1215,9	1372,9	424,3	829,3		
1997	2577,0	1208,9	1368,1	430,2	818,4		
1998	2572,3	1205,0	1367,3	438,5	810,2		
1999	2565,7	1200,0	1365,7	452,2	804,8		
2000	2567,0	1198,5	1368,5	465,3	799,1		
2001	2567,6	1196,3	1371,3	472,5	798,8		
2002	2567,0	1193,4	1373,6	478,3	799,7		
2003	2577,3	1197,0	1380,3	478,3	801,9		
2004	2597,7	1206,0	1391,7	482,7	806,2		
2005	2625,1	1217,9	1407,2	487,0	814,9		
2006	2651,9	1229,0	1422,9	484,1	827,6		
2007	2676,8	1239,3	1437,5	477,8	839,7		
2008	2698,9	1248,1	1450,8	465,9	854,4		
2009	2724,2	1258,7	1465,5	443,5	877,2		

Source: Main Department of Statistics in Kyiv: www.gorstat.kiev.ua, accessed 1/5/2010.

Table 5: Population and age distribution 1990-2009

	Population by	of which aged				
	age at the	0-14	15-24	25-44	45-64	65 and more
	end of the					
	year, thsd.					
1990	51556,5	11084,2	6935,2	14513,2	12849,3	6174,6
1991	51623,5	11029,5	7002,9	14764,5	12497,5	6329,1
1992	51708,2	10951,4	7055,0	14879,3	12314,3	6508,2
1993	51870,4	10915,4	7118,7	15006,7	12139,3	6690,3
1994	51715,4	10767,7	7146,1	14973,0	11965,3	6863,3
1995	51300,4	10528,7	7159,6	14727,0	11924,0	6961,1
1996	50874,1	10246,0	7164,4	14578,3	11826,4	7059,0
1997	50400,0	9952,4	7131,7	14435,2	11827,9	7052,8
1998	49973,5	9624,5	7117,9	14325,9	11878,6	7026,6
1999	49544,8	9206,0	7202,0	14226,8	12008,4	6901,6
2000	49115,0	8781,0	7275,9	14092,2	12147,0	6818,9
2001	48663,6	8373,3	7325,5	13992,0	12128,8	6844,0
2002	48240,9	7949,9	7381,2	13851,5	12079,7	6978,6
2003	47823,1	7569,5	7457,8	13726,8	11875,5	7193,5
2004	47442,1	7246,3	7478,6	13590,9	11757,0	7369,3
2005	47100,5	6989,8	7455,7	13460,6	11687,2	7507,2
2006	46749,2	6764,7	7366,7	13342,8	11707,8	7567,2
2007	46465,7	6606,4	7266,8	13249,5	11739,9	7603,1
2008	46192,3	6501,1	7103,1	13206,6	11874,8	7506,7
2009	45963,4	6476,2	6829,9	13255,5	12084,4	7317,4

Source: www.ukrstat.gov.ua, accessed 1/5/2010.

Table 6: Main minority groups in the Ukraine

Minority group	Number	% share of total
Russians	8 334 100	17.3
Byelorussians	275 800	0.61
Moldavians	258 600	0.55
Crimean Tatars	248 200	0.52
Bulgarians	204 600	0.43
Hungarians	156 600	0.33
Romanians	151 000	0.32
Poles	144 100	0.30
Jews	103 600	0.21
Armenians	99 900	0.21
Greeks	91 500	0.19
Tatars	73 300	0.15
Roma	47 600	0.10
Azerbaijanians	45 200	0.09
Georgians	34 200	0.07
Germans	33 300	0.07

Source: State Committee on Nationalities and Migration in Ukraine,

 $\label{eq:http://www.scnm.gov.ua/control/uk/publish/article?art_id=49793&cat_id=47904&search_param=\%D0\%BD\%D0\%B0\%D0\%B0\%D1\%86\%D1\%96\%D0\%BE\%D0\%BD\%D0\%B0\%D0\%BB\%D1\%8C\%D0\%BD\%D0\%BE\%D1\%81\%D1\%82\%D1\%96+\%D0\%BC.+%D0%9A\%D0\%B8\%D1\%97\%D0\%B2&searchForum=1&searchDocarch=1&searchPublishing=1, accessed 13/5/2010.$

Table 7: Regions and level of ethnic homogeneity

Regions	Level of homogeneity	Oblast
Oblasts that can be denoted	Ukrainians 90-98 percent	Vinnytsya, Volyn, Zhytomyr, Ivano-Frankivsk, Kyiv, Kiro-
as practically homogenous		vohrad, Lviv, Poltava, Rivne, Ternopil, Khmelnytskyy,
		Cherkasy, Chernihiv and Sumy (89%)
Regions of central and	relative homogeneity	City of Kyiv (82% Ukrainians, 13% Russians), Mykolayiv
southern Ukraine		(82%, 14%), Kherson (82%, 14%), Dnipropetrovsk oblast
		(79.3%, 17.6%)
Regions of southern and	share of Russians is about	Zaporizhzhya (71% Ukrainians, 25% Russians), Kharkiv
eastern Ukraine	25%	oblast (70.7%, 25.6 %), and Odessa oblast (63%, 21%)
Degiana (ablacta) of contarn	abara of Ducciona in more	Denetek (500/ Likroiniana, 200/ Duppigna) Lubanak
Regions (oblasts) of eastern	share of Russians is more	Donetsk (58% Ukrainians, 38% Russians), Luhansk
Ukraine	than 1/3 of population	oblast (58%, 39%)
The Crimea republic and the	Russians dominate in popu-	Crimea (58.3% Russians, 24.3% Ukrainians, 12% Crimea
city of Sevastopol	lation size	Tatars); city of Sevastopol – 71.6% Russians, 22.4%
		Ukrainians

Source: Ukrainian Centre for Cultural Studies: http://www.culturalstudies.in.ua/sekcia_s_s4_4.php, accessed 20/5/2010.

Table 8: Political parties of Ukraine

Name of a parliamentary parties	Number of members
"Party of Regions" fraction	172
"Yuliya Tymoshenko Block" ("All-Ukrainian association Batkivshchyna", Ukrainian Social-democratic party, "Reforms and order")	153
"Block "Our Ukraine – People's self-defense" (People's Union "Our Ukraine", political party "Go ahead, Ukraine!", People's Movement of Ukraine, Ukrainian People's Party, Ukrainian Republican party "Sobor", Party "Christian- Democratic Union", European Party of Ukraine, Civil party "PORA", Party of Motherhood defenders)	71
Communist party of Ukraine	27
"Block Lytvyna" fraction (People's party, Workers' Party of Ukraine)	20
Deputies who are not members of any Parliamentary fraction	6

Source: Ministry of Justice of Ukraine, http://www.minjust.gov.ua/0/499, accessed 2/5/2010.

		owing ILO method- ogy)	Average monthly wages, UAH (USD)	GDP per capita,		
	total, aged 15-70	of which of work- ing age ¹³²		USD	Percent Change	
2000	11,6	12,4	230 (44,2)	3324.6	9.14	
2001	10,9	11,7	311 (57,3)	3743.4	12.60	
2002	9,6	10,3	376 (70,8)	4037.1	7.84	
2003	9,1	9,7	462 (86,7)	4554.9	12.82	
2004	8,6	9,2	590 (110,7)	5282.4	15.97	
2005	7,2	7,8	806 (152,1)	5625.9	6.50	
2006	6,8	7,4	1 041 (206,1)	6271.2	11.47	
2007	6,4	6,9	1 351 (267,5)	7001.7	11.65	
2008	6,4	6,9	1 806 (357,6)	7342.1	4.86	
2009	8,8	9,6	1 906 (247,5)	6460.7	-12.00	

Source: www.ukrstat.gov.ua; http://www.bank.gov.ua/kurs/last_kurs1.htm, accessed 5/5/2010.

¹³² Working age population: 16-59 (men) and 16-54 (women).

Table 10: Groups of oblasts as regards their unemployment rate

Groups	Level of unemployment	Oblast
First group	high level of unemployment (9.0% - 12.7%)	Ivano-Frankivsk (9.0%), Mykolayiv (9.3%), Donetsk (9.4%), Volyn (9.4%), Chernivtsi (9.4%), Kherson (9.5%), Khmelnytsk (9.5%), Kirovohrad (9.9%), Zakarpattya (9.9%), Poltava (10.2%), Vinnytsya (10.6%), Zhytomyr (10.7%), Cherkasy (10.8%), Chernihiv (11,1%), Sumy (11.1%), Ternopil (11.3%), Rivne (12.7%)
Second group	average level of unemployment (7.7% - 8.1%)	Kharkiv (7.7%), Luhansk (7.7%), Dnipropetrovsk (7.8%), Zaporizhzhya (8.1%), Kyiv (8.1%), Lviv (8.5%)
Third group	lowest level of unemployment (6.5% - 6.8%)	city of Kyiv (6.5%), AR of Crimea (6.8%), Odessa (6.8%)

Source: http://www.ukrstat.gov.ua/, accessed 7/5/2010.

Table 11: Higher educational institutions of I-II and II-IV levels of accreditation¹³³

	Total education	onal institutions		Total stud	lents, of whic	h
	1st and 2nd levels of ac-	3rd and 4th levels of ac-		levels of accredi- ation	3rd and 4th	levels of accreditation
	creditation	creditation	thsd.	% of total population	thsd.	% of total popula- tion
1995/96	782	255	617,7	1,16	922,8	1,90
1996/97	790	274	595,0	1,04	976,9	2,20
1997/98	660	280	526,4	1,01	1110,0	2,42
1998/99	653	298	503,7	1,02	1210,3	2,59
1999/00	658	313	503,7	1,08	1285,4	2,86
2000/01	664	315	528,0	1,15	1402,9	3,18
2001/02	665	318	561,3	1,21	1548,0	3,50
2002/03	667	330	582,9	1,24	1686,9	3,86
2003/04	670	339	592,9	1,16	1843,8	4,27
2004/05	619	347	548,5	1,15	2026,7	4,31
2005/06	606	345	505,3	1,07	2203,8	4,66
2006/07	570	350	468,0	1,00	2318,6	4,94
2007/08	553	351	441,3	0,95	2372,5	5,09
2008/09	528	353	399,3	0,86	2364,5	5,10
2009/10	511	350	354,2	0,77	2245,2	4,87

Source: www.edu.gov.ua, accessed 21/5/2010.

¹³³ More on such levels of accreditation in Ukraine can be found:

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Higher_education_in_Ukraine;

http://www.education.gov.ua/pls/edu/docs/common/higher_educ_eng.html.

Minority group	of which (in %) live in the following oblasts
Russians	35.4%	Donetsk and Luhansk oblasts, Crimea
Byelorussians	44.9%	Donetsk, Dnipropetrovsk, Crimea, Luhansk
Moldavians	73.8%	Odesssa, Chernivtsi
Bulgarians	73.6%	Odessa
Polish	63.1%	Zhytomyr, Khmelnytskyy, Lviv
Hungarians	96.8%	Zakarpattya
Romanians	97.2%	Chernivtsi, Zakarpattya
Jews	63.3%	city of Kyiv, Dnipropetrovsk, Odessa, Kharkiv, Donetsk oblasts (live mostly in the cities)
Greeks	84.7%	Donetsk
Tatars (except Crimea Tatars)	61.6%	Donetsk, Luhansk, Crimea
Roma	29.4%	Zakarpattya
Gagaus	86.5%	Odessa

Table 12: Percentage proportions of the total number of a minority group residing in various oblasts

Source: Heyts et al. (2009).

Table 13: Net Migration Ukraine 1990 - 2009

Year	Net- Migration
1990	78,3
1991	151,3
1992	287,8
1993	54,5
1994	-142,9
1995	-131,6
1996	-169,2
1997	-136
1998	-152
1999	-138,3
2000	-133,6
2001	-152,2
2002	-33,8
2003	-24,2
2004	-7,6
2005	4,6
2006	14,2
2007	16,8
2008	14,9
2009	13,4

Source: State Statistic Committee of Ukraine, www.ukrstat.gov.ua, accessed 29/05/2010.

Table 14: Net Migration Ukraine, by oblasts 2000 - 2010

				Int	ernationa	al net-m	igration				
					Pe	ersons					
	2000	2001*	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010**
Autonomous Republic of Crimea	-1200	-119	492	20	839	3338	2726	2421	2535	2132	624
Oblasts											
Vinnytsya	-100	-648	-913	-781	-205	131	479	506	644	790	182
Volyn	0	-871	-1050	-828	-541	-432	-361	-337	49	33	33
Dnipropetrovsk	2900	-3913	-3405	-2748	-835	-165	148	115	476	351	287
Donetsk	-1200	-5628	-7490	-2626	-859	132	680	902	986	709	332
Zhytomyr	-700	-1170	-713	-791	-292	-196	-81	-39	118	119	22
Zakarpattya	-1200	-1098	-1271	-1028	-1161	-805	-719	-493	-357	-229	-29
Zaporizhzhya	-100	-1670	-1374	-961	-191	-28	436	243	591	602	209
Ivano-Frankivsk	-100	-290	-358	-414	-315	-179	-79	-87	200	130	45
Kyiv	-2900	-380	-249	-83	83	413	562	521	587	439	156
Kirovohrad	-2400	-327	-593	-602	-386	-153	-76	1	63	92	153
Luhansk	-3600	-3858	-4495	-3939	-1818	-977	-1036	-1503	-449	-445	-35
Lviv	-2800	-1234	-1189	-1123	-576	-407	-280	-201	-33	-107	14
Mykolayiv	-700	-1267	-1005	-719	9	174	440	245	443	498	182
Odesa	-700	-282	357	181	1258	2103	7830	10981	3966	2951	842
Poltava	1200	-772	-1134	-719	-229	-77	148	70	79	194	95
Rivne	-600	-1062	-1239	-1401	-669	-771	-577	-584	-266	-135	–18
Sumy	-2000	-291	-672	-701	-335	-116	46	-106	108	180	39
Ternopil	-900	-252	-333	-399	-224	-259	-76	-198	1	7	24
Kharkiv	3100	-2761	-2943	-2139	-560	790	655	1311	1733	523	162
Kherson	2100	-1096	-1153	-588	-334	-88	-2	-6	8	157	66
Khmelnytskiy	-1800	-477	-614	-458	-166	-12	33	123	184	245	71
Cherkasy	300	-560	-464	-179	-28	210	253	206	253	329	70
Chernivtsi	100	-708	-560	-655	-510	-293	-166	99	250	395	86
Chernihiv	-70	-665	-989	-794	-424	-194	34	-63	-27	318	96
City of Kyiv	16900	-1977	-186	275	683	1911	2777	2170	2055	2716	602
Sevastopol agglomeration	1300	-95	-248	-10	171	533	451	541	682	453	196

* Information for 9 months

**Information for January-March 2010 p.

Source: State Statistic Committee of Ukraine, www.ukrstat.gov.ua, accessed 29/05/2010.

Table 15: Statistics Ukrainian labour migrants in the EU countries and the Russian Federation

Country	Poland	Chehia	Ireland	Great Britain	Russia
Number Official/Expert Data	16 469/Over 450 000	64 000/200 000	3 500/ Over 10 000	10 000/70 000	169 000/ Over 2 000 000
Average Age	2 groups: Guest workers – aged 40 Students – aged 25	Aged 25-45	Aged 30	Aged 30	Aged 40-45
Sex % male/female	33/67	Male prevail	55/45	60/40	80/20
Education %	75 – secondary, seconda ry special; 20 – high; 5 – highly qualified specialists.	Persons with high and secondary special education prevail; Large number of persons with high incomplete education (students).	secondary special – nearly 25%;	80 – secondary; 20 – high, highly qualified specialists.	secondary or secondary incomple- te – nearly 20%; secondary special – nearly 65%; high or high incomplete – over 15%.
Regional Concentration	60% Warsaw and the suburbs; 30% state bordering territories.	The majority stay in Prague, Brno and other industrial centres.	70% – Large cities – Dublin, Cork; 30% farms in the North.	London, Manchester, small towns, farms.	Moskva, near Moskve Region and St. Petersburg – 80%; Southern Volga region (Samara); Northern-European part; Central-Western Siberia; The Far East – 20%

Country	Italy	Spain	Portugal	Greece
Number Official/Expert Data	195 412/ Nearly 600 000	69 903/Over 200 000	37 851/75 000	Nearly 20 000; in 2001 – 60–80 thousand
Average Age	Aged 41-60	Aged 20-45	Aged 40-45	Nearly 50 years of age
Sex % male/femle	16,8/83,2	54/46	62/38	Under 30/Over 70
Education %	 secondary or secondary incomplete - nearly 15; secondary special - nearly 50; high or high incomplete over 35. 	– high – 48; – secondary special – 44; – secondary – 8.	– high and secondary special – 70; – secondary – 30.	– high and secondary special – 70%; – secondary – 30%.
Regional Concentration	North 25%; Centre 25%; South and islands 50%.	Ukrainian immigrants stay in all Spanish provinces and on the islands; Territories of largest concentration: Comunidad Madrid, Catalonia, Comunidad Valenciana, Andalucia.	12,8% – North; 65% – Centre; 18,5% – South; 3,8% – islands.	In general, megapolis Athens, Thessaloniki, PATRI'DA, Volos and the islands of Crete and Rhodes, where immigrants go for works of seasonal nature.
Country	The Netherlands	Germany	Belgium	Other Countries of the EU
Number of People Official Expert Data Data	40 000	128 110	30 000	32 465
Totally in the World		Nearly 4 500 000 Ukr	ainian Labor Immigran	ts

Source: Markov et al. (2009).

Table 16: Number and proportion of Ukrainians in the EU, several years

Country name	Number of immigrants	% of immigrants against country of residence population	Number of Ukrainians	% of total number of Ukrainians in the EU	100% of all immi- grants
Germany (in 2004)	7.287.980	8,8	128.110	25,2	1,8
Spain	4.002.509	9,1	50.450	11,7	1,8
France (in 1999)	3.263.186	5,6	2.689	0,5	0,1
Great Britain (in 2004)	3.066.055	5,2	_	-	-
Italy	2.286.024	3,9	93.441	18,4	3,9
Belgium	900.500	8,6		-	-
Greece (in 2003)	891.197	8,1	13.616	2,7	1,8
Austria	814.065	9,8	3.449	0,7	0,5
Poland (in 2001)	700.329	1,8	27.062	5,3	34,7
Netherlands	691.357	4,2	2.605	0,5	0,4
Sweden	479.899	5,3	1.701	0,3	0,4
Latvia	456.758	19,9	2.338	0,5	0,5
Portugal	432.000	4,1	65.800	12,9	14,6
Ireland	314.100	7,4	1.420	0,3	0,6
Estonia (in 1999)	274.309	20	2.864	0,6	1,0
Denmark	270.051	5,0	1.875	0,4	0,7
Czech Republic	258.360	2,5	78.263	15,4	30,8
Luxemburg	181.800	39,6	180	0,0	0,1
Hungary	156.160	1,5	13.945	2,7	9,7
Finland	113.852	2,2	1.298	0,3	1,2
Cyprus	98.100	13,1	1.259	0,2	1,9
Slovenia	48.968	2,4	867	0,2	2,0
Lithuania	32.862	1,0	2.128	0,4	6,6
Romania	25.993	0,1	_	_	_
Bulgaria (in 2000)	25.634	0,3	_	_	_
Slovakia	25.563	0,5	4.003	0,8	18,1
Malta (in 2004)	11.999	3,0	_	-	0

Source: Markov et al. (2009).

Table 17: Categories of immigrants in accordance with the second part of Article 4 of the Law of Ukraine "On immigration"

Regions	Categorie	s of immigrants in	accordance with the	second part of	f Article 4 of t	he Law of Ukraine "On immig	ration"
	scientists	investors in	persons who are	persons,	parents,	persons who have con-	Total
		Ukraine's	brother or sister,	who had	husband	tinuously lived in Ukraine	
		economy	grandfather or	citizenszip	(wife) of	for three years from the	
		(investment	grandmother, or	of Ukraine	immigrant	granting of refugee status	
		should be no	granddaughter or	before	and his	or asylum in Ukraine, as	
		less then 100	grandson of citi-		minor	well as their parents, hus-	
		thousand \$)	zens of Ukraine		children	bands (wives) and minor	
						children who live with them	
AR of Crimea	10	Without	300	5	300	20	635
		limitations					
oblasts							
Vinnytsya	10	_''_	30	5	120	76	241
Volyn	10	_**_	10	10	15		45
Dnipropetrovsk	10	_''-	150	10	250	25	445
Donetsk	10	_''_	250	50	300	9	619
Zhytomyr	10	_''_	50	20	100	1	181
Zakarpattya	25	_''_	25	5	50	10	115
Zaporizhzhya	10	_''_	120	5	120	7	262
Ivano-Frankivsk	10	-"-	40	2	45		97
Kyiv	10	_''_	70	3	130	1	214
Kirovohrad	10	_''_	60	5	35	6	116
Luhansk	10	_''_	150	15	200	13	388
Lviv	25	_''_	100	10	100	7	241
Mykolayiv	10	_''-	70	5	105		190
Odesa	25	_''-	210	7	230	161	633
Poltava	10	_''-	150	10	80	31	281
Rivne	10	_''_	15	5	20	11	61
Sumy	10	_"_	15	1	40		66
Ternopil	10	_''_	20	15	20	59	124
Kharkiv	25	_''_	250	10	500	347	1132
Kherson	10	_''_	80	10	80	-	180
Khmelnytskiy	10	_''_	65	10	25	35	145
Cherkasy	10	_''_	35	10	45	13	113
Chernivtsi	10	_''_	15	2	25	7	59
Chernihiv	10	_''_	60	10	60	16	156
City of Kyiv	25	_''_	300	10	400	1512	2247
Sevastopol	10	_''_	90	3	100	1	204
Total number	345		2730	253	3495	2368	9191
Source: Instr	ruction from	n 17 Febr	uary 2010. N	231-р,	On imm	igration quota for	2010

http://zakon.rada.gov.ua/cgi-bin/laws/main.cgi?nreg=231-2010-%F0, accessed 5/5/2010.

Table 18: The population of Kharkivska oblast 1995-2008

		F	POPULAT	ION		
					(as of	January 1)
	Existing population	on		Resident popula	ation	
	Total, thousand persons	Incluc	ding	Total, thousand persons	Inclu	uding
	rotal, thousand persons	urban	rural	rotal, thousand persons	males	females
1995	3123.3	2465.8	657.5	3104.4	1426.0	1678.4
1996	3087.8	2433.4	654.4	3069.7	1410.6	1659.1
1997	3053.9	2402.4	651.5	3036.5	1395.3	1641.2
1998	3022.7	2374.7	648.0	3005.9	1381.6	1624.3
1999	2994.5	2351.3	643.2	2979.5	1369.8	1609.7
2000	2965.9	2328.1	637.8	2951.3	1356.1	1595.2
2001	2937.3	2308.7	628.6	2921.8	1341.8	1580.0
2002	2914.2	2288.7	625.5	2895.8	1328.9	1566.9
2003	2887.9	2272.0	615.9	2872.3	1317.9	1554.4
2004	2866.7	2259.9	606.8	2851.1	1308.1	1543.0
2005	2848.4	2251.5	596.9	2832.7	1299.1	1533.6
2006	2829.0	2243.0	586.0	2813.4	1289.8	1523.6
2007	2812.1	2235.2	576.9	2796.5	1282.5	1514.0
2008	2795.9	2227.4	568.5	2780.3	1275.4	1504.9
2009	2782.4	2221.5	560.9	2766.8	1269.5	1497.3
2010	2769.1	2214.1	555	2751.9		

Table 19: Mortality and birth rates in Kharkivska oblast 1995-2009

	Number of births, persons	The share of children born from women who have not been in registered marriage, percent	Number of deaths, persons	Natural growth of population, persons	Migration beyond the region, growth (-reduction) of population, thousand people	Number of registered marriages, units	Number of registered divorces, units
1995	24840	17.2	51231	-26391	-9.1	26833	13651
1996	23396	16.6	48700	-25304	-8.6	18237	13671
1997	22192	19.1	47817	-25625	-5.6	21023	12783
1998	21384	21.2	44823	-23439	-4.8	19557	12845
1999	19845	22.9	46579	-26734	-1.9	21767	12151
2000	19939	22.5	48468	-28529	-0.1	16636	13780
2001	19514	23.1	45829	-26315	0.0	19074	12685
2002	20679	23.9	46454	-25775	2.7	19462	12335
2003	21510	25.0	46765	-25255	4.1	22779	11606
2004	22782	25.6	46778	-23996	5.7	16161	11049
2005	22451	26.9	46941	-24490	5.1	19667	11620
2006	24025	26.0	45496	-21471	4.6	20507	11454
2007	25269	25.8	45512	-20243	4.0	24732	11390
2008	27207	25.4	45109	-17902	4.4	19110	10744
2009	27226	25.5	42544	-15318	2.0	18707	8936

Table 20: The age structure of Kharkivska oblast population 1995-2009

	Distribution of					Inclue	ding age:		
	resident popula- tion by age at the beginning of the year, thousand persons	0-14	15-24	25-44	45-64	65 and older	Younger than able-bodied	Able-bodied	Older than able-bodied
1995	3104.4	586.7	445.2	908.8	717.8	445.9	628.5	1765.7	710.2
1996	3069.7	565.4	445.4	894.7	718.3	445.9	609.6	1750.6	709.5
1997	3036.5	543.8	444.8	883.4	722.4	442.1	586.9	1737.2	712.4
1998	3005.9	520.3	445.9	873.4	733.7	432.6	564.3	1727.5	714.1
1999	2979.5	492.5	454.0	865.1	749.7	418.2	540.4	1728.1	711.0
2000	2951.3	465.1	459.5	855.6	762.7	408.4	510.8	1734.8	705.7
2001	2921.8	439.7	462.1	850.3	762.3	407.4	483.4	1741.4	697.0
2002	2895.8 ²	412.7	464.7	839.5	758.3	416.0	457.1	1736.9	697.2
2003	2872.3	390.0	470.9	835.5	741.4	434.5	432.7	1751.0	688.6
2004	2851.1	371.3	471.4	828.9	731.0	448.5	411.0	1758.7	681.4
2005	2832.7	357.3	469.4	822.9	723.9	459.2	393.8	1759.1	679.8
2006	2813.4	345.0	460.9	819.0	726.2	462.3	379.3	1758.0	676.1
2007	2796.5	336.3	451.0	817.0	728.9	463.3	368.6	1749.6	678.3
2008	2780.3	331.9	436.8	816.5	740.3	454.8	361.0	1739.1	680.2
2009	2766.8	332.3	415.9	821.6	757.6	439.4	358.6	1724.3	683.9

Table 21: The Gross Regional Product in Kharkivska oblast 2004-2008

Gross Regional Product									
	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008				
Total, at current prices, million UAH	20524	25618	32023	43868	59389				
Per capita, at current prices, UAH	7182	9025	11353	15645	21294				
In comparable prices, the percentage on previous year	112,2	104,8	107,5	107,2	102,1				

Source: Main Department of Statistics in Kharkivska oblast: http://uprstat.kharkov.ukrtel.net, accessed 5/05/2010.

Table 22: Development of income in Kharkivska oblast 2002-2008.

Population Income									
	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	
Total Incomes, mio UAH	11253	13395	16524	22926	28188	37835	51971	53803	
Available income per capita, UAH	2929.1	3468.9	4489.6	6355.7	7819.6	10328.5	14065.7	14902.2	
Real disposable income, in percent to previous year	122.6	110.8	114.5	124.2	114.0	115.8	105.8	89.1	

Source: Main Department of Statistics in Kharkivska oblast, http://uprstat.kharkov.ukrtel.net, accessed 5/5/2010.

Table 23: Dynamics of the average nominal and real wages in percent to the previous year, 2002-2009

	Nominal wages in percent to the previous year	Real wages in percent to the previous year
2002	119,7	121,0
2003	122,7	116,9
2004	125,1	118,0
2005	133,4	118,0
2006	128,4	119,4
2007	128,4	111,1
2008	134,3	104,0
2009	107,4	90,4

Source: Main Department of Statistics in Kharkivska oblast: http://uprstat.kharkov.ukrtel.net, accessed on 5/05/2010.

Table 24: National composition of the population

		in %	
	in thsd .	1989	2001
Ukrainians	2048,7	62,8	70,7
Russians	742,0	33,2	25,6
Belarusians	14,7	0,7	0,5
Jews	11,5	1,5	0,4
Armenians	11,1	0,3	0,4
Azeris	5,6	0,2	0,2
Georgians	4,4	0,1	0,2

Source: Ukrainian National Census 2001, http://www.ukrcensus.gov.ua/, accessed 4/5/2010.
Table 25: Language composition of the population in Kharkivska oblast

	Co	nsidered native lan	iguage, percent	
	Language of their nationality	Ukrainian	Russian	Another lan- guage
Ukrainians	74.1	x	25.8	0.1
Russian	95.6	4.3	х	0.1
Belarusians	22.7	17.0	60.0	0.3
Jews	1.3	5.0	93.5	0.2
Armenians	45.7	4.8	49.1	0.4
Azeris	57.2	4.8	37.4	0.6
Georgians	40.7	6.0	52.9	0.4
Tatars	19.7	5.3	74.3	0.7
Moldovan	32.1	20.6	45.2	2.1
Vietnamese	98.3	-	1.6	0.1
Gypsies	62.4	16.3	20.1	1.2
Other nationalities	12.9	4.8	21.0	61.3

Source: Ukrainian National Census 2001, http://www.ukrcensus.gov.ua/, accessed 4/5/2010.

Table 26: Population and total area Novovodolaz'ki rayon

		The number of popu	The area,					
		thousand peop	thsd. sq km					
	total amount	Urban	rural					
Novovodolaz'ka	39 197	14201	24 996	1,182				
rayon								

Source: Main Department of Statistics in Kharkivska oblast, http://uprstat.kharkov.ukrtel.net, accessed 5/5/2010.

Table 27: Natural population growth in Kyiv

	Total amount		January– December	per 1,000 population	on
	January– December 2009p. January– 2008p. 2008p. 2009p. in % to January– December 2008p. 2008p.		January– December	January– December 2009p.	January– December 2008p.
Births, persons					
	32488	31965	101,6	11,7	11,6
Deaths, persons	28292	30067	94,1	10,2	10,9
Natural increase/decrease of					
the population, persons	4196	1898	221,1	1,5	0,7
Marriages					
	22774	21694	105,0	8,2	7,9
Divorces					
	9285	10091	92,0	3,3	3,7

	Population										
	by age at					of	high ago				
	the end of					Of W	hich age				
	the year,										
	thsd.	0-14	15-24	25-44	45-64	65 and	Before the	Employment	Over the em-		
						more	employment	age	ployment age		
							age				
1995	2597,3	515,7	416,1	840,7	580,4	244,4	553,6	1619	424,7		
1996	2588,8	496,6	424,3	829,3	592	246,6	537,4	1619,8	431,6		
1997	2577	475,9	430,2	818,4	605,8	246,7	515,6	1620,7	440,7		
1998	2572,3	453,6	438,5	810,2	623,5	246,5	495,1	1626,8	450,4		
1999	2565,7	425,1	452,2	804,8	640,9	242,7	470,8	1638,5	456,4		
2000	2567	399,7	465,3	799,1	660	242,9	442,7	1659,4	464,9		
2001	2567,6	378,2	472,5	798,8	669,6	248,5	417,2	1681,3	469,1		
2002	2567	355,4	478,3	799,7	675,8	257,8	394,5	1693,8	478,7		
2003	2577,3	344,3	478,3	801,9	674,5	278,3	376	1712,4	488,9		
2004	2597,7	336	482,7	806,2	677,9	294,9	372	1727,1	498,6		
2005	2625,1	331	487	814,9	682,6	309,6	364,5	1748,9	511,7		
2006	2651,9	329,2	484,1	827,6	691,6	319,4	359,5	1769,1	523,3		
2007	2676,8	330,9	477,8	839,7	699,5	328,9	359,1	1777,7	540		
2008	2698,9	335,3	465,9	854,4	713,2	330,1	361	1781,6	556,4		
2009	2724,2	346	443,5	877,2	728,7	328,7	369,3	1782,8	572,1		

Table 29: Gross regional product in Kyiv (million UAH)

	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008
Total, in actual prices, million UAH	61357	77124	95267	135900	169564
Counted per capita, in actual prices, UAH	23130	28780	35210	49795	61592

Source: Main Department of Statistics in Kyiv, www.gorstat.kiev.ua, accessed 29/04/2010.

Table 30: Income in Kyiv

	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008
Incomes, total million UAH	17653	22769	30594	43348	57307	77435	109781
Incomes per capita, UAH	4257,3	5541,8	7584,8	10683,3	13566,9	18233,2	24960,2

	group		group		aged 15–70 o years old		the em- ployment age		aged 15–70 years old			e employ- nent age
	thsd.	%share of proper age group	average, thsd.	% share of proper age	aver- age, thsd.	% share of proper age group	aver- age, thsd.	% share of proper age group	aver- age, thsd.	% share of economi- cally active population of proper age group	aver- age, thsd.	% share of eco- nomically active popula- tion of proper age group
2000	1333,3	66,2	_	_	1218,3	60,5	_	_	115,0	8,6	_	_
2001	1342,3	66,0	_	_	1259,4	61,9	_	_	82,9	6,2	_	_
2002	1365,9	66,5	_	_	1279,7	62,3	_	_	86,2	6,3	_	_
2003	1403,0	67,7	_	_	1334,9	64,4	_	_	68,1	4,9	_	_
2004	1416,4	67,4	_	_	1348,9	64,2	_	_	67,5	4,8	_	_
2005	1412,6	66,2	1310,6	73,6	1352,0	63,3	1250,0	70,2	60,6	4,3	60,6	4,6
2006	1425,7	65,9	1333,2	74,1	1375,6	63,6	1283,1	71,3	50,1	3,5	50,1	3,8
2007	1450,3	66,5	1351,9	74,9	1405,3	64,4	1307,2	72,4	45,0	3,1	44,7	3,3
2008	1465,7	66,9	1359,1	75,2	1420,2	64,9	1313,7	72,7	45,5	3,1	45,4	3,3
2009	1477,5	67,5	1348,7	74,7	1381,0	63,1	1252,9	69,4	96,5	6,5	95,8	7,1

Table 32: Number of students/institutions of higher education

	education of t	itutions of higher he I-IV levels of ditation	Number of students at institutions of higher education of the I-IV levels of accreditation thsd.			
	I-II levels of accreditation	III-IV levels of accreditation	I-II levels of accreditation	III-IV levels of accreditation		
1995/96	48	45	44,2	165		
1996/97	46	49	41,9	178,9		
1997/98	46	52	42,4	196,8		
1998/99	47	63	43,8	218,7		
1999/00	46	65	42,8	237,7		
2000/01	46	66	44,9	259,9		
2001/02	49	67	50	292,3		
2002/03	47	67	54,9	322,4		
2003/04	50	66	59,2	356,2		
2004/05	50	65	71,9	431,4		
2005/06	51	65	45,1	525,7		
2006/07	50	63	43,5	566,6		
2007/08	50	68	41	586,6		
2008/09	45	68	33,9	593,3		
2009/10	44	69	29,8	560,8		

Source: Main Department of Statistics in Kyiv www.gorstat.kiev.ua, accessed 29/04/2010.

Table 33: Secondary schools in Kyiv

	Number of schools	Number of pupils in schools, total amount, thsd.	Number of teachers, thsd.
1995/96	398	349,6	23,9
1996/97	410	351,3	24,0
1997/98	423	348,0	23,2
1998/99	452	342,7	23,5
1999/00	469	334,9	23,8
2000/01	497	327,0	23,7
2001/02	520	318,5	24,0
2002/03	525	306,1	23,7
2003/04	529	290,4	23,4
2004/05	532	277,0	23,4
2005/06	534	261,1	23,3
2006/07	534	248,5	22,4
2007/08	535	238,8	22,3
2008/09	534	231,3	21,9
2009/10	531	230,1	22,0

Table 34: Number of schools and students at institutions teaching practice and techniques orientated studies

	Number of the institutions at the end of a year	Number of students, thsd. people	Entered institution, thsd people	Finished institu- tion, thsd. people
1995	48	24,8	14,6	13,4
1996	45	24,6	15,1	12,9
1997	45	24,2	15,9	12,5
1998	36	23,6	14,3	12,7
1999	33	24,0	14,6	12,1
2000	33	23,7	14,2	12,8
2001	33	22,7	14,1	12,6
2002	31	22,0	12,9	12,1
2003	31	19,3	13,0	11,4
2004	32	22,9	13,6	11,4
2005	32	23,1	12,6	10,9
2006	31	21,1	11,4	11,5
2007	32	20,3	11,5	11,0
2008	31	19,4	10,7	10,3
2009	31	18,3	9,0	9,0

Table 35: Ethnic groups in Kyiv 1989 and 2001

	Number	% shai	re of total	2001
	(thousand persons)	1989	2001	in % of 1989
Ukrainians	2110,8	72,5	82,2	113,3
Russians	337,3	20,9	13,1	62,8
Jews	17,9	3,9	0,7	17,9
Byelorussians	16,5	1,0	0,6	65,5
Poles	6,9	0,4	0,3	66,3
Armenians	4,9	0,2	0,2	108,9
Azerbaijanians	2,6	0,1	0,1	93,2
Tatars	2,5	0,1	0,1	70,6
Georgians	2,4	0,1	0,1	120,5
Moldavians	1,9	0,1	0,1	60,5

Source: Ukrainian National Census 2001, http://www.ukrcensus.gov.ua/results/general/nationality/city_kyiv/, accessed on 03/05/2010.

Table 36: Migration of population in Kyiv, by district, 2007-2009

		2007			2008			2009	
	total arrivals	total departures	Increase	total arrivals	total departures	increase	total arrivals	total depar- tures	increase
Kyiv	54885	30082	24803	54948	31548	23400	47660	32256	15404
incl.									
Districts									
Golosiyvsky	8622	4986	3636	8724	5452	3272	8081	5532	2549
Darnytsky	5295	3877	1418	5287	3910	1377	4500	3762	738
Desnyansky									
(Trojeshchyna)	3811	2267	1544	3775	2493	1282	3558	2396	1162
Dniprovsky	4798	2108	2690	4773	2038	2735	3682	2350	1332
Obolonsky	3669	2455	1214	3568	2532	1036	3117	2474	643
Pechersky	4201	3177	1024	3981	2814	1167	3586	3078	508
Podilsky	2153	1192	961	2179	1230	949	1686	1299	387
Svyatoshynsky	3822	1929	1893	4153	2225	1928	3411	2262	1149
Solomyansky	12902	5557	7345	12656	6148	6508	11261	6253	5008
Shevchekivsky	5612	2534	3078	5852	2706	3146	4778	2850	1928

Table 37: Population, demography and migration flows in Solomyansky rayon on 01/01/2007

The area	thsd. sq km	0,04
Total amount of population	thsd. persons	319,6
Urban		319,6
Rural		-
Population density	people on 1 sq. km	7990
Working age population	thsd. persons	185,9
Demographic data, trends		
Births	persons	3005
Deaths	persons	3317
Migration processes:		
total arrivals	persons	12526
total departures	persons	5475
migration growth (increase)	persons	7051

Source: Kyiv city council, http://www.kmv.gov.ua/divinfo.asp?Id=197574, accessed 12/06/2010

		F	OPULAT	ION		
					(as c	of January 1)
	Existing population	n	Resident populat	tion		
	Total, thousand persons	Inclu	ding	Total, thousand persons	Inc	luding
		urban	rural		males	females
1995	1236.2	756.1	480.1	1224.9	561.5	663.4
1996	1224.8	749.4	475.4	1213.4	556.6	656.8
1997	1210.8	738.5	472.3	1199.6	550.7	648.9
1998	1196.4	728.1	468.3	1185.9	544.3	641.6
1999	1180.8	716.8	464.0	1171.6	538.0	633.6
2000	1164.5	705.2	459.3	1156.0	530.8	625.2
2001	1146.9	692.2	454.7	1140.0	523.4	616.6
2002*	1133.0	682.0	451.0	1125.7	516.6	609.1
2003	1115.7	673.4	442.3	1109.3	508.6	600.7
2004	1100.0	666.5	433.5	1093.6	501.1	592.5
2005	1083.9	659.2	424.7	1077.5	493.3	584.2
2006	1067.2	651.7	415.5	1060.8	485.2	575.6
2007	1053.1	644.3	408.8	1046.7	478.5	568.2
2008	1039.7	637.7	402.0	1033.3	472.2	561.1
2009	1027.0	631.7	395.3	1020.6	466.4	554.2
2010	1017.8	627.9	389.9	1011.4	621.8	389.0

Source: http://www.kirstat.kr.ua/stat_inf_rik_demogr.htm

*National Census on the 5th of December 2001.

¹³⁴ Data on the population size cover the 'existing' and 'resident population' of Ukraine. Population estimates are based on the most recent population census results, population registration records and registration cards of the place of residence. 'Existing population' is the number of population at the given time (in the case of the Census 2001 and the estimate of the given year), which also includes the temporary residents (not exceeding 12 month period of stay). 'Resident population' includes the population that is 'temporarily absent' (not exceeding 12 months of absence).

	Number of births, persons	Number of deaths, persons	Natural growth, persons
1995	12289	21840	-9551
1996	11663	21414	-9751
1997	10558	20782	-10224
1998	9746	19663	-9917
1999	9181	20481	-11300
2000	9105	20821	–11716
2001	8685	19808	–11123
2002	8936	20183	-11247
2003	9178	20125	-10947
2004	9392	19933	-10541
2005	8967	20187	-11220
2006	9755	19093	-9338
2007	10076	19219	-9143
2008	10538	19272	-8734
2009	10916	17793	-6877

Table 39: Indicators of mortality, fertility and natural growth of Kirovogradska oblast 1995-2009

Source: http://www.kirstat.kr.ua/stat_inf_rik_demogr.htm, accessed 5/5/2010

Table 40: Age composition of Kirovogradska oblast 1995-2009

	Distribution of resident popula- tion by age at the beginning of								
	tion by age at the beginning of the year, thousand persons		15- 24	25- 44	45- 64	65 and older	Younger than able- bodied	Able- bodied	Older than able- bodied
1995	1224,9	245,8	163,8	330,4	290,4	194,5	261,8	664,8	298,3
1996	1213,4	240,5	162,2	328,0	288,6	194,1	257,0	659,2	297,2
1997	1199,6	234,7	159,0	325,6	290,4	189,9	250,7	651,7	297,2
1998	1185,9	228,2	156,1	323,8	293,6	184,2	244,0	643,8	298,1
1999	1171,6	219,5	155,3	321,9	298,0	176,9	236,7	637,5	297,4
2000	1156,0	210,0	155,0	318,3	300,8	171,9	227,3	632,2	296,5
2001	1140,0	200,4	154,5	316,4	298,4	170,3	217,8	630,2	292,0
2002*	1125,7	189,6	154,8	312,9	296,2	172,2	208,1	625,8	291,8
2003	1109,3	179,8	156,7	308,5	287,2	177,1	197,4	625,0	286,9
2004	1093,6	171,3	157,0	304,8	279,4	181,1	188,1	623,0	282,5
2005	1077,5	164,0	156,3	299,5	273,3	184,4	179,8	617,8	279,9
2006	1060,8	156,9	154,4	294,3	270,3	184,9	172,1	613,5	275,2
2007	1046,7	151,1	152,7	289,0	267,9	186,0	165,9	607,6	273,2
2008	1033,3	146,9	150,4	284,3	267,8	183,9	160,4	602,0	270,9
2009	1020,6	144,0	146,1	281,1	269,9	179,5	156 ,6	594,7	269,3
2010	1011,4								

*According to Ukraine nationwide census on December 5, 2001

Source: http://www.kirstat.kr.ua/stat_inf_rik_demogr.htm, accessed 28/4/2010.

Table 41: Gross Regional Product of Kirovogradska oblast 2004-2008

Gross Regional Product								
2004 2005 2006 2007 20								
Total, at current prices, million UAH	5594	6877	8187	9989	13961			
Per capita, at current prices, UAH	5122	6394	7723	9546	13515			
In comparable prices, the percentage of previous year	118,9	102,4	105,1	97,9	113,7			

Source: http://www.ukrstat.gov.ua/, accessed 8/5/2010.

Table 42: Industry in Kirovogradska oblast January 2010

Structure of industry sectors by economic activity	Share, %
Industry	100,0
Mining	4,4
Processing Industry	86,4
including:	
Food, beverages and tobacco	46,4
Light Industry	0,4
Extraction of timber and wood products manufacturing	0,8
Pulp and paper, printing and publishing industry	0,7
Chemical and petrochemical industry	2,8
Manufacture of other non-metallic mineral products (building materials and glass)	4,7
Metallurgy and metal processing	11,8
Mechanical engineering, repair and installation of machinery and equipment	19,0
Production and distribution of electricity, water and gas	0,9

Source: http://www.kirstat.kr.ua/, accessed 8/5/2010.

Table 43: Average wages in Kirovogradska oblast 2002-2009

Population Income									
	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	
Total Income, million UAH	3722	4335	5372	7451	8991	11602	15452	16172	
Available income per cap- ita, UAH	2576,6	3050,0	3885,5	5568,6	6672,0	8564,6	11489,3	11757,6	
Real disposable income, in % to previous year	117,9	107,9	112,1	122,7	110,0	114,9	107,4	89,9	

Source: http://www.ukrstat.gov.ua/, accessed 8/5/2010.

Table 44: Development of the average monthly nominal and real wages in % to the previous year, 2002-2009

	Nominal wa	ages in % to	Real wages in % to				
	Previous year December to December to December to December the previous year		Previous year	December to December of the previous year			
2002	121,9	118,7	123,3	120,1			
2003	125,2	126,9	116,4	113,0			
2004	129,1	129,4	120,2	117,1			
2005	137,1	146,6	119,7	133,8			
2006	131,3	126,3	121,9	114,8			
2007	128,7	127,3	114,3	110,0			
2008	135,5	120,9	108,8	98,9			
2009	107,6	117,9	95,0	107,1			

Source: http://www.kirstat.kr.ua/stat_inf_rik_dohody.htm#2, accessed 8/5/2010.

Table 45: Labour force of Kirovogradska oblast 2000-2009 (in thousands)

	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009
Economically active population	511,1	507,2	517,8	504,4	499,3	501,5	500,2	503,2	499,2	480,3
working age	493,3	489,4	480,1	471,6	467,7	460	460,1	461,3	458,7	435,9
older working age	17,8	17,8	37,7	32,8	31,6	41,5	40,1	41,9	40,5	44,4
Occupied population	435,2	429,3	470	454,9	457,5	457,5	458,9	462,4	459,1	432,7
working age	419	412	433,3	422,1	413,7	416	418,8	420,5	418,6	388,3
older working age	16,2	17,3	36,7	32,8	30,8	41,5	40,1	41,9	40,5	44,4
Unemployed population	75,9	77,9	47,8	49,5	54,8	44	41,3	40,8	40,1	47,6
(ILO methodology)										
working age	74,3	77,3	46,8	49,5	54	44	41,3	40,8	40,1	47,6
older working age	1,6	0,6	1,0	-	0,8	-		-	-	-

Source: http://www.ukrstat.gov.ua/, accessed 28/4/2010.

Table 46: Number of students in higher educational institutions in Kirovogradska oblast

Academic year	Number of students in the	Number of students in the institutions, thousand persons							
	I-II levels of accreditation	III-IV levels of accreditation							
1995/96	11,8	12,2							
1996/97	11,2	12,7							
1997/98	10,4	14,5							
1998/99	10,4	15,7							
1999/00	10,8	17,5							
2000/01	11,2	17,7							
2001/02	12,0	18,3							
2002/03	12,5	19,0							
2003/04	12,5	20,4							
2004/05	12,2	20,4							
2005/06	12,3	20,8							
2006/07	11,0	21,8							
2007/08	10,8	22,2							
2008/09	10,2	22,0							
2009/10	9,0	20,8							

Source: http://www.kirstat.kr.ua/stat_inf_rik_osvita.htm#3, accessed 9/5/2010.

Table 47: Unemployment rate and further indicators for Kirovogradska oblast 2000-2009

	Econom	nically active	The need for	Number of unemployed per va-	Unem-	Duration of
	population,		labour at the	cancy, vacant position at the end	ployed	unemployed
			end of the	of the year, persons ¹³⁶	(following	(following ILO
			year, thousand		ILO meth-	methodology),
	thsd.	% of the	persons ¹³⁵		odology),	month
		total popula-			%	
		tion				
2000	511,1	61,5	1,2	27	14,9	9
2001	504,9	61,2	2,4	11	15,2	10
2002	517,8	63,2	2,9	11	9,2	9
2003	504,4	61,8	3,1	11	9,8	9
2004	499,3	61,4	3,5	9	11,0	8
2005	501,5	61,9	3,8	8	8,8	8
2006	500,2	62,2	3,0	8	8,3	7
2007	503,2	63,2	3,5	6	8,1	8
2008	499,2	63,6	1,1	25	8,0	6
2009	480,3	61,5	0,6	31	9,9	9

Source: www.ukrstat.gov.ua, www.kirstat.kr.ua, accessed 8/5/2010.

Table 48: The main nationalities in Kirovogradska oblast

	Number	as % of	the total	
	(thousand, per- son)	2001	1989	2001 as % of 1989
Ukrainians	1014.6	90.1	85.3	96.9
Russians	83.9	7.5	11.7	58.3
Moldovans	8.2	0.7	0.9	77.4
Belarusian	5.5	0.5	0.8	57.5
Armenian	2.9	0.3	0.1	4.4 times higher
Bulgarian	2.2	0.2	0.2	70.0
Jews	1.1	0.1	0.4	23.9
other nationalities	7.3	0.6	0.6	88.0

Source: Ukrainian National Census 2001, http://www.ukrcensus.gov.ua/results/general/nationality/Kirovohrad/, accessed on 03/05/2010

¹³⁵ Official data provided by the public job centre of Kirovogradska oblast.

Table 49: Social-economical indicators of Kirovogradska oblast 2000-2009

	Total popu-	Natural	Population migration	Economically active	Unemployed	Total number	Medical
	lation,	increase in	Increase/decrease,	population,	(following	of students,	staff, per
	thsd.	population	thsd.	thsd.	ILO meth-	3-4rd levels of	10000
					odology), %	accred., thsd.	
2000	1164,5	–11716	-5,9	511,1	14,9	17,7	112,7
2001	1146,9	–11123	-4,6	504,9	15,2	18,3	107,2
2002	1133,0	–11247	-4,3	517,8	9,2	19,0	109,9
2003	1115,7	-10947	-4,8	504,4	9,8	20,4	111,6
2004	1100,0	–10541	-5,6	499,3	11,0	20,4	112,8
2005	1083,9	-11220	-5,5	501,5	8,8	20,8	107,9
2006	1067,2	-9338	-4,8	500,2	8,3	21,8	107,2
2007	1053,1	-9143	-4,2	503,2	8,1	22,2	106,9
2008	1039,7	-8734	-4,0	499,2	8,0	22,0	104,9
2009	1027,0	-	-	480,3	9,9	20,8	

Source: www.ukrstat.gov.ua, www.kirstat.kr.ua, accessed 9/5/2010.

Table 50: The number of population, area and population density of Znamyanka

	The number of	population		The area,	Population density, peo-
	Total amount	Urban	rural	sq km	ple on 1 sq. km
Znamyansk	30 469	24 969	5 500	1 334	22.66
		(82 percent)	(18 percent)		

Source: www.oblrada.kirovograd.ua/ATY/, accessed 20/07/2010.

	1991	1996	2002*	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009
Present popula-									
tion, thsd.	1175,1	1175,4	1142,4	1126,6	1119,6	1112,1	1105,4	1098,6	1093,3
urban	494,1	512,0	485,6	481,6	478,5	476,9	475,5	474,3	474,0
rural	681,0	663,4	656,8	645,0	641,1	635,2	629,9	624,3	619,3
% of total popu-									
lation									
rural	42,0	43,6	42,5	42,7	42,7	42,9	43,0	43,2	43,4
urban	58,0	56,4	57,5	57,3	57,3	57,1	57,0	56,8	56,6
men	46,2	46,3	46,4	46,4	46,4	46,4	46,4	46,4	46,4
women	53,8	53,7	53,6	53,6	53,6	53,6	53,6	53,6	53,6

Table 51: Population of Ternopil oblast 1991-2009

Source: National Census on 5th December 2001, http://www.te.ukrstat.gov.ua/statinfoDS.html, accessed 10/5/2010.

	Number of new-	Number of	Natural growth	Emigration (- decrease),
	born	deaths	of population, people	thsd people
1995	14112	16122	-2010	-0,3
1996	13516	16321	-2805	-0,2
1997	12782	16648	-3866	0,0
1998	12202	15782	-3580	-0,9
1999	11197	16569	-5372	-1,6
2000	10570	15721	-5151	-1,8
2001	10102	16296	-6194	-2,4
2002	10444	16345	-5901	-1,1
2003	10476	16823	-6347	-1,3
2004	11094	16180	-5086	-1,9
2005	11035	16802	-5767	-1,7
2006	11623	16556	-4933	-1,8
2007	11431	16473	-5042	-1,7
2008	12388	16200	-3812	-1,5
2009	12404	15652	-3248	-1,2

Source: www.ukrstat.gov.ua, accessed 10/5/2010.

	Decining of the year	including:									
		0-14 years	15-24 years	25-44 years	45-64 years	65 and over	Younger than working age	Working age	Older than working age		
1995	1172,0	256,2	162,3	316,1	267,4	170,0	272,9	614,6	284,5		
1996	1169,7	252,6	164,0	316,6	261,7	174,8	269,9	613,8	286,0		
1997	1166,5	248,9	164,6	317,3	258,4	177,3	265,8	614,4	286,3		
1998	1162,5	244,5	164,8	318,9	253,9	180,4	261,4	616,3	284,8		
1999	1157,9	237,6	166,7	321,0	250,3	182,3	256,3	619,1	282,5		
2000	1151,4	229,1	169,5	321,6	248,0	183,2	248,3	623,0	280,1		
2001	1144,8	220,8	171,7	320,5	247,1	184,7	239,2	628,4	277,2		
2002*	1138,5	212,4	173,8	319,3	247,3	185,7	231,0	632,5	275,0		
2003	1131,0	204,5	175,4	317,3	247,9	185,9	222,0	637,5	271,5		
2004	1123,4	197,2	176,2	314,8	249,7	185,5	214,6	640,7	268,1		
2005	1116,3	191,3	175,4	312,0	253,1	184,5	207,8	641,4	267,1		
2006	1108,9	185,5	173,8	310,1	255,0	184,5	201,9	643,5	263,5		
2007	1102,1	180,6	172,4	308,0	257,5	183,6	196,7	644,8	260,6		
2008	1095,4	176,1	170,7	306,4	261,6	180,6	191,6	644,8	259,0		
2009	1090,1	173,5	166,3	307,5	266,3	176,5	188,1	644,6	257,4		

Source: National Census on 5th December 2001, http://www.te.ukrstat.gov.ua/files/DS/DS4.htm, accessed 10/5/2010.

Table 54: Gross regional product of Ternopil oblast 2004-2009

	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	1 st half of 2009*
Total, actual prices, million UAH	3948	5137	6452	8276	10618	
Per capita, actual prices, UAH	3516	4603	5819	7510	9688	
Comparing prices, % to previous year	106,4	102,5	110,3	108,3	105,1	90,0

*prognoses;

Source: National Census on 5th December 2001, www.te.ukrstat.gov.ua, accessed 10/5/2010.

Table 55: Industry in Ternopil oblast (January 2010)

Volume of realized production	Share, %
Industry	100,0
Extractive industry	2,4
Recycling industry	74,5
of which:	
Production of food, drinks and tobacco products	43,0
Light industry	2,8
Treatment of wood and products, except furniture	1,3
Cellulose-paper production, publishing	2,0
Chemical and oil-chemical industry	2,0
Production of other non-metal mineral products	4,2
Metallurgy production and manufacturing of new metal products	2,4
Machine-constructing	13,5
Production and division of electric energy, gas and water	23,1

Source: http://www.oda.te.gov.ua/, accessed 10/5/2010.

Table 56: Income of population of Ternopil oblast in 2002-2009.

	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009*
Total incomes, million UAH	3119	3983	4942	6969	8708	11367	14999	15665
Existent income per capita, UAH	2158,1	2794,6	3524,2	5032,7	6283,4	8063,5	10583,0	10733,2
Real existent income, % to previous year	117,0	111,9	117,5	128,1	115,3	112,9	104,5	87,7

* prognoses;

Source: National Census on 5th December 2001, www.te.ukrstat.gov.ua, accessed 10/5/2010

Table 57: Dynamics of average nominal and real income in Ternopil oblast, % to the previous year, 2002-2009

	Nomina	al salary	Real salary % to			
	%	6 to				
	Previous year	December to December	Previous year	December to December		
		of the previous year		of the previous year		
2002	125,0	120,5	123,5			
2003	128,3	126,5	123,9	119,2		
2004	127,7	128,7	125,2	122,9		
2005	142,5	158,2	128,1	146,3		
2006	131,4	121,2	122,0	109,3		
2007	129,6	131,2	112,3	107,3		
2008	139,3	133,9	110,3	111,7		
2009	107,5	106,3	92,8	95,4		

Source: National Census on 5th December 2001, www.te.ukrstat.gov.ua, accessed 10/5/2010.

Table 58: Main indicators for the labour market in Ternopil oblast 2000-2009

		nically active pulation		Inclu	iding		Average duration of	Dema nd for
	At the a			population Unemployed population (according to ILO methodology)			ent (ILO methodolog	labour force at the
	Thsd	% to	At the age	of 15-70		Contraction of the Association o	y) of	end of
	peopl e	population of adequate age group	Average, thsd people	% to population of adequate age group	Average, thsd people	% to economical ly active population of adequate age group	population aged 15- 70, months	the year, thsd people
2000	475,1	58,1	409,4	50,1	65,7	13,8	11	0,5
2001	459,0	56,3	380,3	46,6	78,7	17,1	11	1,0
2002	436,9	53,7	379,7	46,6	57,2	13,1	11	1,3
2003	430,2	52,9	374,1	46,0	56,1	13,0	11	1,7
2004	440,3	54,3	387,7	47,8	52,6	11,9	11	1,6
2005	467,4	57,9	425,1	52,6	42,3	9,1	8	1,8
2006	453,5	56,3	411,7	51,1	41,8	9,2	6	1,1
2007	463,3	57,7	423,5	52,7	39,8	8,6	5	1,8
2008	466,0	58,2	424,9	53,1	41,1	8,8	5	1,3
2009	475,9	59,6	422,1	52,9	53,8	11,3		1,1

Source: www.ukrstat.gov.ua, http://www.ternstat.tim.net.ua/files/RP/RP1.htm, accessed 12/5/2010.

	Number of establishments, units		Number of students, thsd people		
	I-II level of ac-	III-IV level of accreditation	I-II level of accredita-	III-IV level of accreditation	
	creditation		tion		
1995/96	15	8	12,5	22,6	
1996/97	15	8	12,9	25,8	
1997/98	13	8	11,3	33,8	
1998/99	13	8	11,1	35,9	
1999/00	14	8	11,9	39,4	
2000/01	13	9	11,0	43,8	
2001/02	13	9	11,5	47,4	
2002/03	13	9	12,0	51,9	
2003/04	13	10	10,9	58,6	
2004/05	13	10	10,8	56,8	
2005/06	12	11	9,5	57,4	
2006/07	12	10	9,3	54,8	
2007/08	10	10	7,3	55,2	
2008/09	10	10	7,2	56,0	
2009/10	10	9	7,1	51,5	

Table 59: Number of institutions/students of higher education in Ternopil oblast (beginning of academic year)

Source: www.te.ukrstat.gov.ua, accessed 12/5/2010.

Table 60: Number of nationalities living in Ternopil oblast

	Number (thsd people)	% of total		2001, % to 1989
		2001	1989	
Ukrainians	1113,5	97,8	96,8	98,9
Russians	14,2	1,2	2,3	53,3
Byelorussians	1,0	0,1	0,2	60,5
Polish	3,9	0,3	0,6	57,5
Other nationalities	5,9	0,6	0,2	у 2,2 р.м.

Source: http://www.oda.te.gov.ua/index.php?module=ternopil§ion=45, accessed on 7/05/2010.

Table 61: Social-economic indicators of Ternopil oblast 2000-2009

	Total population, thsd.	Natural increase in population	Population migration Increase/decrease, thsd.	Economically active population, thsd.	Unemployed (following ILO methodology), In %	Total number of students, 3rd and 4th levels of accred., thsd.	Medical staff, per 10000
2000	1156,9	-5151	-1,8	475,1	13,8	43,8	109,0
2001	1149,9	-6194	-2,4	459,0	17,1	47,4	108,8
2002	1142,4	-5901	-1,1	436,9	13,1	51,9	110,7
2003	1134,2	-6347	-1,3	430,2	13,0	58,6	110,2
2004	1126,6	-5086	-1,9	440,3	11,9	56,8	111,1
2005	1119,6	-5767	-1,7	467,4	9,1	57,4	109,8
2006	1112,1	-4933	-1,8	453,5	9,2	54,8	111,0
2007	1105,4	-5042	-1,7	463,3	8,6	55,2	109,6
2008	1098,6	-3812	-1,5	466,0	8,8	56,0	110,7
2009	1093,3	-	•			51,5	-

Source: www.ukrstat.gov.ua, www.ternstat.tim.net.ua, accessed 8/5/2010.

Table 62: Demographic data of Zbarazh rayon

The area	thsd. sq km	0,04
Total amount of population	Persons	59 062
Urban	Persons	17 126, 29%
Rural	Persons	41 936, 71%
Population density	people on 1 sq. Km	68.4
Birthrate (per 1000 persons)	persons	11
Natural population growth	persons	157

Source: Official report of Zbarazky rayon's administration dated 01.01.2010, accessed 18/07/2010.